AGREEMENT



Serving Communities



Los Angeles County Office of Education and Local 99, SEIU

(Clerical, Office Services and Technical Unit)

2019-2022

TABLE OF CONTENTS

F	PAGE
PREAMBLE	1
STATEMENT OF AGREEMENT	2
ARTICLE I RECOGNITION	3
ARTICLE II DEFINITIONS	4
ARTICLE III - RETAINED RIGHTS	6
ARTICLE IV - UNION RIGHTS	8
ARTICLE V – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURES	14
ARTICLE VI - HOURS OF EMPLOYMENT	19
ARTICLE VII - LEAVES OF ABSENCE, VACATIONS AND HOLIDAYS	21
ARTICLE VIII - PROCEDURES FOR EVALUATION OF PERFORMANCE	41
ARTICLE IX - COMPENSATION	46
ARTICLE X - TRANSFER PROCEDURES	61
ARTICLE XI - SAFETY	64
ARTICLE XII WORK STOPPAGE	66

ARTICLE XIII - CAREER DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING......67

ARTICLE XIV - EFFECT OF AGREEMENT	69
ARTICLE XV - DURATION AND RENEGOTIATIONS	71
ARTICLE XVI - LAYOFF AND DISPLACEMNT PROCEDURES	72
ARTICLE XVII - NON-DISCRIMINATION	73
APPENDIX A - SALARY SCHEDULE	74
APPENDIX B - CALENDAR	77
APPENDIX C- GUIDELINES FOR COMPENSATORY TIME	89
APPENDIX D – NON DISCRIMINATION AND EQUAL OPPORTUNITY.	90
APPENDIX E – FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE	92
APPENDIX F – 2006 JBC TENTATIVE AGREEMENT	100
APPENDIX G - 2011 MOU JOINT BENEFITS BANK ACCOUNT	103
APPENDIX H – 2014 & 2015 JBC AGREEMENT	106
APPENDIX I – 2016 & 2017 JBC AGREEMENT	108
APPENDIX I – 2018 & 2019 JBC TENTATIVE AGREEMENT	115
APPENDIX J – ROSE AGREEMENT	117
INDEX	120

PREAMBLE

It is the purpose of this Agreement to promote and provide for harmonious relations, cooperation, and understanding between management and the employees covered by this Agreement; to provide an orderly means of resolving misunderstandings or differences that may arise under this Agreement_in a civil and respectful manner, and to enable management and the employees to provide the highest level of services to the community. All employees shall be treated with dignity and respect.

STATEMENT OF AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into this 19th day of March 2019, by and between the Los Angeles County Office of Education, hereinafter referred to as the "Office," jointly referred to as the "Office," and the SEIU Local 99, hereinafter referred to as the "Union." The Union is a local of the Service Employees International Union.

ARTICLE I - RECOGNITION

The Office confirms its recognition of the Union as the exclusive representative for all job classifications identified in the Salary Schedule S.

Any new classification created within the Office during the term of this Agreement shall be accreted to the bargaining unit unless excluded below. The Union shall be notified of such accretions and will have the opportunity to review the proposed new classifications prior to adoption by the Personnel Commission.

In the event the Office adds new programs and/or projects or renews existing programs and/or projects, this Agreement shall include employees in classifications accreted to the unit.

When accretions are approved by the Personnel Commission, the Office shall provide the Union with a list of such accretions within ten (10) working days after the end of every quarter in which accretions occur.

This Agreement will not supersede State or Federal law or regulation or funding source restrictions placed upon the Office.

Excluded:

The unit shall exclude all classified employees in classifications not listed as inclusions above including, but not limited to, School Crossing Guard, Paraeducator classifications of any type; all non-classified, unclassified, and certificated personnel; all casual, temporary, or limited-term personnel; all restricted personnel; except as noted above; substitute personnel of any description; professional experts and any other persons excluded from the classified service, all management, supervisory, and confidential personnel as defined in Government Code Sections 3540.1(g), 3540.1(c), and 3540.1(m).

It is agreed that the above-described unit is the only appropriate unit, and neither party hereto shall seek by any means, including but not limited to, utilization of Public Employment Relations Board (PERB) administrative proceedings to revise or change said unit description in any way, except with respect to the appropriate placement of any newly created job classifications. However, nothing herein shall prohibit changes to the unit by mutual consent.

Disputes relating to this Article are not subject to the grievance provisions of Article V. Disputes regarding unit determination shall be resolved by petitioning PERB as provided by Government Code Section 3542.

ARTICLE II - DEFINITIONS

- A. BOARD Shall mean the Los Angeles County Board of Education.
- B. DOMESTIC PARTNERSHIP Shall mean a domestic partnership where both persons have filed a Declaration of Domestic partnership, which complies with requirements of California's Domestic Partner Rights and Responsibilities Act of 2003 (California Family Code 297 and 297.5) and all requirements therein. Existing domestic partner relationships acknowledged by the Los Angeles County Schools Joint Benefits Trust will continue to be recognized.
- C. EMPLOYEE Shall mean any person employed by the Office in any capacity, including unit members.
- D. IMMEDIATE ADMINISTRATOR Shall mean the administrator or manager who has direct responsibility for supervising the unit member in question. The immediate administrator shall not be a unit member.
- E. IMMEDIATE FAMILY Shall mean:

Bereavement Leave

Any relative living in the immediate household of the employee Brother (brother-in-law, half-brother, stepbrother)

Daughter (stepdaughter, daughter-in-law,)

Domestic Partner

Father (stepfather, father-in-law)

Granddaughter

Grandfather (including grandfather of spouse)

Grandmother (including grandmother of spouse)

Grandson

Mother (stepmother, mother-in-law)

Sister (sister-in-law, half-sister, stepsister)

Son (stepson, son-in-law)

Spouse

Family and Medical Leave

Parent - Shall mean the biological parent of an employee or an individual who stood in loco parentis to an employee when the employee was a son or daughter. The term "parent" excludes parent "in-law" and grandparents.

Son or daughter - Shall mean a biological, adopted, or foster child, a step-child, a legal ward, or a child of a person standing in loco parentis, who is:

- 1. under 18 years of age, or
- 2. 18 years of age or older and incapable of self-care because of a mental or physical disability.

Spouse – Regardless of gender shall mean a husband, wife, or domestic partner; unmarried domestic partners are excluded from the definition of "spouse."

- F. JOINT BENEFITS COMMITTEE Formerly the Joint Benefits Trust.
- G. OFFICE Shall mean the Los Angeles County Board of Education and Superintendent of Schools jointly as the employer, together with their designated representatives.
- H. STEWARD'S COUNCIL Shall mean the elected body of stewards that represent members of SEIU Local 99.
- I. SUPERINTENDENT Shall mean the chief executive officer of the Office or his/her designee(s).
- J. TRUST Shall mean the Los Angeles County Schools Joint Benefits Trust.
- K. UNION REPRESENTATIVE Shall mean SEIU Local 99 Director of Special Districts and/or the Field Representative.
- L. UNIT MEMBER Unless otherwise clearly indicated by the context, shall mean any person employed by the Office in a position or classification, which is included within the description of the negotiating unit described in Article I.
- M. WORKING DAY OR WORKDAY Shall mean any regularly scheduled day which has not been declared a holiday by the State of California or the Office.

ARTICLE III - RETAINED RIGHTS

- A. All matters not specifically enumerated as within the scope of negotiations in Government Code Section 3543.2, and all rights and powers not limited by the express terms of other Articles of this Agreement, are reserved to the Office. It is agreed that such reserved rights include, but are not limited to, the exclusive right to determine the following:
 - 1. The legal, operational, geographical, and organizational structure of the Office, including all advisory commissions and committees;
 - 2. The financial structure of the Office, including all sources and amounts of financial support, funding, and debts, and all means or conditions necessary or incidental to securing the same, including full compliance with any and all federal, state, and/or local regulations, qualifications or requirements posed by law or funding sources as a condition to receiving funding, all budgetary matters and procedures, and all budgetary allocations, reserves, and expenditures apart from those expressly allocated to fund the wage and benefit obligations of this Agreement;
 - 3. The acquisition, disposition, number, location, types, and utilization of all Office properties, whether owned, leased, or otherwise controlled, including all facilities, grounds, parking areas, and other improvements, and the personnel, work, service, and activity functions assigned to such properties;
 - 4. All services to be rendered to the public, to school districts, to the State Department of Education, and to the State Superintendent of Public Instruction; all services to be rendered to Office personnel in support of the aforementioned services; the nature, methods, and standards of services, and the personnel, facilities, vendors, materials, and equipment, to be used in connection with such services; and, subject to Educational Code restrictions, the subcontracting of services to be rendered and functions to be performed, including educational, support, construction, maintenance, and repair services, and staffing patterns, the types of personnel required, and contracting out of work. However, the parties agree that there shall be no reductions or layoffs of unit members as a result of any such contracting of services;
 - 5. The utilization of personnel not covered by this Agreement, including but not limited to substitute, temporaries and supervisory, confidential or managerial personnel, to do work which is normally done by personnel covered hereby;
 - 6. The selection, classification, direction, promotion, demotion, discipline, termination, layoff, and retirement of all personnel of the Office subject only to limitations of law; the duties and standards of performance for all employees; affirmative action and equal employment policies and programs to improve the Office's utilization of women, handicapped, and other minorities; the assignment of any employees to any location (subject to Article X, Transfers), and also to any facilities, functions, activities, tasks or equipment; the number of employees, and the determination as to whether, when, and where there is a job opening;

- 7. The dates, times, and hours of operation of any Office facility, function, service, or activity; the assignment of overtime (subject to Article IX, Compensation);
- 8. Safety and security measures and rules for all personnel, the public, properties, facilities, vehicles, materials, and equipment.
- B. The right to "determine," as used above, includes the right to establish, change, discontinue, in whole or in part, permanently or temporarily, any of the above matters.
- C. The above-mentioned rights and powers of the Office are also intended to include and preserve the rights and powers of the Personnel Commission as prescribed by law. In accordance with the provisions of Education Code Section 45261, this agreement supersedes rules of the Commission, in areas specified.
- D. The exercise of any right herein reserved to the Office in a particular manner, or the nonexercise of any such right, shall not be deemed as a waiver of the Office's right nor preclude the Office from exercising the right in a different manner.
- E. Any dispute arising out of or in any way connected with either the existence of or the exercise of any of the above-described rights of the Office, or arising out of or in any way connected with the effects of the exercise of such rights is not subject to the grievance provisions set forth in Article V. However, nothing herein shall prohibit the filing or processing of a grievance alleging violation of an express term of some other Article of this Agreement, which Article is itself subject to the grievance procedure.

ARTICLE IV - UNION RIGHTS

A. Access

- 1. The Union representative in accordance with conditions noted herein, has the right of reasonable access to Office facilities for the purpose of contacting unit members to transact lawful Union business. The Union representative will make every effort to insure that his/her conduct of Union business results in nothing more than a minimal interruption or interference with the work activities of the Office.
- 2. Contacts with unit members by stewards and/or department representatives normally shall be limited to non-duty hours, such as breaks, duty-free lunch periods, and before and after the workday. Contacts with unit members may be at other times upon extenuating circumstances, with prior notification and concurrence of the unit member's immediate administrator, or the administrator in charge. In the event the immediate administrator or administrator in charge fails to concur, the Union may seek, from the Superintendent or designee, review and prompt disposition of the matter.
- 3. The Union may utilize Office facilities outside of duty hours for meeting purposes, and any such meetings and other utilization shall be subject to provisions of the Civic Center Act.
- 4. The Union shall be assigned its own secured office in one of the education centers for its use to meet its members and for storage of supplies.

B. Distribution and Posting of Material

The Union may distribute organizational literature on Office property subject to the following provisions:

- 1. No person shall distribute literature on Office property in a place or manner which interferes with unit members or employees who are performing their duties.
- 2. Literature may be distributed or left for pickup in staff rooms, break/lunch areas, unit member mail boxes, or in other appropriate site locations as designated by the site administrator.
- 3. The Division Director or the Office of Labor Relations shall be supplied with a complete copy of materials or literature that will be distributed or posted.
- 4. The Union shall have the right to post notices of Union concerns on bulletin boards regularly established for unit members as long as such notices are consistent with the content responsibility stated herein.

5. The Office shall designate a portion of regularly established bulletin boards for Union use.

C. Use of Internal Mail and E-Mail System

The Union shall be allowed to continue lawful use of the internal school mail system and E-mail system to distribute materials to the bargaining unit provided (a) the materials distributed are not solely for the purpose of Union business, and (b) the Superintendent or designee is provided a complete copy at the time the materials are deposited and/or posted in the office mail system. Specific letters, notes and other communications to individuals, or materials solely for the purpose of Union business, shall not be distributed by the internal mail system unless correct postage is affixed. The Office will allow the Union to utilize the e-mail system to communicate with members to the extent permitted by law. Union stewards shall be allowed access to the Office internal e-mail system, where available, consistent with Office standards and the Acceptable Use of Technology Board Policy 3950 for use of e-mail and all criteria that apply to the use of the Office internal school mail system.

- 1. The Superintendent specifically reserves the right to prohibit the distribution of mail which does not comply with these provisions or with the lawful use of the internal mail system. For purposes of application to this section, "solely for the purpose of Union business" shall be defined as including, but not limited to, (a) internal organizational business or elections, (b) political or ideological activities as defined by law, (c) certification and decertification elections, or organizing for recognition purposes, and (d) information concerning the amount of an agency fee.
- 2. The Office will provide delivery and pickup for lawful materials to the Union office at such times as pickup and delivery is made to Office facilities in close proximity to the Union office.

D. Content Responsibility

Any literature to be distributed or posted must be dated and must signify the person and the Union responsible for its promulgation. The Union assumes full legal responsibility for the content of its literature and agrees to indemnify and hold the Office harmless against any claims and costs arising out of the promulgation and distribution of such literature.

E. Unit Member Lists

The Office shall furnish the Union monthly, without charge, a list of names and site locations of all unit members. Addresses and telephone numbers of unit members shall also be furnished to the Union upon request and upon prior authorization of the unit members. Change of addresses and telephone numbers of unit members who have authorized the release of same will be furnished to the Union quarterly. The Union agrees to use such information for internal organizational purposes only and agrees not to disclose this information to any third party.

F. Addressing the Board of Education

An authorized Union representative may address items on the Board of Education agenda in a manner and procedure provided for in Board of Education policy.

G. Organizational Security

1. Employee Rights

The Office and the Union recognize the right of employees to form, join and participate in lawful activities of employee organizations and the equal, alternative right of employees to refuse to form, join and participate in employee organizations. Neither party shall exert pressure upon nor discriminate against an employee in the exercise of these alternative rights. Accordingly, membership in the Union shall not be compulsory.

A unit member has the right to choose to become a member of the Union;

2. Payroll Dues Deduction

Salary warrants to unit members covered by this Agreement shall be reduced by the amount which has been voluntarily authorized in writing by the unit member for the purpose of paying monthly membership dues of the unit member of the Union and its affiliates. Such written dues authorization shall be revoked upon written notice to that effect from the unit member, and such revocation shall be effective commencing with the next monthly pay period. The Office shall, on a monthly basis, draw its order upon funds of the Office in favor of the Union for the amount equal to the total of dues deductions made during that month and shall furnish a list of unit members affected, together with the amount deducted from each unit member's salary warrant.

The Office shall rely on information provided by the Union regarding whether deductions are authorized, canceled, or changed. The Union shall inform the Office within five (5) days when a new employee chooses to become a member of the Union and authorizes a payroll deduction for payment of unified Union dues, initiation fees and general assessments. Likewise, the Union shall inform the Office within five (5) days when a Union member cancels or modifies previously authorized payroll deductions.

3. Office Obligations

The Office's obligations under this Article is to:

deduct from pay appropriate amounts pursuant to this Article. Under no circumstances shall the Office be required to dismiss or otherwise discipline any unit member for failure to fulfill their obligations to pay the fees established herein.

H. Personnel File Review

Upon request of a unit member, the Union shall be entitled to have one representative accompany the unit member to review the unit member's personnel or grievance file outside of duty hours. A Union representative, with the written consent of the unit member, may inspect that unit member's personnel or grievance file at any time during regular office hours or receive a digital copy of same. Stewards authorized to review a personnel file shall do so during office hours. Such time shall be charged to Union Leave. An employee within the bargaining unit shall be advised of, and entitled to read any statement by the employee's supervisor regarding work performance or conduct, if such statement is to be placed in the unit member's personnel file. The employee shall acknowledge having read such material by signing on the copy to be filed; such signature does not necessarily indicate agreement with its contents. If the employee refuses to sign, the supervisor shall note the unit member's refusal on the copy, and sign and date the copy to be filed.

I. Stewards

The Office recognizes that the Union may appoint a reasonable number of unit members to serve as stewards to help carry out lawful Union activity.

The authority and limitations therein of a steward shall include:

- 1. Stewards may utilize Union Leave, pursuant to Article VII, Section B.10 of this Agreement, to perform the following duties. Prior approval will be necessary except for meetings with management scheduled by the Office of Labor Relations. Such approval will be granted under reasonable circumstances.
 - a. Investigation of grievances, including matters that may become grievances.
 - b. Transmission of Union written communication and messages to unit members.
 - c. Attendance by Union steward or designee unless attendance by more than one steward is requested by the Union at regularly scheduled Board meetings and Personnel Commission meetings.
 - d. Upon authorization of the unit member, to inspect the unit member's personnel file.
 - e. Other lawful Union business pertaining to LACOE business.

- 2. Reasonable release time will be provided as indicated below:
 - a. One (1) steward to represent unit member at actual grievance meeting (Level I and Level II) and Arbitration hearings, pursuant to Article V of this Agreement.
 - b. The appropriate number of stewards as determined by the Union and the Office of Labor Relations required to adequately negotiate matters within the scope of representation that may arise during the life of this Agreement, other than reopener negotiations as provided for in this Agreement.
 - c. Seven (7) stewards, which may include two alternatives, to negotiate a successor Agreement.
 - d. The committees listed below, or those established for the purpose of taking action on issues within the scope of bargaining as determined by the Educational Employment Relations Act (EERA), shall have two (2) SEIU appointed representatives: Office Safety Committee, Budget Committee, Local Control Accountability Plan (LCAP) Committee, and Central Shared Decision Making Council.
 - e. Three unit members, including the Chief Steward, appointed by the Union, to attend meetings of the Los Angeles County Office of Education Joint Benefits Committee.

J. Newly Hired Employees

Upon finalization of the employment process, the Office will give each new unit member a letter/ brochure provided by the Union, together with a copy of the current Collective Bargaining Agreement.

K. Staff Orientation

- 1. The Union will be given the opportunity to meet new classified bargaining unit employees during the new employee orientation meetings conducted by the Office.
- 2. The Office will provide ten (10) working days' notice of the orientation unless there is an urgent need to schedule an orientation in less than 10 days.
- 3. The Office will strive to schedule the new classified employee orientations on regularly scheduled dates and times during the week to facilitate the Union's opportunity to meet new employees.

- 4. The Union agrees to meet the new employees in the middle of the orientation. Up to twenty (20) minutes will be allocated to the Union for this purpose.
- 5. Employees will be advised that the Union orientation is a necessary part of the overall orientation.
- 6. The Union agrees to provide the Office with a list of the materials to be provided by the new employee. The Union agrees to use this opportunity for the purpose of discussing the classified member's employment status, rights, benefits, duties, and responsibilities as a member of Local 99.
- 7. Within thirty (30) days of hiring, the Office agrees to provide the Union with the new employee's name, job title, department, work location and address, home address, and personal email address if used for employment purposes. The Office will continue to provide comprehensive monthly reports to the Union with information regarding all of its members.
- 8. In the event that format modifications by the Office are made to the current orientation process, the Parties to this Agreement will negotiate Union access under the modified process pursuant to the California Government Code.

L. Shared Decision Making

The Union and the Office support shared decision making across the Office encouraging employees to participate in the critical decision making to assist the Office to better meet its goals.

Where Shared Decision Making/Diversity Councils exist throughout the Office, including central and site level councils, SEIU Local 99 shall have participation in those councils. The number of SEIU representatives in each shall be determined by the size of the council and the appropriate representation in proportion to the staff ratio in the unit.

SEIU Local 99 shall be included in any new shared decision making/diversity council created in the future in accordance with the above.

SEIU Local 99 recognizes that the councils shall refrain from making decisions on items pertaining to bargaining such as those found in the various collective bargaining agreements and determined by State and Federal law although not expressly included in the collective bargaining agreement.

Section L is not subject to the grievance provision of this Agreement.

ARTICLE V – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURES

A. General Provisions

A grievance is an allegation by a unit member that the Office has violated an express provision of this Agreement and that, by reason of such violation, the grievant's rights have been adversely affected. All other matters and disputes of any nature are beyond the scope of these procedures. Also excluded from these procedures are other matters excluded as indicated elsewhere in this Agreement. The Office shall be the respondent in all cases. The Union may itself grieve only with respect to an alleged violation by the Office of the rights specifically reserved to the Union in this Agreement in Article IV. The filing or pendency of a grievance shall not delay or interfere with the implementation of any Office action during the processing thereof. If the same, or essentially the same, grievance is filed by more than one-unit member, one grievant, subject to the concurrence of the other grievants, may process a grievance under this Article on behalf of himself/herself and the other involved grievants. The final determination shall apply to such concurring grievants.

If the grievant does not respond within the time periods specified in this Article, the grievance will be deemed settled on the basis of the decision last made by the Office. If the Office does not respond within the time periods specified in this Article, the grievance shall be deemed to be denied and grievant may pursue the matter to the next level. Any time limits or steps may be amended in a particular case by mutual written agreement.

B. Informal Resolution

Before filing a formal written grievance, the grievant is encouraged to resolve the matter by means of an informal conference with his or her immediate administrator. Although the informal resolution is generally conducted between the unit member and the supervisor, at the employee's request, a Union representative may attend the informal conference.

While the Union encourages informal resolution, it recognizes the unit member has a right to the formal process in the event resolution is not achieved at the informal step.

C. Level I

A Level I Grievance may be filed with the Office of Labor Relations within twenty (20) working days after the occurrence of the act or omission giving rise to the grievance. The 20-day time limit shall be extended if an informal conference to resolve the matter is held within the final five (5) days of this 20-day period and the matter was not resolved. In no case shall this extension exceed an additional five (5) work days. If neither the grievant nor the Union has actual or constructive knowledge of the occurrence of the grievance act or omission, or could not with the exercise of

reasonable diligence have known about it, then the twenty (20) day time limit shall begin to run on the date upon which either the grievant or Union knew or could, with reasonable diligence, have known of the occurrence.

All grievances shall be written on the Office grievance form. The written statement shall be a clear, precise statement of the grievance, including the specific provisions of this Agreement alleged to have been violated, the circumstances involved, the decision rendered at the informal conference if such step was utilized, and the specific remedy sought. The grievant must present such grievance in writing to the immediate administrator whom the unit member asserts violated the contract and to the Office of Labor Relations.

Either party may request a personal conference with the other party. At the employee's request, a Union representative may attend the conference. The administrator whom the unit member asserts violated the contract shall communicate a written decision to the unit member and the Union representative, if any, within ten (10) working days after receiving the grievance, and such action will terminate Level I.

D. Level II

In the event the grievant is not satisfied with the decision at Level I, the grievant may appeal the decision to the next higher level administrator within ten (10) working days after termination of Level I.

The appeal shall include a copy of the original grievance and the decision rendered at Level I.

The next higher level administrator shall conduct an investigation into the allegations. The investigation shall include a personal conference with the grievant. This administrator shall communicate his/her decision within ten (10) working days after receiving the appeal, and such decision shall terminate Level II.

Upon the written request of the grievant, the Level II conference and investigation shall be conducted by an appropriate administrator, designated by the Superintendent, who is from a division other than the division of the grievant.

E. Arbitration

Grievances which are not settled at Level II, and which the grievant and the Union desire to contest further, shall be submitted to binding arbitration as provided herein, but only if the Union gives written notice to the Office within twenty (20) working days after the termination of Level II of its desire to arbitrate the grievance. It is expressly understood that the only matters which are subject to arbitration are grievances as defined above, which were processed and handled in accordance with the limitations and procedures of this Article. Processing and discussing the merits of an alleged grievance by the Office shall not constitute a waiver by the Office of a defense that the dispute is not grievable.

F. Selection of an Arbitrator

As soon as possible, and in any event not later than ten (10) working days after the Office receives the written notice of the Union's desire to arbitrate, the parties shall agree upon an arbitrator. If no agreement is reached within said ten (10) days an arbitrator shall be selected from a list of arbitrators provided by PERB by alternative striking of names until one remains.

The party who strikes the first name shall be determined by lot. If the arbitrator selected indicates that he/she will not be available for hearing within a reasonable time not exceeding sixty (60) calendar days, the parties shall proceed to select another arbitrator from the list of arbitrators provided by PERB.

G. Motion to Dismiss

If the Office claims that the grievance should be dismissed because, for example, it falls outside the scope of the procedure, or was filed or processed in an untimely manner, or the dispute has become moot, such a claim shall, at the option of the Office, be heard and ruled upon by the arbitrator prior to any hearing on the merits of the grievance, with a suitable stay/continuance between such a ruling and any further proceedings that may be necessary. In the event the Office requires such a stay, and the decision of the arbitrator is that the matter goes forward on its merits, the Office will bear the cost of the arbitrator for that hearing. The Office may also, at its option and without prejudice, have such a claim heard along with the merits of the case. If the Office should choose to refuse to arbitrate a dispute, nothing in this section shall preclude the Union from seeking, through appropriate administrative or judicial proceedings, to compel the Office to proceed to advisory arbitration.

H. Submission of Statement to the Arbitrator

Prior to a hearing by an arbitrator, a representative of the Office and the Union shall meet and prepare a submission statement setting forth the issue(s) to be determined by the arbitrator. In the event the parties are unable to jointly agree on a submission statement, each party shall present its own submission statement to the arbitrator at the hearing.

I. Limitations Upon Arbitrator

The arbitrator shall have no power to alter, amend, change, add to, or subtract from any of the terms of this Agreement, but shall determine only whether or not there has been a violation of this Agreement in the respect alleged in the grievance. The decision of the arbitrator shall be based solely upon the evidence and arguments presented to him/her by the respective parties in the presence of each other and upon arguments presented in briefs.

This Agreement constitutes a contract between the parties which shall be interpreted and applied by the parties and by the arbitrator in the same manner as any other contract under the laws of the State of California. The function and purpose of the arbitrator are to determine disputed interpretations of terms actually found in the Agreement or to determine disputed facts upon which the application of the Agreement depends. The arbitrator shall therefore not have authority to decide any issue not submitted or not the intent of the parties as determined by generally accepted rules for contract construction. Past practice of the parties interpreting or applying terms of this Agreement may be relevant evidence, but shall not be used so as to justify, or result in, what is in effect a modification (whether by addition, detraction, or revision) of the written terms of this Agreement. The arbitrator shall not render any decision or award or fail to render any decision or award merely because in his/her opinion such decision or award is fair or equitable. The arbitrator shall have no power to render an award on any grievance occurring before or after the term of this Agreement.

J. Arbitrator's Decision

The decision or award of the arbitrator within the limits herein prescribed shall be final and binding on all parties.

The grievance and arbitration procedures described above are to be the Union's and unit member's sole remedy for any claim to breach of this Agreement. This does not preclude appropriate judicial review.

K. Expenses

Fees and expenses of the arbitrator shall be borne equally by the parties. Each party shall bear the expense of the presentation of its own case, with the exception of released time which shall be as provided in Section M of this Article.

L. Union Representation

The grievant shall be entitled, upon his/her request, to representation by the Union at all grievance meetings beyond the informal level. In situations where the Union has not been invited by the grievant to represent the grievant, the Office shall not agree to a final resolution of the grievance until the Union has received a copy of the grievance and the proposed resolution and has been given the opportunity to state in writing its view on the matter.

M. Reasonable Released Time

Grievance meetings will be scheduled by the Office at mutually convenient times and places. When such meetings are scheduled so as to conflict with the unit member's work hours, reasonable released time (including necessary travel time) without loss of salary will be provided to the grievant and his/her authorized Union representative, if any.

N. No Reprisal

There shall be no reprisals against the unit member for processing a grievance at any level, or assisting a grievant in the above procedures. The Office will not include grievances in official documents nor include grievances in personnel files.

O. Grievance Files

The Office of Labor Relations shall coordinate the processing of grievances and maintain records dealing with the filing and processing of grievances, which are separate from the grievant's personnel file. Access to information about specific grievances, grievance files, or complaints shall be limited to the grievant, the designated representative and administrative personnel who have a legitimate need to have such information or access. Upon the conclusion of the grievance process, all grievance files or materials utilized during the process shall be collected by and returned to the Office of Labor Relations. No grievance files shall be kept except those maintained by the Office of Labor Relations, the Union, or the Grievant.

ARTICLE VI - HOURS OF EMPLOYMENT

A. For full-time unit members the normal workweek shall be forty hours (40). There shall be three types of consecutive workdays 5/40; 4/10; and 9/80. Five days, eight (8) hours, four days, 10 hours; nine days (8 days at 9 hours, 9th day at 8 hours with the tenth day off).

The scheduling of hours and workdays shall be at sole discretion of the Office, subject only to the limitations of this Article. A unit member may request and be granted by the immediate supervisor a regular earlier or later reporting time. Unit members will normally be assigned on regularly scheduled workdays and hours. Whenever possible, if any change in a unit member's regularly established workdays or shift change is to occur, the unit member shall be so notified in writing, at least five (5) workdays in advance. Existing unit members within the appropriate classifications who request a shift change when vacancies occur shall be given first priority in accordance with the criteria in Article X, Section B-3.

- B. Unit members who have been assigned for duty for at least six (6) hours shall be entitled to an unpaid, duty-free lunch period of thirty (30) minutes. Unit members shall be granted one paid rest period of fifteen (15) minutes during each complete four (4) hours of work not to be scheduled during the first and last hours of the assignment.
 - 1. The combining of rest periods (breaks) will only be approved for extenuating circumstances by the division director as follows: If extenuating circumstances exist, the employee shall submit a written request to combine lunch and breaks, setting forth the reasons for the extenuating circumstances to the immediate supervisor, which shall be forwarded to the division director within five (5) working days. An extenuating circumstances request shall be approved or denied by the division director and shall not exceed six months unless the request is resubmitted in writing and approved. An extenuating circumstances request may only be denied for specific operational needs.
 - 2. The meal period may be extended and the work hours adjusted to accommodate more than a half hour lunch if it does not adversely impact specific operational needs. Requests to extend the meal period and to adjust the work hours shall be submitted in writing an approved or denied by the division director and shall not exceed one year unless the request is resubmitted in writing and approved

Unit members who are scheduled to work eight (8) hours with a scheduled unpaid duty free lunch period of one (1) hour shall not be required to submit a request for a one (1) hour lunch.

The requests for combining lunch and breaks and/or adjusting work hours to extend lunch breaks shall be considered separately and on their respective merits.

C. Alternative Workweek

- 1. The Office shall continue to allow alternative workweeks pursuant to Education Code Section 45132 and 45133. Such alternative workweeks will be voluntary with the unit members, and will exist only upon the written approval of the site administrator and division director. Other workweek schedules not otherwise prohibited by law may be implemented by the Office.
- 2. Criteria used by the supervisor in approving an alternative workweek schedule, and/or allowing or removing an employee from alternative work-week shall include, but not be limited to the following business related reasons:
 - a. Adequacy of staff/supervision available to provide service to public and school site staff;
 - b. The safety of the personnel resulting from the modified workweek;
 - c. Mixing of duties and functions of various classifications; and
 - d. The productivity, efficiency and morale of the site staff.
- 3. The implementation, cancellation or temporary reversion of an alternative workweek schedule may be initiated by the Office. Prior to implementing any change to the work schedule, the Director of Labor Relations shall review the process to ensure the Office made every effort to obtain input from all affected unit members.
- 4. Any alternative workweek schedule issue including reversion back to a traditional workweek, at the request of the affected unit member, Union representative, or supervisor shall be submitted for review by the Director of Labor Relations to a joint Union-Management Committee consisting of two (2) unit members designated by the Union and two (2) managers designated by the Office. The committee shall meet and make a recommendation within the five workday timeline provided under Article VI, Section A of this Agreement.

The committee's recommendation shall be provided to the appropriate Division Director or Assistant Superintendent who shall render a final decision based upon business related reasons. Failure of the committee to make a timely recommendation as provided in Section C.4., of this Article, shall not stay or suspend any change. Such decision shall be in writing and include the business related reasons upon which the decision is based.

5. The Office will continue the practice that all new or revised alternative work plans must meet with the approval of the Division Director or Assistant Superintendent before implementation.

ARTICLE VII - LEAVES OF ABSENCE, VACATIONS and HOLIDAYS

A. General Provisions

A leave of absence is an authorization for a unit member to be absent from duty, for a specific period of time, and for an approved purpose specified below.

The leave protects the unit member by holding a place for such member in the Office until the leave expires, with the right to return to the Office at the conclusion of the leave in accordance with existing law, provided the position would have otherwise remained.

Unit members on a paid leave of absence, unless otherwise provided herein, shall receive wages, insurance fringe benefits, retirement credit and other benefits required by existing law, the same as if they were not on leave. Unit members on unpaid leave, during any pay period, shall receive their insurance fringe benefit (health and welfare) coverage for the balance of that pay period. Thereafter, unit members shall be allowed to remain on continued coverage pursuant to the terms of the insurance plan for one calendar year, provided they make advance payment of the premiums in a manner required by the Office. Apart from this benefit, the unit member shall receive no wages, fringe benefits, retirement service credit or other credits during the duration of any unpaid leave.

Part-time unit members shall be entitled to proportional leaves of absence in the same ratio that their amount of service, i.e., average number of hours per day of scheduled duties, bears to full-time service.

It is agreed that a unit member who is absent from work, other than for those days as authorized by state law or for leaves authorized by provisions of this Agreement, is taking an unauthorized absence in violation of this Agreement. The Office shall deduct a full daily salary amount for each day of absence.

Any unit member who is absent from work without being on an approved leave, or who fails to return to work as scheduled after the expiration of an authorized leave of absence, shall be deemed to have abandoned employment with the Office. Such action by the Office shall not act to waive due process rights, if any, of the unit member.

Unit members with one (1) or more years of service who are on an unpaid leave of absence or paid vacation may convert such leave or vacation to a paid leave of absence, subject to approval, provided leave to be converted is requested within sixty (60) days.

The Office may require reasonable proof for utilization of leave provisions contained in this Article.

Unit members shall inform their immediate administrator as soon as possible of an absence from service and the expected duration of such absence. Any deviation from the information provided to their immediate administrator about the duration of absence shall be reported as soon as possible and in enough time for appropriate action to readjust work schedules or cancel any scheduled substitutes.

Abuse or misuse of any leave privileges by a unit member shall be cause for disciplinary action.

B. Compensated Leaves of Absence

1. Bereavement Leave

A unit member shall be allowed up to three (3) days of absence with pay upon the death of any member of the unit member's immediate family, irrespective of work schedule.

If travel out of state is required, or in the state north of the northern boundaries of Monterey, San Benito, Merced, Mariposa, Madera, Fresno and Inyo Counties, the length of leave may be extended up to a total of forty (40) hours.

The Office may require verification of the death, relationship and necessity of the absence and travel.

The use of the leave shall commence within thirty (30) calendar days after the death of the member of the immediate family. Upon request, this limitation may be waived for extenuating circumstances. At the sole discretion of the Office, additional days of absence beyond those described herein are permitted under Personal Necessity Leave upon written request; or vacation leave section E, 4.

The use of this leave shall be exclusive of any other leave pay, and no deduction shall be made from any accumulated leave of absence balance.

2. Illness, Accident, or Quarantine Leave

a. Purpose

The purpose of illness, accident or quarantine leave, unless otherwise provided in this Article, shall be for an illness, injury or legally established quarantine, which makes it impossible for the unit member to perform normal duties on a scheduled workday.

b. Allowance

A full time unit member on paid status eight (8) or more hours per day for twelve (12) months per year, shall be granted twelve (12) days (96 hours) leave

of absence for illness leave each year. Unit members employed part-time and/or for less than a full year shall be granted proportional leaves of absence for illness leave in the same ratio that their employment bears to full-time, twelve (12) month employment.

At the beginning of each fiscal year, the amount of illness leave granted under this section shall be credited to each unit member. Credit for illness leave need not be accrued prior to taking such leave, and such leave may be taken at any time during the year. However, a new unit member of the Office shall not be eligible to take more than 48 hours for illness until the first day of the calendar month after completion of six (6) months of active service with the Office. If the unit member terminates employment, having used more illness leave than has been accrued, an adjustment will be made on the final warrant.

If a unit member does not take the full amount of illness leave allowed in any fiscal year, the amount not taken shall be accumulated from year to year without limit.

In addition to the full-paid illness leave, each unit member shall, at the commencement of the fiscal year, be credited with a combined total of eight hundred (800) hours at fifty percent (50%) pay illness leave and all full-paid illness days accumulated and credited. Such leave shall run concurrently with illness leave. Full-paid illness is used first, and if exhausted, any remaining fifty (50%) percent leave is then used. Unit member's utilization of vacation, holidays and other full-paid leave shall not reduce the illness leave allowance. Vacation may be taken in lieu of illness leave and so recorded. For purposes of evaluation regarding attendance concerns, any vacation taken in lieu of sick leave shall be considered as illness.

At the conclusion of all leaves of absence, paid or unpaid, the unit member may request an unpaid leave for up to twelve (12) workweeks during a twelve month period, if eligible, under the Office's Family and Medical Leave policy. Following such family medical leave, if the unit member is unable to assume the duties of his/her position, he/she shall be terminated from service and placed on a reemployment list for a period of thirty-nine (39) months.

If at any time during the prescribed thirty-nine (39) months the unit member is able to assume the duties of his/her position, he/she shall be reemployed in the first vacancy in the classification of his/her previous assignment. The unit member's reemployment will take preference over all other applications except for those laid off for lack of work or funds under Education Code Section 45298 in which case he/she shall be ranked for reemployment according to his/her proper seniority. Upon resumption of his/her duties, the break in service will be disregarded and he/she shall be fully restored as a permanent employee.

Any unit member who has been employed for a period of one (1) calendar year or more and whose employment is terminated for reasons other than action by the former employer for cause shall have accumulated illness or injury leave transferred to a subsequent employer if such employment occurs within one (1) year of termination. In cases where the unit member is terminated for cause, such a transfer may be made only if agreed to by the new district or county superintendent of schools.

c. Payoff of 100% Illness Leave Upon Termination

Upon termination from service, a classified unit member employed by the Office prior to the 20th day of February 1996, shall be considered an eligible employee for the purposes specified in the following and may elect to receive a lump sum payment for accumulated full-paid illness leave, subject to the conditions listed below, or have such accumulated full-paid illness leave certified to PERS for retirement credit.

- 1) Accumulated unused illness leave transferred to the Office from another public entity in accordance with Education Code Section 45202 shall be subject to a lump sum payoff award; however, years of service in the other agency shall not be counted in calculating the lump sum payoff award.
- 2) A unit member's accumulated unused illness leave transferred to the Office from the County of Los Angeles on July 1, 1971, as a result of reorganization of functions pursuant to Education Code Sections 1310-1316, shall be subject to a lump payoff award and the number of years with the County of Los Angeles as a regular (probationary or permanent) employee shall count in calculating the lump sum payoff award.
- 3) The maximum amount of accumulated illness leave applicable to the lump sum payment shall be calculated as follows:
 - a) Not to exceed 48 hours of unused full-time leave days times the number of years of service
 - b) Total maximum of 720 hours of unused full-paid illness days
 - c) Payment shall be at the daily current salary rate of the unit member effective on the date of termination.
- 4) If the eligible unit member terminating elects the lump sum payment for unused illness leave, and joins another public entity to which unused accumulated illness leave may be transferred, the remaining balance of unused illness leave shall be transferred pursuant to Education Code Section 45202.

- 5) Permanent eligible part-time unit members shall be entitled to a lump sum payment for unused accumulated illness leave, subject to the conditions described above in the same ratio that their amount of service; i.e., average number of hours per day of scheduled duties, bears to full-time service.
- An eligible unit member who becomes a certificated employee or nonclassified employee with the Office shall retain all unused illness leave, except that only leave accumulated at the point of transition shall be subject to payoff upon later termination if still unused. Any subsequent earned leave shall be subject to conditions of the appropriate bargaining Agreement or Board Policy as may be applicable.
- 7) A certificated or non-classified employee of the Office who becomes a unit member shall not be eligible for the lump sum payment of unused illness leave as if the unit member was a classified employee the entire period of employment.
- 8) Classified unit members hired by the Office after February 20, 1996, shall not be eligible for lump sum payment for accumulated illness leave upon termination from service. Such member shall have any accumulated illness leave transferred to another school district in accordance with Education Code Section 45202. A unit member hired after February 20, 1996, who retires upon termination shall have unpaid illness leave accumulation credited for retirement.

At least fifteen (15) working days prior to the exhaustion of all leave for extended illness, the Office will send a written notice which will inform the unit member of the date leave will be exhausted, the option of utilizing any accumulated vacation time, the option of applying for non-compensated leave, the rights under COBRA to continue health benefits upon payment, and the potential placement on a reemployment list as set forth above.

d. Illness Verification

- 1) The Office will not normally require a designation of the nature of the illness. However, if at any time the Office has a reasonable basis to believe the unit member has abused the leave or has taken leave for improper purposes, then the Office may require a verification of the illness. Except for good cause, physicians' statements submitted by a unit member as verification of illness leave will be accepted if the general nature of the illness or injury is identified and the duration of necessary absence from work is specified.
- 2) If the Office has a reasonable basis to believe that the unit member's absence from work is chronic in nature, and the unit member has been informed in writing that attendance is a matter of concern, the Office may

require verification of the unit member's medical condition, which may include a written statement from the unit member's physician for subsequent absences. This verification may also include a medical examination by the Office-appointed physician at the expense of the Office. For purposes of evaluation regarding attendance concerns any vacation in lieu of sick leave shall be considered as illness. Upon return from any extended disability leave, the Office will routinely require the unit member to furnish written medical evidence from a physician releasing the unit member to return to service.

e. Light Duty

- 1) The Office will attempt to provide a suitable work assignment for a unit member who, due to temporary disability, is not able to perform all of his/her regular duties. Such assignment, termed "light duty," will be made by the Office if the following conditions are met:
 - a) The Office has suitable work available that the unit member is able to perform without concern for further disablement;
 - b) The Office is provided with a full and complete release from a physician as to the unit member's ability to perform the light duty assignment; and
 - c) The supervisor may consult with Human Resource Services and the unit member for placement in a vacant position in the unit member's classification that constitutes a reasonable effort to modify duties to meet the stated restrictions. The unit member shall be expected to perform the modified duties of the job.
- 2) Initially, a light duty assignment will be for no more than ninety (90) calendar days, but may be extended for an additional ninety (90) calendar days.
- 3) Light duty assignments are temporary and do not affect the classification or salary of the unit member. Whenever possible, light duty assignments will be made from within the unit member's work unit. And, whenever possible, the duties assigned will be within the unit member's classification.
- 4) In lieu of being on leave for an injury which qualifies for industrial accident leave, workers' compensation leave, or disability leave, the Office may assign a unit member to partial or light duties pursuant to Section B.2.e.1) of this Article. If the employee's physician does not provide a full release for light duty, the Office may require a medical examination by a physician selected by the Office at the Office's expense.

In such instances, workers' compensation may apply for any recurrence of the injury caused by the placement on light duty.

- 5) If a unit member who is on temporary disability becomes a qualified individual with a permanent disability, the Office shall make every attempt to comply with Americans with Disabilities Act pursuant to the provisions of Board Policy.
- 6) If the unit member is unable to perform the modified duties of his/her position as determined by the Office physician, and all available leaves of absence, paid or unpaid, have been exhausted, the unit member may request, if eligible, an unpaid leave for up to twelve (12) workweeks during a twelve (12) month period, if eligible, as provided by the Family Medical and Leave Act and Board Policy. Following leave, if the unit member is unable to assume the modified duties of his/her position, he/she will be terminated from service and placed on a reemployment list for a period of thirty-nine (39) months.

3. Industrial Accident/Illness Leave

a. Eligibility

Permanent unit members who are absent from active duty due to accident or illness resulting from duties within the scope of employment may request industrial accident/illness leave.

Accrued illness leave or vacation, if any, shall be used provisionally until the disposition has been made of the unit member's request by the Office and its workers' compensation carrier or administrator. If granted, industrial accident/illness leave shall be retroactive, and any provisionally used illness leave or vacation shall be restored.

If the Office does not contest that the illness results from duties within the scope of employment, and the workers' compensation administrator has not completed the processing of the claim, the unit member will be eligible to conditionally use industrial accident leave after exhaustion of all accrued vacation and "full-paid" illness leave.

b. Benefits

The allowable leave is 480 hours per fiscal year and is not cumulative. No more than 480 hours may be used for each accident or illness.

Should the leave extend into the next fiscal year, the unit member shall be entitled to only the amount of unused leave due him/her for that particular accident or illness.

Salary received during this leave, when combined with any amount awarded for temporary disability indemnity (workers' compensation or any other Office benefit), shall not exceed the unit member's regular salary.

Upon the expiration of the industrial accident/illness leave, a unit member shall be entitled to utilize all accrued illness leave and vacation. Thereafter, the unit member may request in writing one extension of industrial accident/illness leave up to 160 hours. A medical verification of need shall accompany the written request. Upon written request and medical verification of need, two (2) additional such extensions of 160 hours may be approved by the Office, but in no event will the number of days approved for extended industrial accident/illness leave be more than one-half (1/2) of the accrued fulltime illness days used by the unit member. Denial of such extension of industrial accident/ illness leave shall not be subject to the grievance procedure set forth in Article V, except upon grounds that the denial was based upon arbitrary or capricious grounds. Upon exhaustion of industrial leave, the unit member is entitled to any other leave pursuant to this Article. Thereafter, the unit member shall be notified in writing that available paid leave has been exhausted and shall be offered an opportunity to request unpaid leave, as is appropriate for his/her recovery, with medical verification, as provided by the Family and Medical Leave Act.

4. Personal Necessity Leave

a. General

Personal necessity leave may be utilized by a unit member who has sufficient sick leave credit for circumstances that are serious in nature, which cannot be expected to be disregarded, and which necessitate immediate attention and cannot be dealt with during off-duty hours. Such unit member may elect to use not more than 56 hours per year of unused sick leave for purposes of approved personal necessity leave. Unused personal necessity leave entitlement shall not be accumulated from year to year. The number of hours of personal necessity leave shall not exceed the number of hours of unused sick leave accumulated during the regular school year to which such member is entitled.

The unit member shall submit a request for personal necessity leave approval on an approved form to the immediate administrator not less than five (5) workdays prior to the beginning date of the leave, except as noted herein. The immediate administrator shall inform the unit member of denial or approval of the leave request two (2) days prior to the requested beginning date of the leave. Grounds for denial shall not be arbitrary or capricious.

b. Emergency

The prior approval requirement shall not apply to the following reasons:

- 1) Death or serious illness of a member of the immediate family. Requests granted under this section shall be in addition to those provided under Bereavement Leave of this Article.
- 2) Accident or imminent danger of accident involving the unit member or his/her property, or the person or property of a member of the immediate family, or other unforeseen problems affecting the unit member's person or property which would necessitate the unit member's immediate attention during working hours.
- 3) Attendance at a funeral of a close friend or a member of the unit member's family other than the immediate family. Only time necessary to attend the funeral is allowable, with a maximum of one (1) day, irrespective of work schedule, for this purpose.
- 4) A maximum of forty (40) hours may be used in connection with the birth or adoption of a child of a parent who is a unit member.

When prior approval is not required, the unit member shall make every reasonable effort to comply with procedures designed to secure substitutes and shall notify the immediate administrator of the expected duration of the absence.

- 5) Subpoena to appear in court or before another duly constituted body as a witness, if required within five (5) days of issuance. The unit member shall reimburse to the Office any witness fees received but not witness expenses.
- 6) The unit member shall use only that amount of time necessary to adequately attend to the matter of the necessity.

c. Non-Emergency

Examples of personal necessity leave advance approval are: Subpoena to appear in court or before another duly constituted body as a witness, if required with five (5) or more days of issuance. The unit member shall reimburse to the Office any witness fees received but not witness expenses.

Medical or dental appointments which are preventive in nature and cannot be scheduled during other than working hours.

Participation in lawful activities or observances which are during work hours in which the unit member conscientiously believes he or she must participate.

Marriage or graduation from high school or college of a member of the unit member's immediate family.

Matters affecting the person or property of the unit member or unit member's immediate family which are serious in nature and necessitate the attention of the unit member and can be dealt with only during duty hours.

d. Prohibited Personal Necessity

Examples of reasons for which approval shall not be granted are:

Political activities or demonstrations.

Holiday, vacation, recreation or social activities.

A convention or meeting related to the unit member's avocation or profession.

Civic or organizational activities. Unit member's Union activities.

Activities related to spouse's business, profession or avocation.

Pursuit of professional degree or academic course work, or pursuit of business interests or other employment.

Processing grievances or personal lawsuits or appealing traffic tickets.

Court appearances as the moving party or as a defendant in a criminal suit.

Activities which may be scheduled or conducted during other than working hours and which could be reasonably scheduled on weekends or during vacations.

Absence due to violation of Article XII, Work Stoppage.

e. Verification

Upon return to active service the unit member shall complete the Absence Claim report and submit it to the immediate administrator and shall provide such additional verification of the use of these leave provisions as may be requested by the immediate administrator.

f. Discretionary Personal Necessity Leave

Sixteen (16) hours of personal necessity leave may be used by a unit member at his/her discretion to attend to matters which require the attention of the unit member and which the unit member determines must be taken care of during the assigned workday. No more than 10% of any staff in the working unit per shift may be granted such leave for the same day. The unit member shall submit notification for Discretionary Personal Necessity Leave to the immediate Administrator at least two days prior to the beginning date of the leave.

Personal Necessity Leave may not be utilized due to any work stoppage, work slowdown, strike, or any "job action" activity.

The Office reserves the right to review each request and to verify such request by any appropriate means. The Superintendent or designee shall be responsible for granting or denying the request. Requests shall not be arbitrarily or capriciously denied.

5. Jury Duty Leave

Leave of absence for jury service shall be granted to any unit member who has been officially summoned to jury duty in a local, state or federal court. The leave shall be granted for the period of the jury service not to exceed ten (10) days per fiscal year. The Office may exercise its rights to limit the number of unit members on approved jury duty leave to no more than two percent (2%) in order to not materially disrupt operations.

The unit member shall receive full pay while on leave, provided that the jury service fee for such leave is assigned to, and the subpoena or court certification is filed with, the Office. Unit members on approved jury duty leave shall return to their worksite if excused from jury service for all or a portion of the workday.

Unit members who are assigned to jury duty in a Federal Court shall be entitled to keep that part of the jury service fee which the unit member was required to pay for parking. The unit member must submit receipts in order to claim this expense.

Requests for jury service shall be made by presenting the official court summons for jury service to Human Resource Services within three (3) working days after receipt.

6. Military Leave

a. Authorization

Military leaves shall be approved by the Office for periods of active military duty specified in orders received by unit members who have been in the continuous service of the Office for a minimum of one (1) calendar year. Such unit members shall continue to receive salaries they would have earned for the paid days within the first thirty (30) calendar days of active military duty. These calendar days shall commence the first day of active duty, including travel.

Military leave shall not exceed four (4) years for permanent or probationary unit members, or six (6) months for part-time unit members.

Reserve or inactive military duty may be approved as non-compensated leave. Vacation, if available, may be used upon approval of the immediate administrator.

b. Other Benefits and Reinstatement

A unit member who leaves active Office employment to be on an active military leave of thirty (30) calendar days or less shall continue to receive rights and benefits, including salary, as though he/she had remained in employment.

A unit member discharged from the service under conditions other than dishonorable shall be restored to a position comparable to his/her former position at the salary schedule placement he/she would have received had he/she remained in the service of the Office.

7. Maternity Disability Leave

Maternity disability shall be considered as any other illness.

The Office shall grant maternity leaves of absence to female unit members for the period of actual disability (physical condition causing inability to perform regular duties) resulting from pregnancy, miscarriage, childbirth or childbirth convalescence, provided the unit member is on paid status before and after the period of disability and would have worked had the unit member not been disabled.

As soon as the unit member determines she is pregnant, she shall promptly notify her immediate administrator in writing to enable the Office to make advance preparation for a substitute or temporary replacement.

No later than thirty (30) calendar days prior to the date maternity leave is to begin, the unit member shall submit a maternity leave request to Human Resource Services. On the request form the attending physician shall attest to and certify 1) the date on which the unit member can no longer assume her normal duties due to physical disability, 2) expected date of delivery, and 3) earliest expected date on which the unit member can resume her normal duties. Upon verification of the attending physician these dates can be reasonably changed.

If the period of maternity-related disability is more than ten (10) weeks or less than two (2) weeks, the unit member will submit a physician's verification as to the unusual duration of the disability leave.

Pregnant unit members shall perform all regular and normal employment duties when on active status.

8. Family Medical Leave Related to Childcare

Family and medical leave (unpaid) may be taken for childcare for up to twelve (12) workweeks, in addition to maternity disability leave, provided such leave is taken within one year of the birth of the child, the employee meets eligibility, and in accordance with Board Policy. (Appendix E)

9. Study or Retraining Leave

A unit member who has rendered service to the Office for at least seven (7) consecutive years may be granted a leave of absence not to exceed one (1) year for study or retraining to meet changing conditions of his/her job category.

Any such leave must be upon the recommendation of the Superintendent after the unit member has submitted his/her proposed program of study or retraining in writing.

- a. The Superintendent may recommend compensation of up to one-half (1/2) of the amount of the unit member's pay.
- b. Any leave of absence granted for the purpose of study or retraining shall not be deemed a break in service.
- c. The provisions of the leave may include that it be taken in separate six (6) month periods rather than a continuous one (1) year period. Separate periods of such leaves of absence shall be commenced and completed within a three (3) year time span.

10. Union Leave

- a. The Union representative (the unit member designated by SEIU staff) shall be allowed an aggregate total of 240 hours in the fiscal year of full-paid leave of absence for the purpose of investigating (as indicated in Article IV, Union Rights) grievances and conducting other lawful Union business pertaining to LACOE business.
- b. The representative (SEIU staff) or designee shall request Union Leave by indicating to the Office, the unit member authorized by the Union to utilize such leave and the amount of time to be absent. In addition to the compensated Union leave in the aggregate of 240 hours per fiscal year, the Union may request reimbursable leave of up to 160 hours in the aggregate for the Union representative (the unit member designated by SEIU staff). Such a request must be submitted in writing at least five (5) days prior to the leave. The Union representative (the unit member designated by SEIU staff) shall receive regular salary and the Union shall reimburse the Office for substitute salary, whether or not a substitute is utilized. The Office and the Union shall each retain the right

to modify the date of this reimbursable Union leave for good cause through written notification.

11. Catastrophic Leave Bank

The Office and the Union believe that adoption of a Catastrophic Leave Donation Program as authorized by Education Code Section 4403.5 may provide a significant benefit to unit members who experience hardship from a catastrophic illness or injury.

a. Definitions

For the purposes of the Catastrophic Leave Bank, the following definitions apply:

- 1) Catastrophic illness or injury means an illness or injury that is expected to incapacitate the employee for an extended period of time, or a member of the employee's family. The catastrophic illness or injury requires the unit member to take time off from work for an extended period of time to care for themselves or that family member. Such time off may create a financial hardship for the employee because he/she has exhausted all eligible leave credits.
- 2) Eligible leave credit means vacation leave and illness accrued by the donating employee under authority of Education Code Section 45191 and 45197.
- 3) Eligible employee means any employee covered by this agreement who has:
 - a) exhausted all accrued leave,
 - b) contributed to the Catastrophic Leave Bank during the current fiscal year, and
 - c) been verified to receive leave credits from the bank by the Catastrophic Leave Committee pursuant to subsection c, Verification of Eligibility for Donated Leave Credit, below.
- 4) Family member means spouse, domestic partner, or a child, or parent when the employee has the responsibility to care for them. The Catastrophic Leave Committee may consider requests for leave to care for the other family members as defined in Article II.E upon receipt of such request.
- 5) Catastrophic Leave Committee means a committee comprised of three (3) representatives appointed by the Union whose purpose shall be to make

- decisions concerning requests for donation of accrued paid leave credits. The Superintendent's designee(s) will participate in this committee as explained in number 6 below.
- 6) Superintendent's designee(s) shall be resource person(s) appointed by the Superintendent to assist the Catastrophic Leave Committee in carrying out its role. The Superintendent's designee(s) shall assist in auditing and monitoring audits and reports, and provide documentation to the Catastrophic Leave Committee, but shall not participate in decisions concerning actions on requests for donation of accrued paid leave credits.

b. Procedures

- 1) Participating employees shall donate a minimum of eight (8) hours each fiscal year. Employees may initially join the bank upon hire or during the months of July or August. Participating employees shall be required to retain a minimum of ten (10) total days of 100% illness and/or vacation leave in their own banks, exclusive of the donated hours.
- 2) Participation shall continue each year until withdrawn by the employee's written request, which must be done during the months of May or June.
- 3) Employees may make additional one-time donations of eight (8) hours or more when necessitated by the lack of available Catastrophic Leave Bank hours.
- 4) An employee shall become eligible to receive hours from the bank when
 - a) He or she suffers a catastrophic illness or injury, and the Office's provision of one hundred (100) day of sick leave at half pay begins; or
 - b) A family member has suffered a catastrophic illness or injury, and the employee has exhausted all accrued fully paid sick leave and vacation.

5) The bank may provide:

- a) Up to one hundred (100) days of half-pay sick leave when the employee submits a request based on his or her own catastrophic illness or injury. These credits which will coincide with the supplement the Office's provision of one hundred (100) days of half-pay sick leave per fiscal year, less any days of fully paid sick leave or vacation utilized during the fiscal year; or
- b) Up to an additional twenty (20) days of full-pay sick leave when the employee submits a request based on the catastrophic illness or injury of a family member.

6) Employees requesting donated leave credit shall submit an application to Human Resource Services using the or forms available at PAU's and/or the Office of Human Resource Services.

c. Verification of Eligibility for Donated Leave Credit

Applicants for donated leave credits shall be required to provide appropriate verification of eligibility. Such verification may include, but not be limited to any of the following documents:

- 1) Doctor statement verifying catastrophic illness or injury
- 2) Payroll verification of the exhaustion of all accrued paid leave and donation to the bank
- 3) Appropriate relationship verification which may include, birth certificate, marriage certificate or baptismal record
- d. Notification to employees of the Need for Donated Leave

The notification of the need for donated leave credits shall include the following forms of communication:

- 1) A notice prepared by the Union distributed via Office e-mail.
- 2) Site representative

In addition to the above forms of communication, a copy of the letter from Human Resource Services notifying an employee of the exhaustion of all paid leave will be made available to the Catastrophic Leave Committee Chairperson for confidential use.

h. Procedure to Process Donations

To permit the Catastrophic Leave Committee to process donations of leave credits, Payroll shall verify/confirm the donor's available leave credit and that the donor retains ten (10) total days of 100% illness and/or vacation leave credit. The committee shall be notified of the length of the workday for the unit member donating the leave credit.

i. Role of the Catastrophic Leave Program Committee

The Union will appoint three members and three alternates to serve as the Catastrophic Leave Committee. Assisting the Committee, as resources, will be the Superintendent's designee(s). The Committee shall elect a chair and develop specific procedures for receiving and processing requests.

C. Non-Compensated Leaves of Absence

1. Personal Leave

The Office may, at its sole discretion, and upon the written request of the unit member, grant a leave without pay for any reason, such as child rearing, continuing education, family responsibilities, and the like, satisfactory to the Office.

2. Personal Business Leave

A leave of absence without compensation may be approved at the discretion of the immediate administrator for a period not to exceed five (5) working days.

3. Child Rearing Leave

As provided by Section B.8., of this

Article, a unit member may request an unpaid leave for up to twelve (12) workweeks during a twelve month period, if eligible, under the Office's Family and Medical Leave Policy. Unit members will be eligible for non-compensated leave for child rearing provided: (1) the child involved is under five years of age; (2) the leave is granted one year at a time, up to a maximum of two (2) years; and (3) the immediate supervisor and the Coordinator of Human Resource Services certify in writing that a suitable replacement is available and that there is not substantial hardship to the Office.

Any unit member on Child Rearing Leave has a right to: (1) return to the same classification with no loss of pay; (2) continue with participation in health insurance, provided the unit member pays for the entire cost of such benefits; and (3) have the period of leave count as continuation of service.

D. Holidays

- 1. Unit members employed during the time period a holiday occurs and who are on paid status during any portion of their working day immediately preceding or succeeding the holiday shall be entitled to the following days off with regular pay (see calendars page 96, Appendix B.)
- 2. Unit members who are not normally assigned to duty during the school holidays of December 25 and January 1, and December 24 and December 31, where applicable, shall be for those four holidays, provided they were on paid status during any portion of the working day of their normal assignment immediately preceding or succeeding the holiday period.
- 3. If a legal holiday listed in this Article falls on a Sunday, the following Monday shall be a holiday, unless it already is a legal holiday, in which case the preceding Friday shall become the declared holiday. If a legal holiday falls on a Saturday, the preceding Friday shall be a holiday.

- 4. Any unit member who is required to work on a holiday shall be paid at the rate of time and one-half (1-1/2) times his/her regular rate of pay, in addition to the regular pay received for the holiday. The total amount of pay equals double time and one-half (2-1/2).
- 5. If a unit member works at a site where the pupil calendar and holidays conflict with the Office calendar, then upon written waiver by the Office, the unit member will follow the local site calendar, provided that the total number of work days and holidays is the same as the Office work calendar. In such circumstances, the unit member will not be eligible to receive holiday pay when working on an Office designated holiday, provided an alternative holiday is made available. Provisions shall be made by the division director to accommodate unit members that work at sites other than the division office, whenever practical and more than one unit member is present during the winter break.
 - 6. If LACOE designates Cesar Chavez Day as a paid holiday, SEIU unit members will receive this day as a paid holiday.

E. Vacation

- 1. A full-time unit member shall earn vacation at the rate specified in paragraph 10 of this section for each calendar month of continuous service. A part-time unit member shall earn vacation leave, subject to all conditions in this section, on a pro-rata basis, of full-time employment which is 40 hours per week for twelve months.
- 2. A calendar month shall count in the computation for accumulation of earned vacation under this policy when the employee is on a paid status for any reason during one-half (1/2) or more of the working days in the month.
- 3. Vacation credit may be accumulated to a total not exceeding that which the unit member could earn in two (2) fiscal years.
- 4. Unit members who wish to take more than eight (8) hours of vacation shall submit requests for utilization to their immediate administrator at least two (2) weeks before the time such vacation is to start. The time limits of this provision may be waived upon mutual agreement of the unit member and immediate administrator.

Unit members who wish to take only eight (8) hours or less of vacation may do so without prior approval. The purpose of granting the use of accrued vacation without prior approval is to encourage unit members to inform the Office of the need to use this privilege as soon as they know their need to be off work for whatever reason thus assuring the work goals of the unit are completed with the most minimum of disruptions. However, if the Office has a reasonable basis to believe that the unit member's absence from work due to this provision is chronic, the Office will inform the unit member that his/her utilization of eight hours or less of vacation without prior approval is a matter of concern. If the unit member continues to utilize the eight hours

or less vacation without prior approval, in the same manner, the Office may require such unit member to obtain prior approval to be paid for eight hours or less vacation for a period not to exceed one year.

Vacation time requested by the unit member and approved by the immediate administrator shall not be cancelled or changed without at least a two (2) week prior notification to the affected unit member.

Vacation requests will be approved, unless the required workload would be adversely affected by the unit member's absence at that time. The immediate administrator shall respond to a vacation request within a reasonable period of time.

A unit member who has not been permitted to utilize accrued vacation within the previous two (2) months shall be granted, if so requested, at least five (5) days' vacation.

- 5. Upon approval of the appropriate Assistant Superintendent, vacation may be taken in advance of accrual, but may not exceed the amount to be earned during the current fiscal year. Upon termination, the amount of any advanced vacation, used but not earned, shall be rebated to the Office through deduction from the last pay warrant unless the unit member has otherwise rebated the amount to the Office.
 - 6 Subject to approval, accrued vacation may be utilized by the unit member in lieu of or in addition to any approved paid leave of absence.
 - 7 Unit members assigned to positions for which the regular work year does not include July and August must utilize their vacation leave during the ten (10) month school year unless otherwise approved by the Office. This provision shall not affect vacation credit accumulation as provided for in paragraph E.3 of this Section.
 - 8 Upon an approved leave of absence exceeding six (6) months, if requested, the amount of vacation earned and allowed for accumulation, but not used shall be paid in a lump sum to the unit member at the current salary rate.
 - 9 Probationary unit members shall be permitted to use, but shall not have vested interest in accrued vacation leave until completion of six (6) months of employment.
 - 10 The following chart shall determine the rate upon which full-time unit members earn vacation days for each calendar month of continuous service. Each year indicated on the chart shall begin with the first month of service for that year.

Commencing With Year	Hours Per Monthly	Hours Per Year
Of Service	Accrual Rate	(12 Month)
0-3	8	96
4	10	120
5	10.67	128
6-7	11.33	136
8-9	12	144
10	12.67	152
11-12	13.33	160
13-16	14	168
17-19	14.67	176
20	16	192

ARTICLE VIII - PROCEDURES FOR EVALUATION OF PERFORMANCE

A. Definition and Purpose

1. Performance Evaluation

A performance evaluation is a document that reflects, on a regular or special basis, whether the unit member has met or not met specified competencies and goals.

The performance evaluation process deals with the appraisal and development of a unit member on a continuous basis. It involves ongoing dialogue between supervisors and unit members in communicating work goals, giving and receiving work instructions, assigning work, as well as observing and evaluating work progress within the job classification. It is a management tool for understanding individual strengths and weaknesses of performance and behavior, a means of determining training and development needs, and may be used as a basis of personnel action to transfer, promote and improve performance.

The purpose of a performance evaluation, whether it is a regular (annual) or special evaluation, is to encourage open and honest supervisor-unit member relationships through appraisal, and maintain ongoing dialogue that contributes to coaching, through training, and counseling of unit members while improving the quality, productivity and responsiveness of the workforce.

2. Performance Improvement Plan

Unit members determined to be in need of improving any areas of performance will be provided with a Performance Improvement Plan (PIP), or documentation following the progressive discipline model.

The purpose of a performance improvement plan (PIP) is to serve as a means of improving a unit member's performance and/or behavior to achieve acceptable standards of competence or higher. The evaluator, with input from the affected unit member, shall develop an improvement plan that is fair, measureable, and which outlines work efforts through established timeline, which evaluate progress. A PIP is a model designed to facilitate constructive discussion between supervisors and unit members.

Performance evaluations and PIPs are a fundamental component of each unit member's documented employment history and are not, in and of themselves, disciplinary in nature.

B. Process

1. Performance Evaluation

- a. Every permanent unit member shall receive a formal, final written evaluation on the Office evaluation tool completed between March 1 and May 15 of each year.
- b. Every probationary unit member shall be evaluated twice during the probationary period. The first (1st) evaluation shall be completed on or before the end of the third (3rd) month of service. The second (2nd) evaluation shall be completed on or before the end of the fifth (5th) month of service.
- c. A unit member may receive a special evaluation at any other time during the year, such as during or upon completion of temporary assignments, when a unit member or an evaluator exits an assignment, exemplary performance, or less than satisfactory performance. All special evaluations shall be subject to prior authorization by the division director or designee, shall be clearly noted as a special evaluation, and shall be subject to all other provisions of this Article.
- d. Evaluations for permanent and probationary unit members shall be on completed utilizing the Office evaluation tool. The Union shall have the right to consult with the Office concerning any revisions the Office intends to make to the evaluation tool.
- e. Permanent employee evaluation procedures shall consist of a series of three (3) meetings between the unit member and the evaluator. Each meeting will allow both the unit member and evaluator to discuss performance and progress towards goals to date, and to make formal comments recorded on the evaluation tool. The timing and purpose of these three meetings is as follows:
 - 1) The initial meeting between the unit member and evaluator shall be held between July 1 and August 15 each year. During this meeting, relevant competencies and goals are established for evaluation purposes and recorded in the evaluation tool.
 - 2) The mid-year evaluation meeting shall be held between November 1 and December 15 each year. During this meeting, unit member progress towards competencies and goals will be discussed and recorded on the evaluation tool.
 - 3) The final evaluation meeting shall be held between March 1 and May 15. During this meeting, a final determination of whether unit members have met or not met competencies and goals will be made and communicated to the unit member, and recorded on the evaluation tool. If an evaluator is unable to meet the unit member due to the unit member's absence during

this period, the evaluator shall complete the final evaluation and meet with the unit member upon his or her return to work.

If a unit member is in a limited term, out of class, or provisional assignment during the evaluative period, it shall be noted on the final evaluation.

If a unit member transfers into a new assignment, or passes probation between August 16 and December 31, the evaluator shall hold an initial meeting with unit member prior to December 31, and a final evaluation meeting between March 1 and May 15.

Following each meeting, the unit member and evaluator will acknowledge the meeting was held by e-signing in the evaluation tool. The unit member will then have ten (10) working days to respond to the evaluator's assessment by recording comments in the evaluation tool. Once the response is entered, the unit member will e-sign the evaluation. If the evaluation is not signed within ten (10) days, that portion of the evaluation is considered finalized.

2. Performance Improvement Plan

- a. Notice must be presented to the unit member before a PIP may be issued. Such notice shall be within thirty (30) calendar days of the issuance of a PIP.
- b. A PIP may be issued any time during the annual evaluation period, and may be no less than thirty (30) calendar days but not more than ninety (90) calendar days in duration. All PIP's shall be subject to prior authorization by the division director or designee, shall be clearly noted as a PIP, and shall be subject to all other provisions of this Article.
- c. A PIP must include measurable and attainable goals. A PIP may include but is not limited to the following:
 - 1. A description of the areas for which improvement is needed;
 - 2. An improvement plan for the unit member to achieve satisfactory performance;
 - 3. Resources to support and assist in achieving satisfactory performance;
 - 4. The criteria, standards or objectives necessary to be met by the unit member to achieve satisfactory performance.
- d. Reasonable release time from duty hours shall be provided the unit member to review a PIP. The content of individual unit members' PIPs shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.

3. Evaluation Appeal

Upon submission of a written rebuttal the unit member may request an appeal to the division director or designee for an objective review. Both the division director or

designee and unit member shall have the right to one (1) representative at the appeal conference. Upon completion of the review, the division director or designee shall make a final written determination in the matter within ten (10) working days. If the unit member is not satisfied with this final determination, s/he may submit written comments within ten (10) working days. Such comments shall be attached to the performance evaluation and included in the unit member's office personnel file. The final content of individual unit members' performance evaluations shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.

C. Notice

Unit members shall be assigned one evaluator, and be informed in writing of the name of his/her evaluator within thirty (30) working days at the beginning of the fiscal/school year. Unit members shall be notified in writing within thirty (30) working days if their evaluator changes.

D. Methods of Assessment

Evaluations shall be based on standards and criteria appropriate for the classification and assignment of the unit member, along with standards established by the division and the Office.

The evaluator shall utilize, but is not limited to, the following methods of assessing performance:

- 1. Personal observations and knowledge, and/or
- 2. Review of work product, and/or
- 3. Appropriate, documented and/or pertinent input from the unit member's supervisor(s) and/or individuals who receive services form the unit member, where applicable, and/or
- 4. Other documented input related to the unit member's job performance.

E. Personnel File

- 1. Unit members shall have the right to inspect the contents of their personnel files. Such inspection shall be made only during non-duty hours for the unit members and during normal Office hours (8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m.). In the event a unit member cannot schedule such inspection during normal Office hours a reasonable attempt will be made to accommodate the unit member outside of normal Office hours. In the alternative, the Office shall provide the unit member with a digital copy of the contents of his or her personnel file upon request.
- 2. Upon request of the unit member, the Union shall be entitled to have one (1) representative accompany the unit member to review the unit member's personnel file outside of duty hours. A Union representative (SEIU staff) or steward with the written consent of the unit member may inspect or receive a digital copy of that unit member's

personnel file. A Union representative or steward authorized to inspect a unit member's personnel file shall do so during normal work hours.

3. Inclusion of Derogatory Materials in Personnel File.

Information of a derogatory nature shall not be placed in the unit member's personnel file or utilized in disciplinary proceedings unless the following procedures have been followed:

- a. Reasonable released time from duty hours shall be provided the unit member to review the derogatory material;
- b. The unit member has the right to attach a written rebuttal within ten (10) working days of the time the unit member has received the derogatory material. If the material is identified as a reprimand, the unit member shall have five (5) additional days to attach a rebuttal. The actual preparation of the written rebuttal shall be accomplished outside of duty hours;
- c. If the derogatory information is received by the immediate administrator from a non-LACOE external third party, the unit member shall first be provided written or oral notice of the same.

ARTICLE IX - COMPENSATION

A. Salary

The Office and the Union agree that unit members shall receive salaries in accordance with the salary schedule and position classification allocation lists in Appendix A.

1. 2020-2022 Salary Improvement

All active unit members at the time of ratification shall receive an on-schedule salary increase of three (3%) for 2020-2021 school year effective and retroactive to July 2020. Effective July 1, 2021, unit members shall receive an on-schedule salary increase of three percent (3%) for the 2021-2022 school year.

In the event that another bargaining unit receives an across-the-board general salary improvement for 2020-2021 and/or 2021-2022 school years that is higher than these percentages, SEIU unit members shall receive the same comparable increase for the same period as reflected by the total dollar amounts in rows 1 and 2 of the AB 1200 document divided by the number of employees in a bargaining unit, and compared with the average salary of employees in that bargaining unit.

This shall close Article IX, Compensation, for 2021-2022 reopener negotiations for the purposes of the negotiating general salary improvements.

2. Comparability/Equity Adjustment

- a. Comparability/Equity Pay Studies ("studies" or "study") should be conducted upon expiration of the collective bargaining agreement and commencement of negotiations of a successor agreement, beginning June 2015.
- b. At any time, either or both parties may recommend to the Personnel Commission changes to a benchmark for a job family group.
- c. From time to time and as reasonably needed, the agency/employer list shall be reviewed based on the following criteria:
 - 1. The public education agency receives Prop. 98 funding, excluding the California State University and University of California systems;
 - 2. All county offices of education;
 - 3. Public educational agencies located in Los Angeles County and adjoining counties, including San Bernardino;
 - 4. Public educational agencies that have more than 500 classified employees, excluding paraeducator and/or instructional assistants;
 - 5. Whether the agency actively participated in the study in the last three (3) years.

- 6. Human Resource Services will cause a study to be conducted such that the report of the study will be available in March.
- 7. The study should include total compensation defined as base salary as determined by the salary schedule; and health and welfare benefits as determined by the maximum employer contributions to medical, dental, life, and vision insurance; and mental health services such as EASE and/or an Employee Assistance Program (EAP).
- 8. It is agreed and understood that a preliminary study be conducted in 2012-13 and that there is no obligation imposed on either LACOE or SEIU to meet and confer on the results of the study.
- 9. Results of the studies commencing in 2015 are subject to negotiations.

3. Salary on Employment

All unit members shall be appointed at the hiring rate for the class which shall be the first step of the schedule, unless an accelerated hiring rate is established by the Office to aid recruitment. The Union shall be notified prior to establishing an accelerated rate. If either party requests negotiations, the parties will meet to negotiate the impact of said accelerated rate and related matters. Such negotiations shall not delay the implementation of the accelerated rate.

Nothing shall preclude placement at any other step, if agreed to in writing between the Union business representative and the Assistant Superintendent of Human Resource Services.

4. Salary Step Advancement

a. Unit members shall receive a step advancement to Step Two (2) at the successful conclusion of their six (6) month probationary period or 130 working days, whichever is longer.

Successful conclusion of this probationary period means that the unit member:

- 1. Has actually provided service during some portion of each workday for ninety (90%) percent of the working days, and
- 2. Has been evaluated as performing satisfactorily.

Step advancement to Step Two (2) shall be on the first (1st) of the month closest to the conclusion of the probationary period. If this falls between the first (1st) and including the fifteenth (15th) of the month, step advancement shall be on the first (1st) of the month. If the conclusion of the probationary period falls between the sixteenth (16th) and the end of the month, step advancement shall be on the first (1st) of the succeeding work month of the unit members' calendar year assignment. This step advancement date shall be deemed to be the anniversary date.

b. Unit members shall advance one (1) step on the salary schedule for the class for each subsequent full year of service until the fifth (5th) step is reached, subject to satisfactory performance evaluations. Unit members with evaluations that are not satisfactory will not receive their anniversary step advancement until the first (1st) of the month following a satisfactory evaluation.

5. Longevity Stipend

Beginning July 1, 2016, full time unit members who completed ten (10) or more years of service with the Office shall receive a longevity stipend on each anniversary date. Stipend shall be disbursed in equal increments based on the annual stipend as follows:

10 or more years	\$700.00
15 or more years	\$1200.00
20 or more years	\$1700.00
25 or more years	\$2200.00
30 or more years	\$2700.00

6. Salary Placement after Leave of Absence

Upon return to work, unit members on non-compensated leaves shall resume the step placement and advancement on the salary schedule as if the leave had not been taken. However, non-compensated leave time for a major part of the month will not be counted toward step advancement and a new anniversary date shall be established correcting to the closest first (1st) of the month utilizing the procedure described in Section A.6.a., of this Article. Unit members on paid leaves of absence, whether the pay is full or partial, shall not have their anniversary dates adjusted.

7. Salary on Reemployment

A unit member in who is reemployed or reinstated as a permanent employee within thirty-nine (39) months of his or her last paid service in the classification from which he or she left shall be reemployed or reinstated as if there was no break in service of the employee and restore the rights, benefits, and burdens as a permanent employee.

8. Salary on Promotion

a. A unit member who is promoted shall be placed on the salary schedule of the new classification at the lowest step which provides no less than a 5.5% percent increase in dollar amount. When it is to the employee's financial advantage to retain an anniversary date, it shall be retained. When it is a disadvantage, the effective date of the promotion shall become the new anniversary date. If the promotion occurs on the anniversary date of the unit member, the unit member shall first receive his/her anniversary salary step increment and then shall be

placed at the lowest step of the new salary schedule which provides no less than five and one-half (5.5%) percent increase in dollar amount.

- b. Any unit member who has gained permanency in a class and who fails to complete a probationary period in a class to which that employee has been promoted will have the right to retain permanent status in the class held to promotion.
- c. If a newly hired unit member is promoted to another class before attaining permanency in a class, the Office will notify the employee that failure to attain permanency in the promotional class will constitute failure to gain permanency in the classified service. Therefore, the employee will have no right to return to his/her original position held prior to promotion.

9. Salary on Demotion

- a. Effective July 1, 2015, a unit member displaced by staff reduction and exercising displacement rights to a lower classification in lieu of layoff and with prior regular service in the class shall be credited with the number of years served in the current classification and the years previously served in the lesser compensated classification.
- b. A unit member voluntarily or administratively demoted shall receive the salary indicated at the schedule of the lesser compensated classification, but at least at the same step as the former/higher classification.

10. Salary on Reclassification

A unit member who is reclassified to a position on a higher salary schedule shall receive salary as determined by the procedure for Salary on Promotion, in Section A.7., of this Article. A unit member who is reclassified to a position on a lower salary schedule shall receive salary as determined by the procedure for demotions due to staff reduction (see Section A.9 of this Article).

11. Premium Pay on Shift Differential

A full-time unit member who works the majority (defined as 50% or more) of his or her regular shift between the hours of 2:00 PM and 12:00 AM shall receive a five and one-half percent (5.5%). A full-time unit member who works the majority (defined at 50% or more) of his or her regular shift between the hours of 12:00 AM and 7:00 AM shall receive a premium pay rate of nine percent (9.0%) of his or her regular pay rate. A unit member temporarily assigned to such a shift shall receive the shift differential for the entire period of such assignment.

When the Office intends to reassign a unit member's hours in a manner that will eliminate the shift differential currently received for a period of more than twenty (20) workdays, the Office shall, prior to such action, notify the Union.

If the Union requests negotiations regarding the impact of the Office's decision, such shall commence at a mutually agreeable time. Negotiations shall not exceed twenty (20) workdays from the day of the first session. Such negotiations shall not delay the reassignment.

12. Salary – Overtime

a. Eight (8) hour day unit members, or greater

The workweek for any full-time unit member shall be forty (40) hours and the workday shall be eight (8) hours. The Office will provide compensation or compensatory time off at a rate equal to one and one-half (1 1/2) times the regular rate of pay for actual hours worked, for unit members who are authorized and required to perform scheduled overtime. Overtime is any time required to be worked in excess of eight (8) hours in any one day or in excess of forty (40) hours in any workweek. In the case of an alternative workweek schedule, (provided the workday does not exceed 10 hours) hours worked in excess of the scheduled day (for example, above 9 hours in the case of a 9-80, or above 10 hours for 4-40) are overtime.

b. Seven (7) hour day unit members

The workweek for any part-time unit member having a regular workday of more than seven (7) hours, but less than eight (8) hours, shall consist of no more than five (5) consecutive days.

Such an employee shall be compensated or provided compensatory time off at a rate equal to one and one-half (1 1/2) times the regular rate of pay, for any work authorized and required to be performed on the sixth (6th) and seventh (7th) days following the of the regular workweek, or for hours worked in excess of eight (8) hours in one (1) day or hours worked in excess of forty (40) hours in a calendar week.

c. Six (6) hour day or less unit members

The workweek for any part-time unit member having a regular workday of more than four (4) hours, but less than seven (7) hours, shall consist of no more than five (5) consecutive days. Such an employee shall be compensated or provided compensatory time off at a rate equal to one and one-half (1 1/2) times the regular rate of pay for any work authorized and required to be performed on the sixth (6th) and seventh (7th) days following the commencement of the regular workweek, or for hours worked in excess of eight (8) hours in one (1) day or hours worked in excess of forty (40) hours in a calendar week.

d. Four (4) hour unit members

Any part-time unit member having an average workday of less than four (4) hours during a workweek shall, for any work required to be performed on the seventh (7th) day following the commencement of his/her workweek, be compensated or provided compensatory time off at a rate equal to one and one-half (1 1/2) times the regular rate of pay.

e. Compensatory Time-Off

Overtime provisions in this agreement shall conform to all applicable federal and state laws. (Appendix C).

f. Overtime – Computing hours worked

For purposes of computing hours worked, time during which the unit member is excused from work because of holidays, vacation, or fully paid leaves of absence shall be considered as time worked by the unit member.

The designation, authorization, approval, and allocation of any overtime shall rest solely with the Office.

The Office will make every effort to assign overtime as equitably as possible among unit members in the same classification and work unit.

g. Holiday Pay

When a unit member works at a site in a program where the pupil calendar and holidays conflict with the Office calendar, then upon the initiation of a written waiver by the Office for the unit member(s), the unit member(s) will follow the local district calendar, provided that the total number of workdays and holidays is the same as the Office work calendar. In such circumstances, the unit member(s) will not be eligible to receive holiday pay when working on an Office designated holiday, provided a mutually agreeable alternative holiday is made available. This language shall not prohibit the practice which allows a unit member who is scheduled to work an Office holiday to trade workdays with another unit member, provided a suitable replacement employee volunteers for service. The replacement employee then be eligible for another holiday in lieu of Office holiday.

13. Call Back

The Office, at its sole discretion, may call back to work a unit member either after eight (8) working hours or on a day not normally worked by the unit member.

Any unit member called back to work, either after normal working hours or on a day not worked (or alternative workday), shall receive not less than four (4) hours of at the overtime pay rate, irrespective of the actual time if less than four (4) hours.

14. Bilingual Pay

Unit members authorized and required as a regular part of their assignment of duties to converse and/or write in a language other than English shall receive additional compensation subject to the following conditions:

- a. The unit member shall pass a test, either oral or written, in the foreign language required in the assignment.
- b. Required and authorized use of oral or written language other than English shall be compensated at an additional 2.75 percent of base salary, or thirty-five dollars (\$35), whichever is greater.
- c. Required and authorized use of oral and written language other than English shall be compensated at an additional 5.5% percent of base salary, or seventy dollars (\$70), whichever is greater.
- d. Sign language(s) of general usage for with hearing impaired persons shall be considered as a foreign language for purposes of this section.

15. Salary on Temporary Assignment

A unit member required and authorized by prior division director approval to perform duties related to but inconsistent with those assigned to the position for a period which exceeds more than five (5) working days within a fifteen (15) workday period shall have his/her salary adjusted upward for the entire period in such amounts as will reasonably reflect the duties required to be performed outside of his/her normal assigned duties. Reasonable amounts of additional compensation shall be as follows:

a. If the inconsistent duties assigned are substantial in amount, constituting more than half of the unit member's duties at a significantly higher level of responsibilities as determined by the division director, the unit member shall be compensated beginning the first day of the assignment. Salary placement shall be at the first step of the appropriate salary range schedule which is next higher in dollar amount above that of the employee's current salary, but not less than one full step, or the maximum of the salary range for the assigned class.

If the higher level duties assigned to the employee are determined to more appropriately compare with those of an intermediary classification, rather than the classification of the employee being replaced, the employee will be compensated according to the salary range of that classification.

- b. If the inconsistent duties assigned are substantial in amount, constituting half or less of the unit member's duties at a significantly higher level of responsibilities as determined by the division director, the unit member shall be compensated at a rate of 50% percent of the amount of additional salary a promotion to this higher compensated class would provide, for the entire period so worked, but not to exceed 4% percent of additional salary.
- c. Supervisors shall refrain from distributing the work of an absent employee to two or more employees solely to keep an employee from meeting the five-day qualification for temporary pay.

16. Dictation Salary Differential

A unit member in a position required by the Office to utilize dictation skills as a part of his/her regular duties and who can successfully complete the regular qualifying dictation test shall receive an additional salary differential of two and three-quarter (2.75%) percent. This salary differential shall be withdrawn at any time the Office no longer requires such skill or the unit member cannot successfully complete the regular qualifying examination.

17. On Call Pay

Unit members assigned to be On Call during off-duty hours, which restricts their freedom of movement or activities, shall be compensated at the rate of one dollar (\$1.00) per hour for each hour during the period he/she is required to be On Call.

In the event reasonable attempts to reach the unit member have been made and he or she is not available, no compensation shall be paid.

18. Direct Deposit of Pay

The Office will continue to make direct deposit of pay available to unit members.

B. Insurance Fringe Benefits

Insurance Fringe Benefits Effective November 13, 2012

- 1. The Office shall provide or make available to each unit member medical and health insurance benefits.
 - a. The benefits plan established pursuant to the bargaining agreement shall be for the purpose of providing for the medical, dental, vision, and life benefits for unit members, dependents, and domestic partners as defined in Article II Definitions and retirees and their dependents.

The Associations and Union have formed a Joint Benefits Committee, comprised of three (3) members from each bargaining unit and management (to be determined by each group), to negotiate with the Office changing carriers, Office contribution, eligibility, the amount of The LACOE Employee Health and Welfare Account balance, benefit coverage in the various plans, enrollment and termination rules and procedures. The procedures to be followed regarding voting, tie vote, and deadlock are set forth in the "Joint Benefits Committee Appendix" attached to this Agreement, which is incorporated herein by reference.

By way of a (FIRST) Amendment to Memorandum of Understanding (MOU), the parties agreed to, and did create "The LACOE Employee Health and Welfare Account." A copy of the MOU is attached to this Agreement, and incorporated herein by reference.

- b. The LACOE Employee Health and Welfare Account (formerly the "Trust Surplus Fund Balance")
 - The parties agree to designate The LACOE Employee Health and Welfare Account funds and interest (hereinafter "Health & Welfare Account") in excess of the actuarially appropriate resources for run-out costs as restricted funds to be used for medical, dental, vision and life for active employees and dependents, and medical, dental, and vision for retirees and spouse or domestic partner.
 - 2. The parties agree to allot 2 million dollars to be designated for retiree benefits which shall cover the contribution to California Public Employees' Retirement System (hereinafter "PERS") only referenced in ¶2.f.i, with the excess Health & Welfare Account funds to be negotiated to what is in the best interest of the active employees including but not limited to retiree benefits. Effective January 1, 2007, the 2 million dollars allotted for retiree benefits shall be used for retirees who are not eligible or no longer eligible for Years of Service Benefits, and shall be billed to the Joint Benefits Committee quarterly.
 - 3. Starting with the quarter of October 1, 2007 through December 31, 2007, the Office will provide the Joint Benefits Committee with an accounting and invoice that shows the Office and employee health and welfare contributions, and the payments to the health care vendors, which shall reflect the retrospective actual payouts starting with that quarter. For calendar year January 1, 2011 through December 31, 2011, the Health & Welfare Account funds shall be used to cover rate increases in the 2011 insurance premiums for the medical, HMO dental, vision, and life, plus claims and administrative fees for the PPO dental plan and the vision plan for unit members, dependents, domestic partners as defined in Article II, Definitions, excluding the PERS 2011 rate increase for retirees and their spouses or domestic partners (i.e., ¶2.f.i) whose rate increases shall be paid from the "\$2 million dollar fund" allotted for retiree benefits.

- 4. The Joint Benefits Committee shall monitor the Health & Welfare Account balance to ensure that funds are only used for health and welfare benefits and will be provided with an itemized written statement by the Office or the financial institution in which the Health & Welfare Account is held as frequently as the financial institution distributes such statement.
- 2. Effective with this Agreement, the Office will make the following annual contributions to health and welfare benefits for unit members:
 - a. 2016-2017 Joint Health and Welfare Benefits Agreement
 - 1. The office will assume one hundred percent (100%) of the one-time cost for Health and Welfare increases for active unit members and employees effective January 1, 2017 through December 31, 2017. See rate sheet attached to Appendix I.
 - 2. No later than June 1, 2017, the Office will meet with representatives of the bargaining units to negotiate an increase to existing caps, to be effective no later than January 1, 2018.
 - 3. Active unit members and employees shall have the opportunity to opt-out of LACOE's medical plans if the unit member or employee can provide evidence of other health coverage effective January 1, 2017 through December 31, 2017. Active unit members and employees who opt-out of medical plans shall receive an annual amount of two-thousand dollars (\$2000.00), to be paid in ten (10) equal payments of two-hundred dollars (\$200.00) during the plan year. At least fifty-seven (57) active unit members of employees shall participate in the opt-out plan to activate plan payments. If there are not enough active unit members or employees enrolled in the opt-out plan to activate plan payments, unit members and employees participating in the plan may reinstate LACOE health coverage.
 - b. 2015-2016 Joint Health and Welfare Benefits Agreement
 - 1. LACOE will provide reimbursement for employee premium contributions made on October 5, November 5, and December 5, 2015 to active unit members and employees. CSEA, LACEA, LACOE, and SEIU will contribute the remaining funds from the active employees Joint Benefits Account Fund as part of this reimbursement. This reimbursement shall be distributed to all active members and employees who made those contributions by February 28, 2016.

- 2. LACOE will assume one hundred percent (100%) of the one-time cost for Health and Welfare increases for active unit members and employees effective January 1, 2016 through December 31, 2016.
- 3. LACOE will assume one hundred percent (100%) of the runout/unreimbursed costs of unit member and employee health and welfare benefit calendar year ending December 31, 2015.
- 4. Active unit members and employees shall have the opportunity to opt out of LACOE's medical plans if the unit member can provide evidence of other health coverage effective January 1, 2016 through December 31, 2016. Active unit members and employees who opt out of medical plans shall receive an annual amount of \$2,000 to be paid in ten equal payments of \$200.00 during plan year. At least 57 active unit members or employees shall participate in the opting out plan to activate plan payments. If there are not enough active unit members or employees enrolled in the opting out plan to activate opt out plan payments, unit members and employees participating in the plan may reinstate LACOE health coverage.
- c. The parties mutually agree to merge the two benefit schedules and select the maximum cap of each schedule to create a single health and welfare schedule. LACOE agrees to a five-percent (5.0%) increase to the maximum caps from each of the 2012-2013 CSEA, SEIU, LACEA, Management, and Confidential health and welfare benefits employer contributions as a hard cap for all unit members effective January 1, 2014 through December 31, 2014 as follows:

One party - \$ 7,875.00 Two party - \$11,550.00 Three party- \$13,860.00

d. LACOE agrees to a two-percent (2.0%) increase to the 2014 health and welfare employer contribution as a hard cap for all unit members effective January 1, 2015 through December 31, 2015.

One party - \$ 8,033.00 Two party - \$11,781.00 Three party- \$14,137.00

e. If the amount of the Office's contribution that is required by state or federal law is increased, the amount of the Supplemental Benefit to be paid by the Office shall be reduced in a like amount, unless otherwise negotiated by the parties. LACOE agrees to comply with the conditions of the Affordable Care Act, and to examine ways to offset future premium cost increases with the Joint Benefits Committee.

- f. The Supplemental Benefit under Section 2 above is contingent upon the unit members' participation in the Office's benefits programs.
- g. Unless expressly modified by this agreement, the provisions of Article IX, Compensation, Section B, Insurance Fringe Benefits, of the respective collective bargaining agreement between the Office and the exclusive representatives herein remain in full force and effect. The exclusive representatives hereby acknowledge that Article IX, Compensation, Section B, Insurance Fringe Benefits, (¶2.b) provides in pertinent part: "Unit members shall be responsible for any portion of the premium in excess of the Office's contribution, which shall be paid by monthly payroll deduction."
- h. The parties agree that the total annual Office contribution for medical benefits for fulltime current unit members, including the PERS minimum base rate and the Office Supplemental Benefit, shall not exceed the dollar figures above. Any premium costs in excess of the above Office contribution and Supplemental Benefit in Sections 1 and 2 above, shall be paid by the unit member through tenthly payroll deduction, and paid by the retiree through the California State Teachers' Retirement System (hereinafter "STRS")/PERS payroll system deduction.
- i. Effective July 2010, the parties agree to reimburse the Office for PERS administrative fee, which is calculated on the total retired health premiums each month, pursuant to Government Code section 22901. Payment hereunder will be borne fifty (50%) from the Office and fifty (50%) from the Associations and the Union until such time as the \$2 million allotted (¶1.b.ii) above is exhausted. Thereafter, the Office will bear all costs.
- j. Payments to the Office hereinafter shall be made on a quarterly basis from the \$2 million allotted (January 1, 2007) for retiree benefits under Article IX, 1, b, ii, herein.
- k. Retiree Fringe Benefits-Unequal Contribution Method:
 - 1. Unit members who retire from active service under the STRS/PERS shall be entitled to receive the basic Office retiree medical contribution of \$21.60 per month twelfth (\$259.20 annually), or as adjusted by law, toward the purchase of a PERS medical benefit so long as the Office continues to participate in the PERS retirement plan, pursuant to Government Code Section 22892(c). Upon termination of the Office's participation in the PERS medical insurance plan or its successor, the Office shall have no further obligation for payment of the retiree's medical contribution, but will offer the retiree the option to continue, at his/her own expense, in the subsequent medical insurance plan. Termination of the Office's participation in the PERS medical insurance plan or its

successor shall not affect the ability of eligible retirees to elect to participate in the retiree Years of Service Benefit Program as set forth below.

- 2. In addition, the Office shall annually provide a Years of Service Benefit for eligible retirees based upon years of service. The Benefit may be used for additional benefits coverage. The maximum period of coverage for the Years of Service Benefit shall be for five (5) years. Coverage shall terminate at the end of five (5) years or when the retiree attains age sixty-five (65) or when the retiree becomes eligible for Medicare coverage, whichever occurs first.
- 3. Amount of Years of Service Benefit:
- 4. Retirees, ages 55 to 65 with ten (10) years of service with the Office—\$2,744.80
- 5. Retirees, ages 55 to 65 with twenty (20) years of service with the Office—\$5,740.80
- 6. For individuals who retire after the dates specified in the collective bargaining agreements or LACOE Board Regulations, the amount of \$3,004.00 for ten years of service or \$6,000.00 for 20 years of service, may be paid directly to a certified medical insurer, other than PERS, selected by the retiree. If the medical insurance premium is less than the eligible amount, the Office will pay no more than the total cost of the premium.
- 7. If the amount of the Office contribution that is required by state or federal law is increased, the amount of the Years of Service Benefit to be paid by the Office shall be reduced in a like amount, unless otherwise negotiated by the parties.
- 1. It is agreed that all of the above provisions are subject to the approval of the PERS, which will review these provisions to determine if they are in compliance with the law in regard to the PERS health plans.
- m. In the event the legality of the above provisions or similar provisions existing in other county offices or school districts are challenged or are found to be invalid by a court of law, the Associations/Union and the Office agree to reopen negotiations on health benefits.
- n. The current Supplemental Benefit and Years of Service Benefits amounts stated in B.2 will continue until the parties agree to different amounts.
- o. The parties agree that they will begin negotiations on a successor benefits agreement on or before November 15 of each fiscal year.

3. Benefits on Non-Compensated Leave

Bargaining unit members on an approved non-compensated leave of absence may continue in the medical insurance benefit program for one (1) calendar year if the unit member reimburses the Office for the full cost of coverage in a timely manner. Bargaining unit members on an approved leave or absent without approval shall have their insurance fringe benefits cancelled for the period of the unapproved leave of absence.

4. Extended Medical Benefits for Long-Term Illness

In instances of serious long-term illness, the Office shall provide an extension of medical insurance for the duration of the serious long-term illness, not to exceed one (1) calendar year from the date of exhaustion of all sick leave pay. The Office may extend the leave up to an additional calendar year. This extension of medical benefits shall be available only if the employee is not eligible for workers' compensation, disability retirement or spousal medical coverage comparable to that which was previously enjoyed by the employee.

- 5. Nothing within the provisions of this Agreement shall preclude the collective bargaining process.
- 6. Internal Revenue Code (IRC) Section 125 Benefit

The Office will establish an IRC Section 125 system for purposes of child care benefits, elder care benefits, and health insurance deductibles. The participating employees shall pay for all administrative and handling fees.

7. 2022 Health and Welfare Benefits

Unit members shall pay for any portion of the premium in excess of the Office's contribution, which shall be paid by tenthly payroll deduction. LACOE agrees to maintain as a maximum the annual Office contribution to employee health and welfare benefits for SEIU effective January 1, 2022 to December 31, 2022, as follows:

Single - \$9,455 plus the dollar amount to align this cap equal to the weighted average of the overall increase for all premium costs for plans with unit members in this tier.

Two Party - \$18,000 plus dollar amount to align this cap equal to the weighted average increase for all premium costs for plans with unit members in this tier.

Family - \$23,000 plus dollar amount to raise align this cap equal to the weighted average increase for all premium costs for plans with unit members in this tier.

If the employee out of pocket cost for one or more plans increase by more than 10% or \$100 tenthly, the parties agree to meet and confer. The intent of the meet and confer meeting

includes but not limited to determining out of pocket employee costs provided that the average Office contribution per employee does not exceed total maximum contribution set for that tier.

C. Reimbursed Expenses

1. A Unit member required to, and approved for, travel or required to utilize his/her private automobile on Office business shall be eligible for mileage and expenses reimbursement subject to the current applicable Offices policies and regulations.

2. Child Care

The Office will reimburse a unit member for the registration and insurance fee at a license child care facility up to a total of \$125.00 per year per unit member for care of a child of a unit member. The unit member must submit the name and license number of the facility prior to any reimbursement.

Child Care Facility at Education Center

The parties agree to establish a join Union/Office Committee to assess the feasibility of establishing an on-site care facility for non-school age children of Office employees.

ARTICLE X - TRANSFER PROCEDURES

A. Definition

A transfer is a change of assignment from one site location or division to another within the same classification. No new probationary period shall be required within the same classification. Seniority for transfer purposes is seniority within classification. Excluded from the definition of transfer are: (1) a demotion (whether voluntary or involuntary) or a promotion, (2) a change of assignment within a classification that does not involve a change of site location or division, (3) a change in site location administered by the same immediate administrator. At the request of a unit member and with concurrence of the Office, the unit member may change assignment to another class with the same or lower salary level for which he or she is qualified.

A transfer may be initiated by either written request of unit member (voluntary transfers) or administratively by the Office (involuntary transfers). Decisions regarding voluntary transfers shall be made by the Office, utilizing criteria indicated in Section B(3) of this Article.

B. Voluntary Transfers

1. Request for Voluntary Transfer

A unit member desiring a voluntary transfer shall file a written request with the Personnel Commission on the Office form. The Personnel Commission shall maintain and file such requests until withdrawn by the employee in writing or until June 30 of each year, at which time the entire transfer list shall be purged, whichever occurs first.

2. Procedures for Voluntary Transfer

- a. When a new position is created or an existing position becomes vacant and does not have a pending re-employment list, the Personnel Commission shall provide the appropriate administrator with all pertinent transfer request information from the file, together with the eligibility list for the classification of the position to be filled. Unit members being considered for transfer to a specific vacancy shall be notified.
- b. All unit vacancies will be listed on the Personnel Commission web site each Monday morning. Transfer requests to such positions must be received in the Personnel Commission no later than 4:00 p.m. on Thursday of the same week.
- c. The immediate administrator shall interview each unit member listed on the transfer list, unless the unit member has been interviewed twice by the same

immediate administrator within the last twelve (12) months, along with applicants from the eligibility list(s).

3. Criteria

The immediate administrator shall utilize the following criteria in formulating the recommendation to the Personnel Commission for filling the position.

- a. Requirements of the particular vacant position as related to the skills, knowledge and experience of the unit member or applicants
- b. References and evaluations
- c. Seniority within classification

4. Shift Change Requests

Before vacancies involving shift changes are submitted to the Personnel Commission for posting, existing unit members within the appropriate classifications who request shift change when a vacancy occurs shall be given first priority.

C. Administrative Transfer

1. Determination and Criteria

In the case of an administrative (involuntary) transfer, the final determination of the employee to be reassigned shall be based upon the needs of the Office. However, if no special circumstances are present, the determination of the employee to be reassigned shall be by inverse seniority (the employee in the site, division, or section, with least Office seniority.)

2. Right to Consultation

Any unit member who has been transferred administratively, (involuntarily) shall be entitled to a consultation with the immediate administrator and/or the Director of Human Resource Services or designee, in order to discuss the reasons for the transfer.

3. Mileage

Upon an administrative (involuntary) transfer, the unit member shall be reimbursed for excess mileage at the mileage rates established by the Office. Such excess mileage compensation shall continue for ninety (90) working days only. Excess mileage is defined as the product of the round trip mileage from the unit member's residence to and from the new location, reduced by the round trip mileage from the unit member's residence to and from the original location.

Example:

Residence to and from the new location 50 miles round trip
Minus residence to and from original location -20 miles round trip
Equals 30 miles

Thirty (30) miles per day reimbursement up to ninety (90) working days.

4. Notice

Absent extenuating circumstances, unit members shall be provided a minimum of ten (10) workings days' notice prior to the effective date of any administrative transfer.

D. Exchange Transfers

1. Requirements

- a. A position may be exchanged between two unit members with the mutual agreement of the unit members' immediate administrators.
- b. A position may be exchanged between two unit members with the same classification.

2. Criteria

A voluntary exchange transfer request may be considered based on, but limited to the following criteria:

- a. work hours
- b. experience
- c. job related skills

3. Limitations

Employees granted voluntary exchange transfers are not eligible for mileage reimbursements.

Employees who exchange positions may still be displaced due to a reduction in force.

ARTICLE XI - SAFETY

A. The Office shall provide a reasonably safe working environment and correct unhealthy working conditions as they relate to facilities and equipment under the direct control of the Office, and establish safety procedures for employees, and shall provide administrative monitoring of these working conditions.

The Office shall furnish, promote, and provide the use of safety devices and safeguards, and promote the use of methods and processes which are adequate to create safe and healthful working conditions. The Office will comply with code required notifications and/or postings regarding hazardous materials.

When a unit member has a special need for storage or preparation of medication (e.g. refrigeration, sharps disposal), he/she may request an interactive accommodation meeting.

Both parties agree that the responsibility for providing safe working conditions is that of the Office and the responsibility for complying with safety procedures and practices is that of unit members. The unit member shall be responsible for reporting to the immediate supervisor as soon as possible any unsafe or unhealthy working conditions. There shall be no reprisal against the unit member for reporting violations to the appropriate authorities. Unit members shall not be required to perform tasks that violate Occupational Safety and Health Standards.

Security will be assigned to each unsecured lobby open to the public with receptionist present. Security will be able to leave to leave the immediate lobby area so long as they can respond to the lobby as needed.

The regularly established Office Safety Committee shall include two unit members selected by SEIU. The members shall have the right to place items on the committee agenda to be considered by the committee as a whole.

B. Video Display Terminal (VDT) Standards

1. Policy

The Office agrees to develop standards for workstation equipment and furniture, and to provide information and education to employees with the intention of reducing injuries and improving health and safety.

2. Adoption of Standards

The parties agree that the Office Safety Committee will develop and recommend VDT standards to the Superintendent that comply with all applicable federal and state laws and/or regulations.

C. Damage or Theft of Personal Automobiles

When a unit member suffers damage to a personal automobile due to vandalism or theft while on an Office assignment, the unit member shall be reimbursed for deductibles up to \$300 per incident (excluding ornamental loss); provided the damage or theft can be verified by the site administrator as damage or theft occurring while parked at the site, and the amount of deductible on vehicle insurance can be verified. Unit members may decline to use their insurance, but the amount paid by the Office shall equal the amount paid as if the insurance claim had been made.

D. Prohibition Against Abusive Conduct in the Workplace

The parties mutually recognize and agree that abusive conduct (i.e. "bullying") in the workplace is prohibited. For purposes of this section, "abusive conduct" means conduct of an employer or employee in the workplace, with malice, that a reasonable person would find hostile, offensive, and unrelated to an employer's legitimate business interests. Abusive conduct may include repeated infliction of verbal abuse, such as the use of derogatory remarks, insults, and epithets, verbal or physical conduct that a reasonable person would find threatening, intimidating, or humiliating, or the gratuitous sabotage or undermining of a person's work performance. A single act shall not constitute abusive conduct unless especially severe or egregious. Claims arising under this section are not subject to the Grievance Article, and shall be processed under the Office's Complaint Resolution policies, SP 4244 and 4344, and regulation, SR 4244 and 4344.

ARTICLE XII - WORK STOPPAGE

- A. Apart from and in addition to existing legal restrictions upon and remedies for work stoppages, the Union agrees to the following:
 - 1. Neither the Union nor its officers or representatives or affiliates shall cause, encourage, condone or participate in any strike, or other concerted work stoppage during the term of this Agreement. In the event of any actual or threatened strike, or other concerted work stoppage, the Union and its officers, representatives and affiliates will take all reasonable steps within their control to avert or end the same; and
 - 2. A unit member engaging in any strike, or other concerted work stoppage during the term of this Agreement shall be considered to be unlawfully absent and shall forfeit salary, fringe benefits (insurance), utilization of leave privileges, etc., for each day or portion thereof such unlawful absence occurs.

Disputes arising under this Article are to be handled according to appropriate legal proceedings rather than the grievance procedures of Article V.

ARTICLE XIII - CAREER DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

- A. Unit members may apply for educational reimbursement or release time to attend educational or training courses through outside educational institutions and/or online courses for the purpose of improving job skills in their current position, or to prepare them for other positions within the Office. Applications for a fiscal year must be submitted 15 working days prior to registration or within 5 working days of receipt of the registration.
- B. Educational reimbursement of 50% percent of actual-educational costs (e.g. tuition, books, and fees) up to a maximum of \$1000.00 per fiscal year, \$250.00 per quarter, \$500.00 per semester. The educational reimbursement approval remains in effect until June 30 of each year provided there are sufficient funds.
- C. Unit members may be approved for release time only when the release time is required and the course(s) interfere(s) with established work hours. Release time may be approved in lieu of educational reimbursement for up to two (2) hours per week, upon submission and approval of the application within 15 working days of attendance in the class. Release time is limited to one semester or to two quarters each year and will be provided, within budgetary limits, for approved applications. An additional quarter or semester of release time may be granted to a unit member when the unit member can demonstrate that a course is only available during that semester and at a time of day that interferes with work hours, or for other extenuating circumstances. Online coursework may be considered for release time when course requirements are verified in writing (e.g. course syllabus, instructor assignment).
- D. Requests for educational reimbursement or release time shall be submitted through line management to the Office of Labor Relations. In order to minimize financial risk to the unit member and to permit review, approval or denial, the request shall be submitted in advance of registration, but no request, shall be submitted later than thirty (30) calendar days after the start of the class. In addition, upon request, applicants shall submit a description of the course(s) content and its applicability to their current position or other positions in the Office. Reimbursement will be made upon verification of completion of the course(s) with a grade of "C" or better.
- E. Each request shall be evaluated on the relevancy of the training to the needs of the Office, either as related to the applicant's present position, or other positions and job families within the Los Angeles County Office of Education based on the educational requirements set forth in job class specifications/job descriptions for such positions. Prerequisites and general education requirements shall be considered relevant to the training needs of the Office. Questions concerning this program may be directed to the Office of Labor Relations.
- F. The Office of Labor Relations shall evaluate each application and sufficiency of funding and approve or deny. In the event of a possible denial, the Office of Labor Relations will notify the Union and consider additional information provided to the Office within 15 working days

- of enrollment of a class. The Office of Labor Relations shall inform the Unit Member's time keeper and supervisor in writing.
- G. There shall be a fund not to exceed \$15,000 annually when funds are available subject to the Superintendent's approval. The funding of this program shall be considered at the discretion of the Office when funds are available and may be negotiated at the end of each fiscal year.
- H. For those unit members who receive a reduction in force (RIF) notice and will no longer be employed by LACOE, internal outplacement services, for example, resume writing, interview techniques, etc. will be offered by LACOE staff in order to assist employees in their efforts to find other employment. The employee will give reasonable advance notice to his/her supervisor of any workshop unit member desires to attend.

ARTICLE XIV - EFFECT OF AGREEMENT

A. It is intended that this Agreement sets forth the full and entire understanding of the parties regarding the matters set forth herein, and any other prior or existing understanding or agreements by the parties, whether formal or informal, regarding any such matters, are hereby superseded or terminated in their entirety. It is agreed and understood that each party hereto voluntarily and unqualifiedly waives its right and agrees that the other shall not be required to negotiate with respect to any subject or matter covered herein.

With respect to other matters within the scope of negotiations, negotiations may be required during the term of this Agreement as provided in Section B of this Article.

B. It is understood and agreed that the provisions of this section are intended to apply only to matters which are specifically covered in this Agreement.

It is recognized that during the term of this Agreement it may be necessary for the Office to make changes in rules or procedures affecting the employees in the unit.

Where the Office finds it necessary to make such change it shall notify the Union indicating the proposed change prior to its implementation.

Where such change would affect the working conditions of employees in the unit, where the subject matter of the change is subject to negotiations pursuant to Government Code Sections 3540-3549.3, and where the Union requests to negotiate with the Office, the parties shall undertake negotiations, not later than fifteen (15) working days from the date of the written request, regarding the effect the change would have on the employees in the unit.

Any agreement resulting from such negotiations shall be executed in writing by all parties hereto. If the parties are in disagreement as to whether any proposed change is within the scope of negotiations, such disagreement may be submitted to the Public Employees Relations Board for resolution.

In the event negotiations on the proposed change are undertaken, any impasse which arises may be submitted as an impasse to the Public Employees Relations Board.

- C. Where the Office makes changes in working conditions because of the requirements of law, the Office shall not be required to negotiate the matter or manner of compliance with such law where the manner of compliance is specified by such law. If such compliance is not specified, the parties shall meet and negotiate the matter or manner of compliance.
- D. Separability and Savings

If any part or provision of this Agreement should be held invalid, or unenforceable by operation of law or by any tribunal or competent jurisdiction, or if compliance with or enforcement of any provision should be restrained by such tribunal pending a final determination as to its validity, such part or provision shall be suspended and superseded

by such applicable law; however, the remainder of this Agreement and the application of such Article or section as to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it has been held invalid or as to which compliance with or enforcement of has been restrained, shall not be affected thereby.

E. Effect Upon Office Policies

The Office reserves the right to determine and revise any of its policies, rules, regulations or procedures. However, in the event of a conflict between the terms of this Agreement and any Office policies, rules, regulations or procedures, the terms of this Agreement shall prevail.

F. Emergency Situations

It is the mutual intention of the parties hereto that the Office retain its ability to function and serve the public and to respond to emergencies at all times, and that this Agreement should not delay or unduly burden the delivery of such services. Accordingly, it is agreed that when it is reasonably necessary for the Office to suspend or disregard any portion of Articles VI, VII or X in order to function effectively in an emergency situation, it may do so. It is understood (1) that the nature and extent of the emergency will determine and limit the Office's rights under this provision; (2) that the Office must be reasonable in its application of this provision; and (3) the Office's use of such emergency powers is subject to review pursuant to the grievance procedures of Article V. The Office shall notify the Union of such changes as soon as practical. Such emergency assignments shall not extend beyond the period of emergency "Emergency" is defined as an unforeseen and related circumstance, natural disaster, or civil unrest that threatens life and limb requiring immediate implementation of change.

G. The parties agree to comply with all applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations. The waiver or non-conformance of any term or condition of this Agreement by either party shall not constitute a precedent in the future enforcement.

ARTICLE XV - DURATION AND RENEGOTIATIONS

This agreement shall become effective upon the Superintendent's adoption and shall remain in full force and effect up to and including June 30, 2022, and thereafter shall continue in effect year by year unless one of the parties has been notified the other in writing of intention to reopen as specified in this Article no later than April 30 of each year of the agreement.

Neither party shall be obligated to meet and negotiate on any Article that has not been reopened unless it meets the provisions described in Article XIV Effect of the Agreement.

The parties agree to reopen negotiations for 2020-2021 on Article IX Compensation, two (2) other Articles at the choice of the Union, and two (2) other Articles at the choice of the Office. Additionally, articles may be reopened during the term of this Agreement by mutual agreement in writing by both parties to this Agreement.

ARTICLE XVI - LAYOFF AND DISPLACEMNT PROCEDURES

- A. Pursuant to Education Code Section 45308, seniority for purposes of layoff shall be length of service in the class, plus higher classes.

 Length of service means all hours in paid status.
 - 1. The Superintendent or designee shall prepare a seniority list for classes affected by layoff based upon hours in paid status in class plus higher classes. Human Resources Services shall provide copies of these lists to the Union and post the list in Human Resource Services for employees and unit members to view them.
 - 2. The unit members shall be able to appeal the seniority listing in writing to Human Resource Services through an SEIU representative within ten (10) working days of the posting in Human Resource Services. An appeal committee, comprised of one (1), and no more than two (2), Human Resource Services employees appointed by the Office and two (2) employees appointed by SEIU, shall, at the request of the Union, review all appeals and make recommendations to the Superintendent or designee and the Business Agent of SEIU. Due to the time constraints imposed by the Education Code, the layoff notifications will proceed during the appeal process, subject to adjustments if a unit member prevails on their appeal.
 - 3. Upon completion of the appeal process, the parties may, at the request of the Union, meet to discuss revisions in the lists, and any general rules of application, if necessary. After such revisions, the parties may, at the request of the Union or Human Resource Services, execute a written verification of the list.
 - 4. A break in service, due to lay off (Reduction In Force [RIF]), will not cause the employee to lose his/her seniority earned up to the date of layoff for a period of 39 months. For any break in service which is followed by reemployment under Education Code Section 45298, the seniority for layoff purposes will be adjusted by the time of absence during the service break.
- B. Displacement Procedures for the Purposes of Layoffs
 - 1. For purposes of unit member displacement in a layoff process, the Office will act in accordance with Personnel Commission Rules 4245.8 or its successor

ARTICLE XVII - NON-DISCRIMINATION

The parties mutually recognize and agree that the provisions of this contract shall be applied equally to all employees in the unit without discrimination on the basis of disability, race, color, ancestry, ethnic group identification, citizenship, immigration status gender, gender identity, or expression, sexual orientation, marital or parental status, age, religion, national origin, genetic information, or political affiliation. Unit members and leadership shall not be discriminated against for lawful union activity. Claims arising under this Article shall be handled under appropriate Office policies and statutory procedures. This Article is not subject to procedures in the Grievance Article.

Appendix A - Salary Schedule



Los Angeles County Office of Education

Serving Students - Supporting Communities - Leading Educators

2019-20 Clerical, Office Services and Technical Unit (SEIU) Salary Schedule S

Fai	mily	Job				,	Step		
AA	Job	Code	Classification	Range	1	2	3	4	5
D	G	473	Accounting Specialist	39	4354	4596	4852	5122	5407
D	Α	773	Administrative Aide	47	4852	5122	5407	5708	6025
D	Α	342	Administrative Assistant	47	4852	5122	5407	5708	6025
D	Α	772	Assistant Administrative Analyst	59	5708	6025	6360	6714	7088
Н	G		Assistant Buyer	38	4296	4535	4787	5053	5334
D	Н		Assistant Human Resources Analyst	60	5786	6107	6447	6806	7184
D	D		Assistant Network Engineer	55	5407	5708	6025	6360	6714
G	В	705	Braille Transcriber	22	3459	3652	3855	4069	4296
D	G	315	Budget Technician	48	4918	5192	5481	5786	6107
D	G	683	Buyer	54	5334	5631	5944	6275	6624
Н	Н	748	Career Development Program Assistant	19	3322	3506	3701	3907	4125
D	Н	849	Career Development Program Specialist	56	5481	5786	6107	6447	6806
н	H	796	Career Technical and Adult Education Specialist	35	4125	4354	4596	4852	5122
Н	I	545	Clerk	08	2862	3021	3189	3367	3554
D	Α	747	Community Outreach Associate	47	4852	5122	5407	5708	6025
G	D	365	Computer Operator	37	4238	4474	4723	4985	5263
H	I		Counselor Assistant	22	3459	3652	3855	4069	4296
I		813		15 41	3147 4474	3322 4723	3506 4985	3701 5263	3907 5555
D D	D D	285	Customer Service Support Specialist	41 84	8006	4/23 8451	8921	9418	9942
Н	I	382	Data Center Operations Analyst Data Control Clerk	33	4015	4238	4474	4723	4985
H	Ď	396	Data Processing Assistant	31	3907	4125	4354	4596	4852
Ď	D	776	Data Processing Assistant Data Processing Specialist	46	4787	5053	5334	5631	5944
I	Č	611	Delivery Driver	19	3322	3506	3701	3907	4125
Ĥ	ī	501	Department Assistant Dance	22	3459	3652	3855	4069	4296
H	i	502	Department Assistant Music	22	3459	3652	3855	4069	4296
H	i	503	Department Assistant Theatre	22	3459	3652	3855	4069	4296
н	Ī	504		22	3459	3652	3855	4069	4296
Ď	B	686	Desktop/Web Publisher	44	4659	4918	5192	5481	5786
F	Ē	560	Division Secretary	34	4069	4296	4535	4787	5053
F	Ē		Division Secretary - Bilingual Spanish	38	4296	4535	4787	5053	5334
Н	A		Educational Community Worker	15	3147	3322	3506	3701	3907
н	I		Educational Community Worker - Bilingual Spanish	19	3322	3506	3701	3907	4125
Н	I		Event Coordination Specialist	30	3855	4069	4296	4535	4787
F	E		Executive Assistant	46	4787	5053	5334	5631	5944
F	E	548	Executive Legal Secretary	46	4787	5053	5334	5631	5944
D	Α	774	Facilities Analyst	60	5786	6107	6447	6806	7184
н	Α	789	Forms Technician	36	4181	4414	4659	4918	5192
D	В	621	Graphic Artist	46	4787	5053	5334	5631	5944
D	Α	695	Head Start Governance Assistant	59	5708	6025	6360	6714	7088
D	Α	578	Head Start Program Development Assistant	59	5708	6025	6360	6714	7088
D	Α	5901	Head Start Staffing Technician	59	5708	6025	6360	6714	7088
D	Н	423	Human Resources Aide	48	4918	5192	5481	5786	6107
Н	Н	424	Human Resources Assistant	22	3459	3652	3855	4069	4296
Н	Н	420	Human Resources Specialist	35	4125	4354	4596	4852	5122
D	I	786	Information Resources Specialist	41	4474	4723	4985	5263	5555
G	В		Instructional Media Specialist	40	4414	4659	4918	5192	5481
Н	G		Intermediate Accounting Clerk	27	3701	3907	4125	4354	4596
Н	I		Intermediate Typist Clerk	19	3322	3506	3701	3907	4125
Н	I		Inventory Control Clerk	20	3367	3554	3752	3961	4181
D	Α		Language Interpreter/Translator	47	4852	5122	5407	5708	6025
D	Н	4107	Lead Credentials Technician	48	4918	5192	5481	5786	6107



Serving Students - Supporting Communities - Leading Educators

2019-20 Clerical, Office Services and Technical Unit (SEIU) Salary Schedule S

Ear	mily	Job	20 0.0		(52		Step		
AA	Job		Classification	Range	1	2	3	4	5
I	С	824	Lead Maintenance Worker	32	3961	4181	4414	4659	4918
F	E	549	Legal Secretary	34	4069	4296	4535	4787	5053
D	Α	6905	Legal Technician	47	4852	5122	5407	5708	6025
D	Α	5465	Legislative Assistant	47	4852	5122	5407	5708	6025
I	С		Maintenance Worker	26	3652	3855	4069	4296	4535
D	В		Marketing and Design Specialist	53	5263	5555	5864	6191	6535
Н	I	606	Media Dispatching Clerk	24	3554	3752	3961	4181	4414
G	D		Media Services Specialist	48	4918	5192	5481	5786	6107
G	В	723		22	3459	3652	3855	4069	4296
G	В	724	Media Specialist for the Deaf and Hard of Hearing	22	3459	3652	3855	4069	4296
D	D	290	Microcomputer Support Technician I	47	4852	5122	5407	5708	6025
D	D		Microcomputer Support Technician II	55	5407	5708	6025	6360	6714
Н	I		Migrant Education Assistant	27	3701	3907	4125	4354	4596
D	A	822	Migrant Education Regional Recruiter	45	4723	4985	5263	5555	5864
G	В	635	Multimedia Production Facilitator	55	5407	5708	6025	6360	6714
D	D G	284		77 46	7282	7687	8115	8567	9043 5944
D			Payroll Specialist		4787	5053	5334	5631	
D	G B		Position Control Specialist	59	5708	6025	6360	6714	7088
G	В	339 338	Production Assistant	25 25	3603 3603	3803 3803	4015 4015	4238 4238	4474 4474
D	Ď	354	Production Asst Bilingual/Biliterate(Spanish)	70	6624	6993	7382	7792	8226
Ď	A	539		37	4238	4474	4723	4985	5263
D	Â	538		47	4852	5122	5407	5708	6025
н	Ĩ	430		19	3322	3506	3701	3907	4125
ï	В	658	Reprographics Worker	14	3104	3277	3459	3652	3855
Ď	Ā	765		47	4852	5122	5407	5708	6025
F	Ê		School Administrative Secretary	30	3855	4069	4296	4535	4787
Ĥ	Ī		School Clerk	12	3021	3189	3367	3554	3752
Ď	Ā		School to Career Transition Specialist	47	4852	5122	5407	5708	6025
F	Ê		Secretary	30	3855	4069	4296	4535	4787
F	Ē		Secretary-Bilingual Spanish	34	4069	4296	4535	4787	5053
H	G		Senior Accounting Clerk	33	4015	4238	4474	4723	4985
G	В		Senior Braille Transcriber	30	3855	4069	4296	4535	4787
D	H		Senior Career Development Program Specialist	63	6025	6360	6714	7088	7482
н	I		Senior Clerk	28	3752	3961	4181	4414	4659
G	D	364	Senior Computer Operator	48	4918	5192	5481	5786	6107
D	Α		Senior Contracts Specialist	43	4596	4852	5122	5407	5708
D	н		Senior Credentials Specialist	48	4918	5192	5481	5786	6107
I	С	812	Senior Custodian	20	3367	3554	3752	3961	4181
н	I	381	Senior Data Control Clerk	37	4238	4474	4723	4985	5263
D	D	775	Senior Data Processing Specialist	53	5263	5555	5864	6191	6535
F	E	559	Senior Division Secretary	40	4414	4659	4918	5192	5481
F	E	550	Senior Executive Assistant	52	5192	5481	5786	6107	6447
н	н	422	Senior Human Resources Assistant	28	3752	3961	4181	4414	4659
D	н	4105	Senior Human Resources Specialist - Merit System	43	4596	4852	5122	5407	5708
D	н	421	Senior Human Resources Specialist - Operations	43	4596	4852	5122	5 4 07	5708
D	н	4106	Senior Human Resources Specialist - Position Control	43	4596	4852	5122	5407	5708
Α	D		Senior Language Interpreter Translator	55	5407	5708	6025	6360	6714
D	G		Senior Payroll Specialist	53	5263	5555	5864	6191	6535
I	В		Senior Reprographics Worker	26	3652	3855	4069	4296	4535
Н	Ι		Senior School Clerk	22	3459	3652	3855	4069	4296
н	I	567	Senior School Clerk - Bilingual Spanish	26	3652	3855	4069	4296	4535

Serving Students - Supporting Communities - Leading Educators

2019-20 Clerical, Office Services and Technical Unit (SEIU) Salary Schedule S

Fai	amily Job						Step		
AA	Job	Code	Classification	Range	1	2	3	4	5
D	Α	787	Senior Special Programs Assistant	47	4852	5122	5407	5708	6025
D	D	801	Senior Systems Specialist	53	5263	5555	5864	6191	6535
D	D	8013	Senior Systems Specialist, District Support	53	5263	5555	5864	6191	6535
н	I	535	Senior Typist Clerk	29	3803	4015	4238	4474	4723
н	I	3822	Senior Typist Clerk-Bilingual Spanish	33	4015	4238	4474	4723	4985
н	Α	782	Special Programs Assistant	27	3701	3907	4125	4354	4596
G	В	685	Studio & Utility Engineer	42	4535	4787	5053	5334	5631
D	D	800	Systems Specialist	46	4787	5053	5334	5631	5944
D	Α	788	Technical Writer	45	4723	4985	5263	5555	5864
G	Α	363	Telecommunications Assistant	34	4069	4296	4535	4787	5053
D	D	816	Telecommunications Technician	60	5786	6107	6447	6806	7184
D	Α	810	Training Coordinator-Nonviolent Crisis Intervention	54	5334	5631	5944	6275	6624
D	Α	833	Transportation Scheduler	55	5407	5708	6025	6360	6714
н	I	537	Typist Clerk	12	3021	3189	3367	3554	3752
I	C	805	Warehouse Worker	24	3554	3752	3961	4181	4414
н	Н	4205	Workers' Compensation Assistant	35	4125	4354	4596	4852	5122
н	I	512	Workshop Assistant	12	3021	3189	3367	3554	3752

Compensation Differentials

Night Shift: Second (Swing) Shift - 5.50%

Third (Graveyard) Shift - 9.00%

Bilingual Pay: Oral & Written - The greater of 5.50% or \$70 per month

Oral or Written - The greater of 2.75% or \$35 per month

Dictation: 2.75% - All Secretarial Positions Which Require Dictation

On Call Pay: \$1.00 per hour

 Anniversary Increments - Years of Service Completed with the Office:
 10th-14th 15th-19th 20th-24th 25th-29th
 30th+20th 20th-24th 25th-29th

 10-Month Monthly Rate
 Year
 Year
 Year
 Year

 10-Month Monthly Rate
 70.00
 120.00
 170.00
 220.00
 270.00

 12-Month Monthly Rate
 58.33
 100.00
 141.67
 183.33
 225.00

Longevity 15-19 year approved by Superintendent 06/01/17; effective 07/01/16



Serving Students - Supporting Communities - Leading Educators

2020-21 Clerical, Office Services and Technical Unit (SEIU) Salary Schedule S

E-		1-6	21 diction, diffee del vices and reci		(52	10,000		icaaic .	
	mily Job	Job Code	Classification	Range	1	2	Step 3	4	5
D	G	473	Accounting Specialist	39	4485	4734	4998	5276	5569
D	Α		Administrative Aide	47	4998	5276	5569	5879	6206
D	Α	342	Administrative Assistant	47	4998	5276	5569	5879	6206
D	Α	772	Assistant Administrative Analyst	59	5879	6206	6551	6916	7300
D	G	684	Assistant Buyer	38	4425	4671	4930	5205	5494
D	н	344	Assistant Human Resources Analyst	60	5959	6291	6641	7010	7400
D	D		Assistant Network Engineer	55	5569	5879	6206	6551	6916
G	В		Braille Transcriber	22	3563	3761	3970	4191	4425
D	G		Budget Technician	48	5066	5348	5645	5959	6291
D	G		Buyer	54	5494	5800	6123	6463	6823
Н	н		Career Development Program Assistant	19	3421	3612	3812	4025	4248
D	н		Career Development Program Specialist	56	5645	5959	6291	6641	7010
Н	н		Career Technical and Adult Education Specialist	35	4248	4485	4734	4998	5276
Н	I		Clerk	08	2948	3112	3285	3468	3661
D	D		Communications Systems Field Engineer	64	6291	6641	7010	7400	7812
D	Α		Community Outreach Associate	47	4998	5276	5569	5879	6206
G	D		Computer Operator	37	4365	4608	4864	5135	5420
Н	I		Counselor Assistant	22	3563	3761	3970	4191	4425
Н	н		Credentials Specialist	35	4248	4485	4734	4998	5276
Ι	С		Custodian	15	3241	3421	3612	3812	4025
D	D		Customer Service Support Specialist	41	4608	4864	5135	5420	5722
D	D		Data Center Operations Analyst	84	8246	8705	9189	9700	10240
Н	I		Data Control Clerk	33	4135	4365	4608	4864	5135
Н	D		Data Processing Assistant	31	4025	4248	4485	4734	4998
D	D		Data Processing Specialist	46	4930	5205	5494	5800	6123
Ι	С		Delivery Driver	19	3421	3612	3812	4025	4248
Н	I		Department Assistant Dance	22	3563	3761	3970	4191	4425
Н	I		Department Assistant Music	22	3563	3761	3970	4191	4425
Н	I		Department Assistant Theatre	22	3563	3761	3970	4191	4425
Н	I		Department Assistant Visual Arts	22	3563	3761	3970	4191	4425
D	В		Desktop/Web Publisher	44	4799	5066	5348	5645	5959
F	E		Division Secretary	34	4191	4425	4671	4930	5205
F	E		Division Secretary - Bilingual Spanish	38	4425	4671	4930	5205	5494
Н	Α		Educational Community Worker	15	3241	3421	3612	3812	4025
н	I		Educational Community Worker - Bilingual Spanish	19	3421	3612	3812	4025	4248
Н	I		Event Coordination Specialist	30	3970	4191	4425	4671	4930
F	E		Executive Assistant	51	5276	5569	5879	6206	6551
F	E		Executive Legal Secretary	51	5276	5569	5879	6206	6551
D	A		Facilities Analyst	60	5959	6291	6641	7010	7400
Н	Α		Forms Technician	36	4306	4546	4799	5066	5348
D	В		Graphic Artist	46	4930	5205	5494	5800	6123
D	A		Head Start Governance Assistant	59	5879	6206	6551	6916	7300
D	A		Head Start Program Development Assistant	59	5879	6206	6551	6916	7300
D	A		Head Start Staffing Technician	59	5879	6206	6551	6916	7300
D	Н		Human Resources Aide	48	5066	5348	5645	5959	6291
н	н		Human Resources Assistant	22	3563	3761	3970	4191	4425
Н	н		Human Resources Specialist	35	4248	4485	4734	4998	5276
D	I		Information Resources Specialist	41	4608	4864	5135	5420	5722
G	В		Instructional Media Specialist	40	4546	4799	5066	5348	5645
н	G		Intermediate Accounting Clerk	27	3812	4025	4248	4485	4734
Н	I	536	Intermediate Typist Clerk	19	3421	3612	3812	4025	4248



Serving Students . Supporting Communities . Leading Educators

2020-21 Clerical, Office Services and Technical Unit (SEIU) Salary Schedule S

Fai	mily	Job	,			,	Step		
AA	Job	Code	Classification	Range	1	2	3	4	5
Н	I		Inventory Control Clerk	20	3468	3661	3864	4079	4306
D	Α		Language Interpreter/Translator	47	4998	5276	5569	5879	6206
D	Н		Lead Credentials Technician	48	5066	5348	5645	5959	6291
D	В		Lead Graphic and Visual Designer	54	5494	5800	6123	6463	6823
I	c		Lead Maintenance Worker	32	4079	4306	4546	4799	5066
F	E		Legal Secretary	34	4191	4425	4671	4930	5205
D	A		Legal Technician Legislative Assistant	47 47	4998 4998	5276 5276	5569 5569	5879 5879	6206 6206
Н	ĩ		Mail Services Clerk	29	3917	4135	4365	4608	4864
ï	ċ		Maintenance Worker	26	3761	3970	4191	4425	4671
Ď	В		Marketing and Design Specialist	53	5420	5722	6040	6376	6731
H	Ĭ		Media Dispatching Clerk	24	3661	3864	4079	4306	4546
G	D		Media Services Specialist	48	5066	5348	5645	5959	6291
Ğ	В		Media Specialist/Braille	22	3563	3761	3970	4191	4425
G	В		Media Specialist for the Deaf and Hard of Hearing	22	3563	3761	3970	4191	4425
D	D		Microcomputer Support Technician I	47	4998	5276	5569	5879	6206
D	D		Microcomputer Support Technician II	55	5569	5879	6206	6551	6916
Н	I		Migrant Education Assistant	27	3812	4025	4248	4485	4734
D	Α		Migrant Education Regional Recruiter	45	4864	5135	5420	5722	6040
Ι	С	6115	Mobile Classroom Driver	25	3711	3917	4135	4365	4608
G	В	635	Multimedia Production Facilitator	55	5569	5879	6206	6551	6916
D	D		Network Engineer	77	7501	7918	8359	8824	9314
D	G		Payroll Specialist	46	4930	5205	5494	5800	6123
D	G		Position Control Specialist	59	5879	6206	6551	6916	7300
G	В		Production Assistant	25	3711	3917	4135	4365	4608
G	В		Production Asst Bilingual/Biliterate(Spanish)	25	3711	3917	4135	4365	4608
D	D A		Programmer Analyst II	70 37	6823 4365	7202 4608	7603 4864	8026 5135	8472 5420
			Proofreader/Copy Editor						
D H	A		Publications Assistant Receptionist	47 19	4998 3421	5276 3612	5569 3812	5879 4025	6206 4248
ï	B		Reprographics Worker	14	3197	3375	3563	3761	3970
Ď	Ä		Research Technician	47	4998	5276	5569	5879	6206
F	Ê		School Administrative Secretary	30	3970	4191	4425	4671	4930
H	ī		School Clerk	12	3112	3285	3468	3661	3864
D	Ā		School to Career Transition Specialist	47	4998	5276	5569	5879	6206
F	E		Secretary	30	3970	4191	4425	4671	4930
F	Ε	5603	Secretary-Bilingual Spanish	34	4191	4425	4671	4930	5205
Н	G	460	Senior Accounting Clerk	33	4135	4365	4608	4864	5135
G	В		Senior Braille Transcriber	30	3970	4191	4425	4671	4930
D	Н	742	Senior Career Development Program Specialist	63	6206	6551	6916	7300	7707
G	D		Senior Computer Operator	48	5066	5348	5645	5959	6291
D	Α		Senior Contracts Specialist	43	4734	4998	5276	5569	5879
D	Н		Senior Credentials Specialist	48	5066	5348	5645	5959	6291
I	c		Senior Custodian	20	3468	3661	3864	4079	4306
Н	I		Senior Data Control Clerk	37	4365	4608	4864	5135	5420
D	D		Senior Data Processing Specialist	53	5420	5722	6040	6376	6731
F	E		Senior Division Secretary	40	4546	4799	5066	5348	5645
F	E		Senior Executive Assistant	57	5722	6040	6376	6731	7105
H D	H		Senior Human Resources Assistant Senior Human Resources Specialist - Merit System	28 43	3864 4734	4079 4998	4306 5276	4546 5569	4799 5879
D	Н		Senior Human Resources Specialist - Merit System Senior Human Resources Specialist - Operations	43	4734	4998	5276	5569	5879
0	п	421	Senior numan resources specialist - operations	43	4/34	4550	32/0	5565	30/3



Serving Students - Supporting Communities - Leading Educators

2020-21 Clerical, Office Services and Technical Unit (SEIU) Salary Schedule S

Fai	mily	Job			Step				
AA	Job	Code	Classification	Range	1	2	3	4	5
D	Н	4106	Senior Human Resources Specialist - Position Control	43	4734	4998	5276	5569	5879
Α	D	7045	Senior Language Interpreter Translator	55	5569	5879	6206	6551	6916
D	Α	8225	Senior Migrant Education Regional Recruiter	53	5420	5722	6040	6376	6731
D	G	732	Senior Payroll Specialist	53	5420	5722	6040	6376	6731
I	В	657	Senior Reprographics Worker	26	3761	3970	4191	4425	4671
н	I	565	Senior School Clerk	22	3563	3761	3970	4191	4425
н	I	567	Senior School Clerk - Bilingual Spanish	26	3761	3970	4191	4425	4671
D	Α	787	Senior Special Programs Assistant	47	4998	5276	5569	5879	6206
D	D		Senior Systems Specialist	53	5420	5722	6040	6376	6731
D	D	8013	Senior Systems Specialist, District Support	53	5420	5722	6040	6376	6731
н	I		Senior Typist Clerk	29	3917	4135	4365	4608	4864
н	I	3822	Senior Typist Clerk-Bilingual Spanish	33	4135	4365	4608	4864	5135
н	Α	782	Special Programs Assistant	27	3812	4025	4248	4485	4734
G	В	685	Studio & Utility Engineer	42	4671	4930	5205	5494	5800
D	D		Systems Specialist	46	4930	5205	5494	5800	6123
D	Α	788	Technical Writer	45	4864	5135	5420	5722	6040
G	Α	363	Telecommunications Assistant	34	4191	4425	4671	4930	5205
D	D	816	Telecommunications Technician	60	5959	6291	6641	7010	7400
D	Α	810	Training Coordinator-Nonviolent Crisis Intervention	54	5494	5800	6123	6463	6823
D	Α	833	Transportation Scheduler	55	5569	5879	6206	6551	6916
н	I	537	Typist Clerk	12	3112	3285	3468	3661	3864
I	C	805	Warehouse Worker	24	3661	3864	4079	4306	4546
н	н		Workers' Compensation Assistant	35	4248	4485	4734	4998	5276
Н	I	512	Workshop Assistant	12	3112	3285	3468	3661	3864

Compensation Differentials

Night Shift: Second (Swing) Shift - 5.50% Third (Graveyard) Shift - 9.00%

Bilingual Pay: Oral & Written - The greater of 5,50% or \$70 per month

Oral or Written - The greater of 2.75% or \$35 per month

Dictation: 2.75% - All Secretarial Positions Which Require Dictation

On Call Pay: \$1.00 per hour

Anniversary Increments - Years of 10th-14th15th-19th 20th-24th 25th-29th
Service Completed with the Office: Year Year Year Year

10-Month Monthly Rate 70.00 120.00 170.00 220.00 270.00
12-Month Monthly Rate 58.33 100.00 141.67 183.33 225.00

Longevity 15-19 year approved by Superintendent 06/01/17; effective 07/01/16



Serving Students - Supporting Communities - Leading Educators

2021-22 Clerical, Office Services and Technical Unit (SEIU) Salary Schedule

S

		5						
Fan	nily	Job				Step		
AA	Job	Code Classification	Range	1	2	3	4	5
			_					
D	G	473 Accounting Specialist	39	4619	4876	5148	5434	5736
D	Α	773 Administrative Aide	47	5148	5434	5736	6055	6392
D	Α	342 Administrative Assistant	47	5148	5434	5736	6055	6392
D	Α	772 Assistant Administrative Analyst	59	6055	6392	6748	7123	7519
н	G	684 Assistant Buyer	38	4557	4811	5078	5361	5659
D	н	344 Assistant Human Resources Analyst	60	6138	6479	6840	7220	7622
D	D	399 Assistant Network Engineer	55	5736	6055	6392	6748	7123
G	В	705 Braille Transcriber	22	3670	3874	4090	4317	4557
D	G	315 Budget Technician	48	5218	5508	5814	6138	6479
D	G	683 Buyer	54	5659	5974	6306	6657	7027
н	н	748 Career Development Program Assistant	19	3524	3720	3927	4145	4376
D	н	849 Career Development Program Specialist	56	5814	6138	6479	6840	7220
H	н	796 Career Technical and Adult Education Specialist	35	4376	4619	4876	5148	5434
н	I	545 Clerk	08	3036	3205	3384	3572	3771
D	Ď	8165 Communications Systems Field Engineer	64	6479	6840	7220	7622	8046
D	A	747 Community Outreach Associate	47	5148	5434	5736	6055	6392
G	D	365 Computer Operator	37	4496	4746	5010	5289	5583
н	I	7441 Counselor Assistant	22	3670	3874	4090	4317	4557
H	Ĥ	4109 Credentials Specialist	35	4376	4619	4876	5148	5434
	c	813 Custodian	15	3338	3524	3720	3927	4145
Ď	D	2905 Customer Service Support Specialist	41	4746	5010	5289	5583	5894
D	D	285 Data Center Operations Analyst	84	8494	8966	9465	9991	10547
н	I	382 Data Control Clerk	33	4259	4496	4746	5010	5289
H	Ď	396 Data Processing Assistant	31	4145	4376	4619	4876	5148
Ď	D	776 Data Processing Assistant	46	5078	5361	5659	5974	6306
I	c	611 Delivery Driver	19	3524	3720	3927	4145	4376
Ĥ	I	502 Department Assistant Music	22	3670	3874	4090	4317	4557
Ď	B	686 Desktop/Web Publisher	44	4943	5218	5508	5814	6138
F	Ē	560 Division Secretary	34	4317	4557	4811	5078	5361
F	Ē	5604 Division Secretary - Bilingual Spanish	38	4557	4811	5078	5361	5659
H	Ā	741 Educational Community Worker	15	3338	3524	3720	3927	4145
H	ï	7415 Educational Community Worker - Bilingual Spanish	19	3524	3720	3927	4145	4376
H	i	854 Event Coordination Specialist	30	4090	4317	4557	4811	5078
F	Ė	551 Executive Assistant	51	5434	5736	6055	6392	6748
F	E	548 Executive Legal Secretary	51	5434	5736	6055	6392	6748
H	Ā	789 Forms Technician	36	4436	4682	4943	5218	5508
D	B	621 Graphic Artist	46	5078	5361	5659	5974	6306
D	A	578 Head Start Program Development Assistant	59	6055	6392	6748	7123	7519
D			59		6392		7123	
н	A H	5901 Head Start Staffing Technician 424 Human Resources Assistant	22	6055 3670	3874	6748 4090	4317	7519 4557
H	H	420 Human Resources Specialist	35	4376	4619	4876	5148	5434
D	ï		41	4746	5010	5289	5583	5894
G	В	786 Information Resources Specialist 737 Instructional Media Specialist	40	4682	4943	5218	5508	5814
н	G	470 Intermediate Accounting Clerk	27	3927	4145	4376	4619	4876
		_						
H	I	536 Intermediate Typist Clerk	19 20	3524	3720	3927 3980	4145 4202	4376 4436
		8122 Inventory Control Clerk		3572	3771			
D D	A H	704 Language Interpreter/Translator 4107 Lead Credentials Technician	47 48	5148 5218	5434 5508	5736 5814	6055 6138	6392 6479
D	В	622 Lead Graphic and Visual Designer	54 32	5659 4202	5974 4436	6306 4682	6657 4943	7027
F	c	824 Lead Maintenance Worker						5218
-	E	549 Legal Secretary	34	4317	4557	4811	5078	5361

Approved by Superintendent 05/27/21 Rates effective 07/01/21 Page 1 of 3



Serving Students - Supporting Communities - Leading Educators

2021-22 Clerical, Office Services and Technical Unit (SEIU) Salary Schedule

S

-	-1	1-1						
	nily .	Job	_	_	_	Step	_	_
AA		Code Classification	Range	1	2	3	4	5
D	Α	6905 Legal Technician	47	5148	5434	5736	6055	6392
D	Α	5465 Legislative Assistant	47	5148	5434	5736	6055	6392
н	I	4385 Mail Services Clerk	29	4035	4259	4496	4746	5010
I	С	825 Maintenance Worker	26	3874	4090	4317	4557	4811
G	D	6045 Media Services Specialist	48	5218	5508	5814	6138	6479
D	D	290 Microcomputer Support Technician I	47	5148	5434	5736	6055	6392
D	D	294 Microcomputer Support Technician II	55	5736	6055	6392	6748	7123
н	I	7822 Migrant Education Assistant	27	3927	4145	4376	4619	4876
D	Α	822 Migrant Education Regional Recruiter	45	5010	5289	5583	5894	6222
I	С	6115 Mobile Classroom Driver	25	3822	4035	4259	4496	4746
G	В	635 Multimedia Production Facilitator	55	5736	6055	6392	6748	7123
D	D	284 Network Engineer	77	7726	8156	8609	9088	9594
D	G	7311 Payroll Specialist	46	5078	5361	5659	5974	6306
D	G	8017 Position Control Specialist	59	6055	6392	6748	7123	7519
G	В	339 Production Assistant	25	3822	4035	4259	4496	4746
D	D	354 Programmer Analyst II	70	7027	7418	7831	8267	8727
н	I	430 Receptionist	19	3524	3720	3927	4145	4376
I	В	658 Reprographics Worker	14	3293	3477	3670	3874	4090
D	Α	765 Research Technician	47	5148	5434	5736	6055	6392
F	E	571 School Administrative Secretary	30	4090	4317	4557	4811	5078
н	I	564 School Clerk	12	3205	3384	3572	3771	3980
D	Α	591 School to Career Transition Specialist	47	5148	5434	5736	6055	6392
F	E	561 Secretary	30	4090	4317	4557	4811	5078
F	E	5603 Secretary-Bilingual Spanish	34	4317	4557	4811	5078	5361
н	G	460 Senior Accounting Clerk	33	4259	4496	4746	5010	5289
G	В	7035 Senior Braille Transcriber	30	4090	4317	4557	4811	5078
G	D	364 Senior Computer Operator	48	5218	5508	5814	6138	6479
D	A	785 Senior Contracts Specialist	43	4876	5148	5434	5736	6055
D	н	4108 Senior Credentials Specialist	48	5218	5508	5814	6138	6479
I	С	812 Senior Custodian	20	3572	3771	3980	4202	4436
н	I	381 Senior Data Control Clerk	37	4496	4746	5010	5289	5583
D	D	775 Senior Data Processing Specialist	53	5583	5894	6222	6568	6933
F	E	559 Senior Division Secretary	40	4682	4943	5218	5508	5814
F	E	550 Senior Executive Assistant	57	5894	6222	6568	6933	7319
н	H	422 Senior Human Resources Assistant	28	3980	4202	4436	4682	4943
D	н	4105 Senior Human Resources Specialist - Merit System	43	4876	5148	5434	5736	6055
D	н	421 Senior Human Resources Specialist - Operations	43	4876	5148	5434	5736	6055
D	н	4106 Senior Human Resources Specialist - Position Control	43	4876	5148	5434	5736	6055
Ā	D	7045 Senior Language Interpreter Translator	55	5736	6055	6392	6748	7123
D	Ā	8225 Senior Migrant Education Regional Recruiter	53	5583	5894	6222	6568	6933
Ď	G	732 Senior Payroll Specialist	53	5583	5894	6222	6568	6933
I	В	657 Senior Reprographics Worker	26	3874	4090	4317	4557	4811
Ĥ	ī	565 Senior School Clerk	22	3670	3874	4090	4317	4557
н	Ī	567 Senior School Clerk - Bilingual Spanish	26	3874	4090	4317	4557	4811
D	Ā	787 Senior Special Programs Assistant	47	5148	5434	5736	6055	6392
D	Ď	801 Senior Systems Specialist	53	5583	5894	6222	6568	6933
D	D	8013 Senior Systems Specialist, District Support	53	5583	5894	6222	6568	6933
н	I	535 Senior Typist Clerk	29	4035	4259	4496	4746	5010
н	i	3822 Senior Typist Clerk-Bilingual Spanish	33	4259	4496	4746	5010	5289
н	Ā	782 Special Programs Assistant	27	3927	4145	4376	4619	4876
Ď	ĥ	800 Systems Specialist	46	5078	5361	5659	5974	6306
G	A	363 Telecommunications Assistant	34	4317	4557	4811	5078	5361
3	^	303 TeleCommunicacións ASSISTANT	34	431/	733/	4011	30/0	2301



Serving Students - Supporting Communities - Leading Educators

2021-22 Clerical, Office Services and Technical Unit (SEIU) Salary Schedule

S

Fan	Family Job		Step						
AA	Job	Code Classification	Range	1	2	3	4	5	
D	D	816 Telecommunications Technician	60	6138	6479	6840	7220	7622	
D	Α	810 Training Coordinator-Nonviolent Crisis Intervention	54	5659	5974	6306	6657	7027	
D	Α	833 Transportation Scheduler	55	5736	6055	6392	6748	7123	
н	I	537 Typist Clerk	12	3205	3384	3572	3771	3980	
I	C	805 Warehouse Worker	24	3771	3980	4202	4436	4682	
н	н	4205 Workers' Compensation Assistant	35	4376	4619	4876	5148	5434	
н	I	512 Workshop Assistant	12	3205	3384	3572	3771	3980	

Compensation Differentials

Night Shift: Second (Swing) Shift - 5.50% Third (Graveyard) Shift - 9.00%

Bilingual Pay: Oral & Written - The greater of 5.50% or \$70 per month

Oral or Written - The greater of 2.75% or \$35 per month

Dictation: 2.75% - All Secretarial Positions Which Require Dictation

On Call Pay: \$1.00 per hour

 Anniversary Increments - Years of 10th-14th15th-19th20th-24th25th-29th 30th+

 Service Completed with the Office:
 Year
 Ye

Longevity 15-19 year approved by Superintendent 06/01/17; effective 07/01/16

Approved by Superintendent 05/27/21 Rates effective 07/01/21 Page 3 of 3

Appendix B - Calendar



Los Angeles County Office of Education

Serving Students - Supporting Communities - Leading Educators

2019-20 12-MONTH CLASSIFIED EMPLOYEES'** CALENDAR - Code A

Work Year Begins July 1, 2019 and Ends June 30, 2020

	711	LY 20	110		1			AHG	UST 2	010	
1	2	3	4	5	1			AUG	001 2	1	2
8	9	10	11	12	21	22	5	6	7	8	9
15	16	17	18	19	Service	Service	12	13	14	15	16
22	23	24	25	26	Days	Days	19	20	21	22	23
29	30	31		20	22,5	24/5	26	27	28	29	30
			2 201		1			OCT O	ncn	2010	
	3	MBEI 4	5	6	-		<u> </u>	1	BER 2	2019	4
<u>2</u>	10	11	12	13	20	23	7	8	9	10	11
16	17	18	19	20	Service	Service	14	15	16	17	18
23	24	25	26	27	Days	Days	21	22	23	24	25
30	24	23	20	21	Days	Days	28	29	30	31	25
					J 1						
l N	IOVE	MBEF	201		-				1BER		
١.	_	_	_	1	4.7	10	2	3	4	5	6
11	5	6	7	8	17	19	9	10	11	12	13
_	12	13	14	15	Service	Service	16	17	18	19	20
18	19 26	20 27	21 28	22 29	Days	Days	23 30	24	25	26	27
25	26	21	28	29]		30	31			
					1						
	JANU	JARY	2020)]		F	EBRU	JARY	2020)
	JANU	IARY	2	3							
6	7	1 8	2 9	3 10	21	18	3	4	5	6	7
6 13	7 14	1 8 15	2 9 16	3 10 17	Service	Service	3 10	4 11	5 12	6 13	7 14
6 13 20	7 14 21	1 8 15 22	2 9 16 23	3 10 17 24			3 10 17	4 11 18	5 12 19	6 13 20	7 14 21
6 13	7 14	1 8 15	2 9 16	3 10 17	Service	Service	3 10	4 11	5 12	6 13	7 14
6 13 20	7 14 21 28	1 8 15 22	2 9 16 23 30	3 10 17 24	Service	Service	3 10 17	4 11 18 25	5 12 19	6 13 20 27	7 14 21
6 13 20	7 14 21 28	1 8 15 22 29	2 9 16 23 30	3 10 17 24	Service	Service	3 10 17	4 11 18 25	5 12 19 26	6 13 20 27	7 14 21
6 13 20 27 27	7 14 21 28	1 8 15 22 29 RCH 2 4 11	2 9 16 23 30 2020 5 12	3 10 17 24 31 6 13	Service Days 22	Service Days 22	3 10 17 24	4 11 18 25 APF	5 12 19 26 RIL 20	6 13 20 27 20 22 9	7 14 21 28 3 10
6 13 20 27 27 2 9 16	7 14 21 28 MAF 3 10 17	8 15 22 29 RCH 2 4 11 18	2 9 16 23 30 2020 5 12 19	3 10 17 24 31 6 13 20	Service Days 22 Service	Service Days 22 Service	3 10 17 24 6 13	4 11 18 25 APR 7 14	5 12 19 26 8IL 20 1 8 15	6 13 20 27 D20 2 9 16	7 14 21 28 3 10 17
6 13 20 27 27 2 9 16 23	7 14 21 28 MAF 3 10 17 24	1 8 15 22 29 RCH 2 4 11	2 9 16 23 30 2020 5 12	3 10 17 24 31 6 13	Service Days 22	Service Days 22	3 10 17 24 6 13 20	4 11 18 25 APR 7 14 21	5 12 19 26 8IL 20 1 8 15 22	6 13 20 27 20 2 9 16 23	7 14 21 28 3 10
6 13 20 27 27 2 9 16	7 14 21 28 MAF 3 10 17	8 15 22 29 RCH 2 4 11 18	2 9 16 23 30 2020 5 12 19	3 10 17 24 31 6 13 20	Service Days 22 Service	Service Days 22 Service	3 10 17 24 6 13	4 11 18 25 APR 7 14	5 12 19 26 8IL 20 1 8 15	6 13 20 27 D20 2 9 16	7 14 21 28 3 10 17
6 13 20 27 27 2 9 16 23	7 14 21 28 MAF 3 10 17 24 31	8 15 22 29 RCH 2 4 11 18	2 9 16 23 30 2020 5 12 19 26	3 10 17 24 31 6 13 20	Service Days 22 Service	Service Days 22 Service	3 10 17 24 6 13 20	4 11 18 25 APF 7 14 21 28	5 12 19 26 8IL 20 1 8 15 22	6 13 20 27 20 2 9 16 23 30	7 14 21 28 3 10 17
6 13 20 27 27 2 9 16 23	7 14 21 28 MAF 3 10 17 24 31	8 15 22 29 RCH 2 4 11 18 25	2 9 16 23 30 2020 5 12 19 26	3 10 17 24 31 6 13 20	Service Days 22 Service	Service Days 22 Service	3 10 17 24 6 13 20	4 11 18 25 APF 7 14 21 28	5 12 19 26 21 28 1 8 15 22 29	6 13 20 27 20 2 9 16 23 30	7 14 21 28 3 10 17
6 13 20 27 27 2 9 16 23	7 14 21 28 MAF 3 10 17 24 31	8 15 22 29 RCH 2 4 11 18 25	2 9 16 23 30 2020 5 12 19 26	3 10 17 24 31 6 13 20 27	Service Days 22 Service	Service Days 22 Service	3 10 17 24 6 13 20 27	4 11 18 25 APF 7 14 21 28	5 12 19 26 1 8 15 22 29	6 13 20 27 20 2 9 16 23 30	7 14 21 28 3 10 17 24
6 13 20 27 2 9 16 23 30	7 14 21 28 MAF 3 10 17 24 31 MAF 5 12	8 15 22 29 RCH 2 4 11 18 25 AY 20 6 13	2 9 16 23 30 2020 5 12 19 26 20	3 10 17 24 31 6 13 20 27	Service Days 22 Service Days	Service Days 22 Service Days	3 10 17 24 6 13 20 27 1 8 15	4 11 18 25 APF 7 14 21 28 JUI 2 9	5 12 19 26 1 8 15 22 29 NE 20 3 10	6 13 20 27 20 2 9 16 23 30 20 4 11 18	7 14 21 28 3 10 17 24
6 13 20 27 2 9 16 23 30 4 11 18	7 14 21 28 MAF 3 10 17 24 31	8 15 22 29 RCH 2 4 11 18 25	2 9 16 23 30 2020 5 12 19 26	3 10 17 24 31 6 13 20 27	Service Days 22 Service Days	Service Days 22 Service Days	3 10 17 24 6 13 20 27 1 8 15 22	4 11 18 25 APF 7 14 21 28 JUI 2 9 16 23	5 12 19 26 1 8 15 22 29 NE 20 3 10	6 13 20 27 20 2 9 16 23 30 20 4 11	7 14 21 28 3 10 17 24
6 13 20 27 2 9 16 23 30	7 14 21 28 MAF 3 10 17 24 31 MAF 5 12	8 15 22 29 RCH 2 4 11 18 25 AY 20 6 13	2 9 16 23 30 2020 5 12 19 26 20	3 10 17 24 31 6 13 20 27	Service Days 22 Service Days 20 Service	Service Days 22 Service Days 22 Service	3 10 17 24 6 13 20 27 1 8 15	4 11 18 25 APF 7 14 21 28 JUI 2 9	5 12 19 26 1 8 15 22 29 NE 20 3 10	6 13 20 27 20 2 9 16 23 30 20 4 11 18	7 14 21 28 3 10 17 24 5 12 19

Calendar Realignment Requests must have Division Director Approval, with notification to affected staff no later than October 30, 2019.

Designated Holidays (15)

247 Total Work Days

LEGAL HOLIDAYS PER EDUCATION CODE SECTIONS 37220/45205

Holiday	2019-20 D	ate	Day of Week	Date Each Year
Independence Day	July	4	Thursday	July 4
Labor Day	September	2	Monday	1st Monday in September
Veteran's Day	November	11	Monday	November 11 ¹
Thanksgiving Day	November	28	Thursday	4th Thursday in November
Christmas Day	December	25	Wednesday	December 25
New Year's Day	January	1	Wednesday	January 1
Martin Luther King, Jr. Day	January	20	Monday	3rd Monday in January ²
Lincoln Day	February	14	Friday	In Week of February 123
Washington Day	February	17	Monday	3rd Monday in February
Memorial Day	May	25	Monday	Last Monday in May

¹The day of the week on which November 11th falls. If November 11th falls on a Saturday, the school holiday will be the preceding Friday. If November 11th falls on a Sunday, the school holiday will be on the following Monday.

BOARD HOLIDAYS PER EDUCATION CODE 37200/45205

July 5, 2019	The day after Independence Day
November 27, 2019	In lieu of Admission Day
November 29, 2019	The day after Thanksgiving Day
December 24, 2019	Christmas Eve
December 31, 2019	New Year's Eve

Workyear: 12-Month SEIU, Confidential, or Classified Management Employees --- 247 days, plus 15 holidays

(Vacation accrued in accordance with applicable collective bargaining agreement or LACOE Board Regulation).

²Either the third Monday in January, or the Monday or Friday in the week in which January 15 occurs.

³Monday or Friday of the week in which February 12 falls.



Serving Students . Supporting Communities . Leading Educators

2020-21 12-MONTH CLASSIFIED EMPLOYEES'** CALENDAR - Code A

Work Year Begins July 1, 2020 and Ends June 30, 2021

JULY 2020			1			AUG	JST 2	2020			
		1	2	3	Ī		3	4	5	6	7
6	7	8	9	10	22	21	10	11	12	13	14
13	14	15	16	17	Service	Service	17	18	19	20	21
20	21	22	23	24	Days	Days	24	25	26	27	28
27	28	29	30	31	l		31				
5	EPTE				1		(осто	BER	2020	
l	1	2	3	4						1	2
7	8	9	10	11	21	22	5	6	7	8	9
14	15	16	17	18	Service	Service	12	13	14	15	16
21	22	23	24	25	Days	Days	19	20	21	22	23
28	29	30			1		26	27	28	29	30
	IOVE				1		D			2020	
2	3	4	5	6				1	2	3	4
9	10	11	12	13	17	20	7	8	9	10	11
16	17	18	19	20	Service	Service	14	15	16	17	18
23	24	25	26	27	Days	Days	21	22	23	24	25
30							28	29	30	31	
					-						
	JANU	IARY	2021	L	j		F	EBRU	JARY	2021	1
				1							
4	5	6	7	8	19	18	1	2	3	4	5
4 11	5 12	6 13	7 14	8 15	Service	Service	1 8	2	3 10	4 11	5 12
4 11 18	5 12 19	6 13 20	7 14 21	8 15 22	1		1 8 15	2 9 16	3 10 17	4 11 18	5 12 19
4 11	5 12	6 13	7 14	8 15	Service	Service	1 8	2	3 10	4 11	5 12
4 11 18 25	5 12 19 26	6 13 20 27	7 14 21 28	1 8 15 22 29	Service	Service	1 8 15	2 9 16 23	3 10 17	4 11 18 25	5 12 19 26
4 11 18 25	5 12 19 26 MAF	6 13 20 27 27 RCH 2	7 14 21 28 2021	1 8 15 22 29	Service Days	Service Days	1 8 15 22	2 9 16 23	3 10 17 24	4 11 18 25 021	5 12 19 26
4 11 18 25	5 12 19 26 MAF 2	6 13 20 27 27 3 10	7 14 21 28 2021 4 11	1 8 15 22 29 5 12	Service Days 23	Service Days	1 8 15 22	2 9 16 23 APR	3 10 17 24 EIL 20	4 11 18 25 021 1 8	5 12 19 26 2
4 11 18 25 1 8 15	5 12 19 26 MAF 2 9 16	6 13 20 27 27 3 10 17	7 14 21 28 2021 4 11 18	1 8 15 22 29 5 12 19	Service Days 23 Service	Service Days 22 Service	1 8 15 22 5 12	2 9 16 23 APR 6 13	3 10 17 24 XIL 20 7 14	4 11 18 25 021 1 8 15	5 12 19 26 2 9
4 11 18 25 1 8 15 22	5 12 19 26 MAF 2 9 16 23	6 13 20 27 27 3 10 17 24	7 14 21 28 2021 4 11	1 8 15 22 29 5 12	Service Days 23	Service Days	1 8 15 22 22 5 12 19	2 9 16 23 APR 6 13 20	3 10 17 24 EIL 20 7 14 21	4 11 18 25 021 1 8 15 22	5 12 19 26 2 9 16 23
4 11 18 25 1 8 15	5 12 19 26 MAF 2 9 16	6 13 20 27 27 3 10 17	7 14 21 28 2021 4 11 18	1 8 15 22 29 5 12 19	Service Days 23 Service	Service Days 22 Service	1 8 15 22 5 12	2 9 16 23 APR 6 13	3 10 17 24 XIL 20 7 14	4 11 18 25 021 1 8 15	5 12 19 26 2 9
4 11 18 25 1 8 15 22 29	5 12 19 26 MAF 2 9 16 23 30	6 13 20 27 27 3 10 17 24 31	7 14 21 28 2021 4 11 18 25	1 8 15 22 29 5 12 19 26	Service Days 23 Service	Service Days 22 Service	1 8 15 22 22 5 12 19	2 9 16 23 APR 6 13 20 27	3 10 17 24 (IL 20 7 14 21 28	4 11 18 25 25 21 1 8 15 22 29	5 12 19 26 2 9 16 23 30
4 11 18 25 1 8 15 22 29	5 12 19 26 MAF 2 9 16 23 30	6 13 20 27 27 3 10 17 24 31 4 31	7 14 21 28 2021 4 11 18 25	1 8 15 22 29 5 12 19 26	Service Days 23 Service Days	Service Days 22 Service Days	1 8 15 22 5 12 19 26	2 9 16 23 APR 6 13 20 27 JUN	3 10 17 24 31 21 21 28 VE 20	4 11 18 25 021 1 8 15 22 29	5 12 19 26 2 9 16 23 30
4 11 18 25 1 8 15 22 29	5 12 19 26 MAF 2 9 16 23 30 M	6 13 20 27 27 3 10 17 24 31 4 Y 20 5	7 14 21 28 2021 4 11 18 25 21 6 13	1 8 15 22 29 5 12 19 26	Service Days 23 Service Days	Service Days 22 Service Days	1 8 15 22 5 12 19 26	2 9 16 23 APR 6 13 20 27 JUN 1 8	3 10 17 24 XIL 20 7 14 21 28 VE 20 2	4 11 18 25 25 22 29 21 3 10	5 12 19 26 2 9 16 23 30 4 11
4 11 18 25 1 8 15 22 29 3 10 17	5 12 19 26 MAF 2 9 16 23 30 M 4 11 18	6 13 20 27 3 10 17 24 31 5 12 19	7 14 21 28 2021 4 11 18 25 221 6 13 20	1 8 15 22 29 5 12 19 26	Service Days 23 Service Days 20 Service	Service Days 22 Service Days 22 Service	1 8 15 22 5 12 19 26	2 9 16 23 APF 6 13 20 27 JUI 1 8 15	3 10 17 24 21 21 28 VE 20 2 9 16	4 11 18 25 021 1 8 15 22 29 021 3 10 17	5 12 19 26 2 9 16 23 30 4 11 18
4 11 18 25 1 8 15 22 29	5 12 19 26 MAF 2 9 16 23 30 M	6 13 20 27 27 3 10 17 24 31 4 Y 20 5	7 14 21 28 2021 4 11 18 25 21 6 13	1 8 15 22 29 5 12 19 26	Service Days 23 Service Days	Service Days 22 Service Days	1 8 15 22 5 12 19 26	2 9 16 23 APR 6 13 20 27 JUN 1 8	3 10 17 24 XIL 20 7 14 21 28 VE 20 2	4 11 18 25 25 22 29 21 3 10	5 12 19 26 2 9 16 23 30 4 11

Calendar Realignment Requests must have Division Director Approval, with notification to affected staff no later than October 30, 2020.

Designated Holidays (14)

247 Total Work Days

LEGAL HOLIDAYS PER EDUCATION CODE SECTIONS 37220/45205

Holiday	2020-21 Date		Day of Week	Date Each Year		
Independence Day	July	3	Friday	July 4		
Labor Day	September	7	Monday	1st Monday in September		
Veteran's Day	November	11	Wednesday	November 11 ¹		
Thanksgiving Day	November	26	Thursday	4th Thursday in November		
Christmas Day	December	25	Friday	December 25		
New Year's Day	January	1	Friday	January 1		
Martin Luther King, Jr. Day	January	18	Monday	3rd Monday in January ²		
Lincoln Day	February	12	Friday	In Week of February 12 ³		
Washington Day	February	15	Monday	3rd Monday in February		
Memorial Day	May	31	Monday	Last Monday in May		

¹The day of the week on which November 11th falls. If November 11th falls on a Saturday, the school holiday will be the preceding Friday. If November 11th falls on a Sunday, the school holiday will be on the following Monday.

BOARD HOLIDAYS PER EDUCATION CODE 37200/45205

July 3, 2020	The day before Independence Day
November 25, 2020	In lieu of Admission Day
November 27, 2020	The day after Thanksgiving Day
December 24, 2020	Christmas Eve
December 31, 2020	New Year's Eve

Workyear: 12-Month SEIU, Confidential, or Classified Management Employees --- 247 days, plus 14 holidays

(Vacation accrued in accordance with applicable collective bargaining agreement or LACOE Board Regulation).

HUMAN RESOURCE ADVISORY AND SUPPORT SERVICES 02/03/20

²Either the third Monday in January, or the Monday or Friday in the week in which January 15 occurs.

Monday or Friday of the week in which February 12 falls.



Serving Students • Supporting Communities • Leading Educators

2021-22 12-MONTH CLASSIFIED EMPLOYEES'** CALENDAR - Code A

Work Year Begins July 1, 2021 and Ends June 30, 2022

JULY 2021							AUG	UST 2			
l			1	2			2	3	4	5	6
5	6	7	8	9	21	22	9	10	11	12	13
12	13	14	15	16	Service	Service	16	17	18	19	20
19	20	21	22	23	Days	Days	23	24	25	26	27
26	27	28	29	30			30	31			
SI	EPTE	MBEI	R 202	21	1			осто	BER	2021	
		1	2	3	1						1
6	7	8	9	10	21	21	4	5	6	7	8
13	14	15	16	17	Service	Service	11	12	13	14	15
20	21	22	23	24	Days	Days	18	19	20	21	22
27	28	29	30				25	26	27	28	29
N	OVE	MRFF	R 202	1	1	j	D	ECEN	1BER	202	1
1	2	3	4	5	1				1	2	3
8	9	10	11	12	18	19	6	7	8	9	10
15	16	17	18	19	Service	Service	13	14	15	16	17
22	23	24	25	26	Days	Days	20	21	22	23	24
29	30		2.0			,-	27	28	29	30	24 31
		ADV	2022		, 1	;	_				_
	4	5	2022	7	-		F	1	JARY 2	3	4
3 10	11	12	13	14	20	18	7	8	9	10	11
17				21	Service	Service		15		17	
	18	19	20				14 21		16		18
24 31	25	26	27	28	Days	Days		22	23	24	25
31											
MARCH 2022					ļ		28				
	MAR]]		28	APR	IL 20)22	
_	1	2	3	4	! 						1
7	1 8	2 9	3 10	11	23	21	4	5	6	7	8
14	1 8 15	2 9 16	3 10 17	11 18	Service	Service	4 11	5 12	6 13	7 14	8 15
14 21	1 8 15 22	2 9 16 23	3 10 17 24	11			4 11 18	5 12 19	6 13 20	7 14 21	8 15 22
14	1 8 15	2 9 16	3 10 17	11 18	Service	Service	4 11	5 12	6 13	7 14	8 15
14 21 28	1 8 15 22 29	2 9 16 23 30	3 10 17 24 31	11 18 25	Service	Service	4 11 18	5 12 19 26	6 13 20 27	7 14 21 28	8 15 22 29
14 21 28	1 8 15 22 29 MA	2 9 16 23 30 4	3 10 17 24 31	11 18 25	Service Days	Service Days	4 11 18 25	5 12 19 26	6 13 20 27 VE 20	7 14 21 28 22	8 15 22 29
14 21 28 2 9	1 8 15 22 29 MA 3 10	2 9 16 23 30 Y 20 4 11	3 10 17 24 31 022 5 12	11 18 25 6 13	Service Days 21	Service Days 21	4 11 18 25	5 12 19 26 JUN	6 13 20 27 NE 20 1 8	7 14 21 28 22 2 9	8 15 22 29 3 10
14 21 28 2 9 16	1 8 15 22 29 MA 3 10 17	2 9 16 23 30 AY 20 4 11 18	3 10 17 24 31 022 5 12 19	11 18 25 6 13 20	Service Days 21 Service	Service Days 21 Service	4 11 18 25 6 13	5 12 19 26 JUN 7 14	6 13 20 27 VE 20 1 8 15	7 14 21 28 22 2 9 16	8 15 22 29 3 10 17
14 21 28 2 9 16 23	1 8 15 22 29 MA 3 10 17 24	2 9 16 23 30 Y 20 4 11	3 10 17 24 31 022 5 12	11 18 25 6 13	Service Days 21	Service Days 21	4 11 18 25 6 13 20	5 12 19 26 JUN 7 14 21	6 13 20 27 VE 20 1 8 15 22	7 14 21 28 22 2 9 16 23	8 15 22 29 3 10
14 21 28 2 9 16	1 8 15 22 29 MA 3 10 17	2 9 16 23 30 AY 20 4 11 18	3 10 17 24 31 022 5 12 19	11 18 25 6 13 20	Service Days 21 Service	Service Days 21 Service	4 11 18 25 6 13	5 12 19 26 JUN 7 14	6 13 20 27 VE 20 1 8 15	7 14 21 28 22 2 9 16	8 15 22 29 3 10 17

Calendar Realignment Requests must have Division Director Approval, with notification to affected staff no later than October 29, 2021.

Designated Holidays (15)

246 Total Work Days

LEGAL HOLIDAYS PER EDUCATION CODE SECTIONS 37220/45205

Holiday	2021-22 Date		Day of Week	Date Each Year		
Independence Day	July	5	Monday	July 4		
Labor Day	September	6	Monday	1st Monday in September		
Veteran's Day	November	11	Thursday	November 11 ¹		
Thanksgiving Day	November	25	Thursday	4th Thursday in November		
Christmas Day	December	24	Friday	December 25		
New Year's Day	December	31	Friday	January 1		
Martin Luther King, Jr. Day	January	17	Monday	3rd Monday in January ²		
Lincoln Day	February	14	Monday	In Week of February 123		
Washington Day	February	21	Monday	3rd Monday in February		
Memorial Day	May	30	Monday	Last Monday in May		
Juneteenth Day	June	20	Monday	June 19		

¹The day of the week on which November 11th falls. If November 11th falls on a Saturday, the school holiday will be the preceding Friday. If November 11th falls on a Sunday, the school holiday will be on the following Monday.

BOARD HOLIDAYS PER EDUCATION CODE 37200/45205

November 24, 2021	In lieu of Admission Day
November 26, 2021	The day after Thanksgiving Day
December 27, 2021	In lieu of Christmas Eve
December 30, 2021	In lieu of New Year's Eve

Workyear: 12-Month SEIU, Confidential, or Classified Management Employees --- 246 days, plus 15 holidays

(Vacation accrued in accordance with applicable collective bargaining agreement or LACOE Board Regulation).

²Either the third Monday in January, or the Monday or Friday in the week in which January 15 occurs.

³Monday or Friday of the week in which February 12 falls.

Appendix C- Guidelines for Compensatory Time

- 1. The employer reaches an agreement with the employee to accept compensatory time off in lieu of overtime pay prior to the performance of the overtime being worked.
- 2. The employee knowingly and voluntarily agrees to accept compensatory time.
- 3. Compensatory time is at the rate of one and one-half hours off for each hour of overtime worked.
- 4. Once an employee has accrued 120 hours of compensatory time (80 hours x 1.5) the employee can request payment in lieu of compensatory time off and any time in excess of the 120 hours will be paid.
- 5. Employees who have requested the use of compensatory time will be permitted to use such time within a reasonable period after making the request if used of the time does not unduly disrupt the operations of the unit. Mere inconvenience is insufficient reason to deny an employee's request to use compensatory time.
- 6. Each employee who has accrued compensatory time off may be required to use the compensatory time within a reasonable period after receiving notice to do so. The notice will include the length of time in which a specified number of hours of compensatory time are to be used. A division may opt to pay out all or any portion of compensatory time due an employee.
- 7. If an employee separates, promotes, demotes or transfers, unused compensatory time must be paid out. Additionally, if a non-exempt employee's status changes to exempt, compensatory time must be used or paid out prior to the effective date.

From the Fair Labor Standard Act *Applicable to Public Entities

Appendix D – Non Discrimination and Equal Opportunity

Los Angeles COE Board Policy Nondiscrimination In Employment - SP/BP

BP 4030 Personnel

The County Superintendent desires to provide a positive work environment where employees and job applicants are assured of equal access and opportunities and are free from harassment in accordance with law. The County Superintendent prohibits discrimination against and/or harassment of LACOE employees and job applicants at any LACOE site or activity because of race, color, ancestry, national origin, ethnic group identification, citizenship and immigration status, age, religion, marital or parental status, physical or mental disability, sex, sexual orientation, gender, gender identity or expression, or genetic information; the perception of one or more of such characteristics; or association with a person or group with one or more of these actual or perceived characteristics. These terms are defined by state or federal statute.

Every effort shall be made to realize full, equal employment, in practice and results, for all people. No employee or applicant for employment shall suffer discrimination prohibited under any state or federal law.

Every effort shall be made to realize full, equal employment, in practice and results, for all people. No employee or applicant for employment shall suffer discrimination prohibited under any state or federal law. To this end, no person, because of race, color, ancestry, national origin, ethnic group identification, citizenship and immigration status, age, religion, marital or parental status, physical or mental disability, sex, sexual orientation, gender, gender identity or expression, or genetic information; the perception of one or more of such characteristics; or association with a person or group with one or more of these actual or perceived characteristics shall be discriminated against in employment, promotion, training, transfer, application of policy or regulation, or in any other way be excluded from or denied the benefits of programs or activities.

```
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in LACOE Programs and Activities) (cf. 4032 - Reasonable Accommodation) (cf. 4119.11/4219.11/4319.11 - Sexual Harassment) (cf. 4119.41/4219.41/4319.41 - Employees with Infectious Disease) (cf. 4154/4254/4354 - Health and Welfare Benefits) (cf. 5145.7 - Sexual Harassment)
```

Prohibited discrimination consists of the taking of any adverse employment action against a person, including termination or denial of promotion, job assignment, or training, or in discriminating against the person in compensation, terms, conditions, or other privileges of employment based on any of the prohibited categories of discrimination listed above.

The prohibition against discrimination based on the religious creed of any employee or job applicant includes any discrimination based on the person's religious dress or grooming practices or any conflict between the person's religious belief, observance, or practice and an employment requirement. The prohibition against discrimination based on the sex of an employee or job applicant shall include any discrimination based on the person's pregnancy, childbirth, breastfeeding, or any related medical conditions. (Government Code 12926, 12940).

Harassment consists of any unwelcome verbal, physical, or visual conduct that is based on any of the prohibited categories of discrimination listed above and that is so severe or pervasive that it adversely affects an individual's employment opportunities, has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with the individual's work performance, or creates an intimidating, hostile, or offensive work environment.

The County Superintendent also prohibits retaliation against any LACOE employee or job applicant who complains, testifies, assists, or in any way participates in LACOE's complaint procedures instituted pursuant to this policy.

Any LACOE employee who engages in prohibited discrimination, harassment, or retaliation, or who aids, abets, incites, compels, or coerces another to engage or attempt to engage in such behavior in violation of this policy shall be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal.

```
(cf. 4117.4 - Dismissal)
(cf. 4118 - Suspension/Disciplinary Action)
```

APPENDIX D (2)

The County Superintendent designates the following position as Coordinator for Nondiscrimination in Employment: Director, Labor Relations.

Any employee or job applicant who believes that he/she has been or is being discriminated against or harassed in violation of LACOE policy or regulation should immediately contact his/her supervisor, the Coordinator, or the County Superintendent who shall advise the employee or applicant about LACOE's procedures for filing, investigating, and resolving any such complaints.

Complaints regarding employment discrimination or harassment shall immediately be investigated in accordance with AR 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment.

(cf. 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment)

Any supervisory or management employee who observes or has knowledge of an incident of prohibited discrimination or harassment shall report the incident to his/her supervisor, the Coordinator, or County Superintendent as soon as practical after the incident. All other employees are encouraged to report such incidents to their supervisor immediately.

Training and Notifications

LACOE shall provide training to employees about how to recognize harassment and discrimination, how to respond appropriately, and components of LACOE's policies and regulations regarding discrimination.

The County Superintendent will provide leadership and assistance in building an environment in which opportunity for employment is equalized. LACOE establishes an inclusive, positive workplace where all cultures and differences are valued.

(cf. 4131- Staff Development) (cf. 4231- Staff Development)

(cf. 4331- Staff Development)

LACOE shall publicize its nondiscrimination policy and the availability of complaint procedures. Such publication shall be included in each announcement, bulletin, or application form that is used in employee recruitment. (34 CFR 100.6, 106.9)

LACOE's policy shall be posted in all schools and offices including staff lounges and student government meeting rooms. (5 CCR 4960)

Policy LOS ANGELES COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION adopted: September 3, 2013 Downey, California

Appendix E – Family and Medical Leave

Los Angeles COE Administrative Regulation Family Care And Medical Leave - SR

AR 4261.8 **Personnel**

The Office shall not interfere with, restrain, or deny the exercise of any right for family care and medical leave provided to an eligible employee, as defined below, under the law. In addition, the Office shall not discharge or discriminate against any employee for opposing any practice made unlawful by, or because of, his/her involvement in any inquiry or proceeding related to the family care and medical leave. (29 USC 2615; Government Code 12945.2)

(cf. 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment)

Definitions

Any word or phrase defined below shall have the same meaning throughout this administrative regulation except where otherwise specifically defined.

Child means a biological, adopted, or foster child; a step child; a legal ward; or a child of a person standing in loco parentis as long as the child is under 18 years of age or an adult dependent child. (29 USC 2611; Government Code 12945.2)

Eligible employee means an employee who has been employed with the Office for at least 12 months and who has at least 1,250 hours of service with the Office during the previous 12-month period. (29 USC 2611; 29 CFR 825.110; Government Code 12945.2)

Parent means a biological, foster, or adoptive parent; a step parent; a legal guardian; or another person who stood in loco parent to the employee when the employee was a child. Parent does not include a spouse's parents. (29 USC 2611; 29 CFR 825.122; Government Code 12945.2; 2 CCR 7297.0)

Serious health condition means an illness, injury, impairment, or physical or mental condition that involves either of the following: (29 USC 2611; 29 CFR 825.113, 825.114, 825.115; Government Code 12945.2)

- 1. Inpatient care in a hospital, hospice, or residential health care facility
- 2. Continuing treatment or continuing supervision by a health care provider, including one or more of the following:
 - a. A period of incapacity of more than three consecutive full days
 - b. Any period of incapacity or treatment for such incapacity due to a chronic serious health condition
 - c. For purposes of leave under the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA), any period of incapacity due to pregnancy or for prenatal care
 - d. Any period of incapacity which is permanent or long term due to a condition for which treatment may not be effective
 - e. Any period of absence to receive multiple treatments, including recovery, by a health care provider

Spouse means a partner in marriage as defined in Family Code 300 or 1 USC 7. In addition, for purposes of rights under the California Family Rights Act (CFRA), a registered domestic partner shall have the same rights, protections, and benefits as a spouse and protections provided to a spouse's child shall also apply to a child of a registered domestic partner. (1 USC 7; 29 CFR 825.122; Family Code 297.5, 300; 2 CCR 7297.0)

Appendix E (2)

Eligibility for Leave

Employees are eligible for unpaid Family and Medical Leave if they meet the following conditions:

- 1. Full-time employees employed for at least one (1) year and who have worked a minimum of 1250 hours during the 12-month period immediately preceding the commencement of the leave or the onset of the condition that would qualify the employee for the FMLA/CFRA leave.
- 2. Ten-month employees will be deemed to have met the one-year requirement if they serve the full year.
- 3. Employees otherwise eligible as negotiated in the collective bargaining contract(s).

The Office shall grant family care and medical leave to eligible employees for the following reasons: (29 USC 2612; 29 CFR 825.112; Family Code 297.5; Government Code 12945.2)

- 1. Because of the birth of a child of the employee or placement of a child with the employee in connection with the employee's adoption or foster care of the child
- 2. To care for the employee's child, parent, or spouse with a serious health condition
- 3. Because of the employee's own serious health condition that makes him/her unable to perform one or more essential functions of his/her position, except that CFRA leave shall not cover an employee's disability on account of pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions
- 4. Because of any qualifying exigency arising out of the fact that the employee's spouse, child, or parent is a covered military member on covered active duty (or has been notified of an impending call or order to covered active duty)
- 5. To care for a covered service member with a serious injury or illness if the employee is the spouse, child, parent, or next of kin, as defined, of the service member

In addition to FMLA leave for disability on account of a pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions pursuant to item #3 above, a female employee disabled by pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions may be entitled to take leave for a reasonable period of time, not to exceed four months. (Government Code 12945)

Terms of Leave

An eligible employee shall be entitled to a total of 12 work weeks of family care and medical leave during any 12-month period, except in the case of leave to care for a covered service member as provided under "Military Caregiver Leave" below. (29 USC 2612; Government Code 12945.2)

During the period of leave, the Office may require the employee to report his/her status and intention to return to duty.

Leave taken pursuant to the CFRA shall run concurrently with leave taken pursuant to the FMLA, except in the following circumstances:

- 1. Leave taken to care for a registered domestic partner or a child of a domestic partner. Such leave shall count as leave under the CFRA only. (Family Code 297.5)
- Leave taken for disability on account of pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions. FMLA leave taken for these
 purposes shall run concurrently with the California pregnancy disability leave granted pursuant to Government Code 12945.
 CFRA leave related to the birth of a child shall not commence until the expiration of the pregnancy disability leave.
 (Government Code 12945, 12945.2; 2 CCR 7297.6)

(cf. 4161.1/4361.1 - Personal Illness/Injury Leave) (cf. 4261.1 - Personal Illness/Injury Leave)

Leave taken for the birth or placement of a child must be concluded within the 12-month period beginning on the date of the birth or placement of the child. Such leave does not need to be taken in one continuous period of time. The basic minimum duration of the leave for birth or placement of a child shall be two weeks. However, Office shall grant a request for leave of less than two weeks' duration on any two occasions. (29 USC 2612; 2 CCR 7297.3)

If both parents of a child work for the Office, their family care and medical leave related to the birth or placement of the child shall be limited to a combined total of 12 weeks. This restriction shall apply whether or not the parents are married, not married, or registered domestic partners. (29 USC 2612; Government Code 12945.2)

Appendix E (3)

Use/Substitution of Paid Leave

Except for pregnancy disability leave, during the period of family care and medical leave, the Office shall require the employee to use his/her accrued vacation leave, other accrued time off, and any other paid or unpaid time off negotiated with the Office. If the leave is because of the employee's own serious health condition, the employee shall use accrued sick leave pursuant to the collective bargaining agreement and/or County Superintendent policy. (29 USC 2612; Government Code 12945.2)

(cf. 4141/4241 - Collective Bargaining Agreement) (cf. 4161/4261/4361 - Leaves)

Intermittent Leave/Reduced Leave Schedule

Leave related to the serious health condition of the employee or his/her child, parent, or spouse may be taken intermittently or on a reduced leave schedule when medically necessary, as determined by the health care provider of the person with the serious health condition. However, the Office may limit leave increments to the shortest period of time that the Office's payroll system uses to account for absences or use of leave. (29 USC 2612; 2 CCR 7297.3)

If an employee needs intermittent leave or leave on a reduced work schedule that is foreseeable based on planned medical treatment for the employee or a family member, the Office may require the employee to transfer temporarily to an available alternative position. This alternative position must have equivalent pay and benefits, the employee must be qualified for the position, and the position must better accommodate recurring periods of leave than the employee's regular job. Transfer to an alternative position may include altering an existing job to better accommodate the employee's need for intermittent leave or a reduced leave schedule. (29 USC 2612; 2 CCR 7297.3)

(cf. 4113.4/4213.4/4313.4 - Temporary Modified/Light-Duty Assignment)

Request for Leave

An employee shall provide at least verbal notice sufficient to make the Office aware that he/she needs family care and medical leave and the anticipated timing and duration of the leave. The employee need not expressly assert or mention FMLA/CFRA to satisfy this requirement; however, he/she must state the reason the leave is needed (e.g., birth of child, medical treatment). If more information is necessary to determine whether the employee is eligible for family care and medical leave, the County Superintendent or designee shall inquire further and obtain the necessary details of the leave to be taken. (2 CCR 7297.4)

Based on the information provided by the employee, the County Superintendent or designee shall designate the leave, paid or unpaid, as FMLA/CFRA qualifying leave and shall give notice of such designation to the employee. (2 CCR 7297.4)

When the need for the leave is foreseeable based on an expected birth, placement for adoption or foster care, or planned medical treatment for a serious health condition of the employee or a family member, the employee shall provide the Office with at least 30 days' advance written notice before the leave. The employee shall consult with the Office and make a reasonable effort to schedule, subject to the health care provider's approval, any planned medical treatment or supervision so as to minimize disruption to Office operations. (Government Code 12945.2; 2 CCR 7297.4)

When the 30 days' notice is not practicable because of a lack of knowledge of approximately when leave will be required to begin, a change in circumstances, or a medical emergency, the employee shall provide the Office with written notice as soon as practicable. (2 CCR 7297.4)

Certification of Health Condition

At the time of the employee's request for leave for his/her own or his/her child's, parent's, or spouse's serious health condition, or within five business days of the request, the County Superintendent or designee shall request that the employee provide certification by a health care provider of the need for leave. Upon receiving the Office's request, the employee shall provide the certification within 15 days, unless either the County Superintendent or designee provides additional time or it is not practicable under the particular circumstances, despite the employee's diligent, good faith efforts. (29 CFR 825.305; 2 CCR 7297.4)

The certification shall include the following: (29 USC 2613; Government Code 12945.2; 2 CCR 7297.0)

Appendix E (4)

- 1. The date on which the serious health condition began
- 2. The probable duration of the condition
- 3. If the employee is requesting leave to care for a child, parent, or spouse with a serious health condition, both of the following:
 - a. Statement that the serious health condition warrants the participation of a family member to provide care during a period of the treatment or supervision of the child, parent, or spouse
 - b. Estimated amount of time the health care provider believes the employee needs to care for the child, parent, or spouse
- 4. If the employee is requesting leave because of his/her own serious health condition, a statement that due to the serious health condition, he/she is unable to work at all or is unable to perform one or more essential functions of his/her job
- 5. If the employee is requesting leave for intermittent treatment or is requesting leave on a reduced leave schedule for planned medical treatment, a statement of the medical necessity for the leave, the dates on which treatment is expected to be given, the duration of such treatment, and the expected duration of the leave

The County Superintendent or designee shall not request any genetic information, as defined in 42 USC 2000ff, from any employee or his/her family member except as necessary to comply with a certification requirement for FMLA/CFRA leave purposes or with the prior written authorization of the employee. Any such genetic information received by the Office shall be kept confidential in accordance with law. (42 USC 2000ff-1, 2000ff-5)

When an employee has provided sufficient medical certification to enable the Office to determine whether the employee's leave request is FMLA-eligible, the County Superintendent or designee shall notify the employee within five business days whether the leave is FMLA-eligible. The County Superintendent or designee may also retroactively designate leave as FMLA/CFRA as long as there is no individualized harm to the employee. (29 CFR 825.301)

If the County Superintendent or designee doubts the validity of a certification that accompanies a request for leave for the employee's own serious health condition, he/she may require the employee to obtain a second opinion from a Office -approved health care provider, at Office expense. If the second opinion is contrary to the first, the County Superintendent or designee may require the employee to obtain a third medical opinion from a third health care provider approved by both the employee and the Office, again at the Office expense. The opinion of the third health care provider shall be final and binding. (29 USC 2613; Government Code 12945.2)

If additional leave is needed when the time estimated by the health care provider expires, the Office may require the employee to provide recertification in the manner specified in items #1-5 above. (29 USC 2613; Government Code 12945.2)

Fitness for Duty Upon Return to Work

Upon expiration of leave taken for his/her own serious health condition, an employee shall present certification from his/her health care provider that he/she is able to resume work.

(cf. 4112.4/4212.4/4312.4 - Health Examinations)

The certification from the employee's health care provider shall address the employee's ability to perform the essential functions of his/her job.

Rights to Reinstatement and Maintenance of Benefits

Upon granting an employee's request for family care and medical leave, the County Superintendent or designee shall guarantee to reinstate the employee in the same or a comparable position when the leave ends. (29 USC 2614; Government Code 12945.2)

However, the Office may refuse to reinstate an employee returning from leave to the same or a comparable position if all of the following apply: (29 USC 2614; Government Code 12945.2)

1. The employee is a salaried "key employee" who is among the highest paid 10 percent of those Office employees who are employed within 75 miles of the employee's worksite.

Appendix E (5)

- 2. The refusal is necessary to prevent substantial and grievous economic injury to Office operations.
- 3. The Office informs the employee of its intent to refuse reinstatement at the time it determines that the refusal is necessary, and the employee fails to immediately return to service.

```
(cf. 4117.3 - Personnel Reduction)
(cf. 4217.3 - Lay off/Rehire)
```

During the period when an employee is on family care and medical leave, he/she shall maintain his/her status with the Office and the leave shall not constitute a break in service for purposes of longevity, seniority under any collective bargaining agreement, or any employee benefit plan. (29 USC 2614; Government Code 12945.2)

For a period of 12 work weeks, the Office shall continue to provide an eligible employee on family care and medical leave the group health plan coverage that was in place before he/she took the leave. The employee shall reimburse the Office for premiums paid during the family care and medical leave if he/she fails to return to Office employment after the expiration of the leave and the failure is for any reason other than the continuation, recurrence, or onset of a serious health condition or other circumstances beyond his/her control. (29 USC 2614; 29 CFR 825.213; Government Code 12945.2)

```
(cf. 4154/4254/4354 - Health and Welfare Benefits)
```

In addition, during the period when an employee is on family care and medical leave, he/she shall be entitled to continue to participate in other employee benefit plans including life insurance, short-term or long-term disability insurance, accident insurance, pension and retirement plans, and supplemental unemployment benefit plans to the same extent and under the same conditions as apply to an unpaid leave taken for any other purpose. However, for purposes of pension and retirement plans, the Office shall not be required to make plan payments for an employee during the leave period and the leave period shall not be counted for purposes of time accrued under the plan. (Government Code 12945.2)

Military Family Leave Resulting from Qualifying Exigencies

An eligible employee may take up to 12 work weeks of unpaid leave during the 12-month period established by the Office while a covered military member is on covered active duty or call to covered active duty status for one or more qualifying exigencies. (29 USC 2612)

Covered military member means an employee's spouse, son, daughter, or parent on covered active duty or call to covered active duty status. (29 CFR 825.126)

Covered active duty means duty during the deployment of a member of the regular Armed Forces to a foreign country or duty during the deployment of a member of the National Guard or Reserves to a foreign country under a call or order to active duty. (29 USC 2611)

Qualifying exigencies include time needed to:

- 1. Address issues arising from short notice deployment (up to seven calendar days from the date of receipt of call or order of short notice deployment)
- 2. Attend military events and related activities, such as any official ceremony or family assistance program related to the active duty or call to active duty status
- 3. Arrange childcare or attend school activities arising from the active duty or call to active duty, such as arranging for alternative childcare, enrolling or transferring a child to a new school, or attending meetings
- 4. Make or up date financial and legal arrangements to address a covered military member's absence
- 5. Attend counseling provided by someone other than a health care provider
- 6. Spend time (up to five days of leave per instance) with a covered military member who is on short-term temporary rest and recuperation leave during deployment
- 7. Attend to certain post-deployment activities, such as arrival ceremonies or reintegration briefings

Appendix E (6)

8. Address any other event that the employee and Office agree is a qualifying exigency

The employee shall provide the County Superintendent or designee with notice of the need for the qualifying exigency leave as soon as practicable, regardless of how far in advance such leave is foreseeable. (29 CFR 825.302)

An employee who is requesting such leave for the first time shall provide the County Superintendent or designee with a copy of the covered military member's active duty orders, or other documentation issued by the military, and the dates of the service. In addition, the employee shall provide the County Superintendent or designee with certification of the qualifying exigency necessitating the leave. The certification shall contain the information specified in 29 CFR 825.309.

The employee's qualifying exigency leave may be taken on an intermittent or reduced leave schedule basis. (29 CFR 825.302)

During the period of qualified exigency leave, the Office's rule regarding an employee's use of his/her accrued vacation leave and any other accrued paid or unpaid time off, as specified in "Use/Substitution of Paid Leave" above, shall apply.

Military Caregiver Leave

The Office shall grant up to a total of 26 work weeks of leave during a single 12-month period, measured forward from the first date of leave taken, to an eligible employee to care for a covered service member with a serious illness or injury. In order to be eligible for such military caregiver leave, an employee must be the spouse, son, daughter, parent, or next of kin of the covered service member. This 26-week period is not in addition to, but rather is inclusive of, the 12 work weeks of leave that may be taken for other FMLA qualifying reasons. (29 USC 2611, 2612; 29 CFR 825.127)

Covered service member may be either:

- 1. A member of the Armed Forces, including a member of the National Guard or Reserves, who is undergoing medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy; is otherwise in outpatient status; or is otherwise on the temporary disability retired list for a serious injury or illness
- 2. A veteran who, within the five years preceding his/her undergoing of medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy for a serious injury or illness, was a member of the Armed Forces, including the National Guard or Reserves

Son or daughter of a covered service member means the biological, adopted, or foster child, stepchild, legal ward, or a child of any age for whom the covered service member stood in loco parentis. (29 CFR 825.127)

Parent of a covered service member means the covered service member's biological, adopted, step or foster parent, or any other individual who stood in loco parentis to the covered service member (except "parents in law"). (29 CFR 825.127)

Next of kin means the nearest blood relative to the covered service member, or as designated in writing by the covered service member. (29 USC 2611, 2612)

Outpatient status means the status of a member of the Armed Forces assigned to a military medical treatment facility as an outpatient or a unit established for the purpose of providing command and control of members of the Armed Forces receiving medical care as outpatients. (29 USC 2611; 29 CFR 825.127)

Serious injury or illness means:

- 1. For a member of the Armed Forces, an injury or illness incurred or aggravated by the member's service in the line of duty while on active duty in the Armed Forces that may render the member medically unfit to perform the duties of the member's office, grade, rank, or rating
- 2. For a veteran, an injury or illness incurred or aggravated by the member's service in the line of duty on active duty in the Armed Forces, including the National Guard or Reserves, that manifested itself before or after the member became a veteran

The employee shall provide reasonable and practicable notice of the need for the leave in accordance with the procedures in the section entitled "Request for Leave" above.

An employee requesting leave to care for a covered service member with a serious injury or illness shall provide the County Superintendent or designee with certification from an authorized health care provider of the service member that contains the information specified in 29 CFR 825.310.

Appendix E (7)

The leave may be taken intermittently or on a reduced schedule when medically necessary. An employee taking military caregiver leave in combination with other leaves pursuant to this administrative regulation shall be entitled to a combined total of 26 work weeks of leave during a single 12-month period. When both spouses work for the Office and both wish to take such leave, the spouses are limited to a maximum combined total of 26 work weeks during a single 12-month period. (29 USC 2612)

During the period of military caregiver leave, the Office's rule regarding an employee's use of his/her accrued vacation leave and other accrued paid or unpaid time off, as specified in "Use/Substitution of Paid Leave" above, shall apply.

Notifications

The County Superintendent or designee shall provide the following notifications about state and federal law related to FMLA/CFRA:

- 1. General Notice: Information explaining the provisions of the FMLA/CFRA and employee rights and obligations shall be posted in a conspicuous place on Office premises, or electronically, and shall be included in employee handbooks. (29 USC 2619; 2 CCR 7297.9)
- 1. The general notice shall also explain an employee's obligation to provide the County Superintendent or designee with at least 30 days' notice of the need for the leave, when the need for the leave is reasonably foreseeable. (2 CCR 7297.4)
- 2. Eligibility Notice: When an employee requests leave or when the County Superintendent or designee acquires knowledge that an employee's leave may be for an FMLA/CFRA qualifying reason, the County Superintendent or designee shall, within five business days, provide notification to the employee of his/her eligibility to take such leave. (29 CFR 825.300)
- 3. Rights and Responsibilities Notice: Each time the eligibility notice is provided to an employee, the County Superintendent or designee shall provide written notification explaining the specific expectations and obligations of the employee, including any consequences for a failure to meet those obligations. Such notice shall include, as appropriate: (29 CFR 825.300)
 - a. A statement that the leave may be designated and counted against the employee's annual FMLA/CFRA leave entitlement and the appropriate 12-month entitlement period, if qualifying
 - b. Any requirements for the employee to furnish medical certification of a serious health condition, serious injury or illness, or qualifying exigency arising out of active duty or call to active duty status and the consequences of failing to provide the certification
 - c. The employee's right to substitute paid leave, whether the Office will require substitution of paid leave, conditions related to any substitution, and the employee's entitlement to take unpaid leave if the employee does not meet the conditions for paid leave
 - d. Any requirements for the employee to make any premium payments to maintain health benefits, the arrangement for making such payments, and the possible consequences of failure to make payments on a timely basis
 - e. If applicable, the employee's status as a "key employee," potential consequence that restoration may be denied following the FMLA leave, and explanation of the conditions required for such denial
 - f. The employee's right to maintenance of benefits during the leave and restoration to the same or an equivalent job upon return from leave
 - g. The employee's potential liability for health insurance premiums paid by the Office during the employee's unpaid FMLA leave should the employee not return to service after the leave
- 4. Any time the information provided in the above notice changes, the County Superintendent or designee shall, within five business days of his/her receipt of an employee's first notice of need for leave, provide the employee with a written notice referencing the prior notice and describing any changes to the notice. (29 CFR 825.300)
- 5. Designation Notice: When the County Superintendent or designee has information (e.g., sufficient medical certification) to determine whether the leave qualifies as FMLA/CFRA leave, he/she shall, within five business days, provide written notification designating the leave as FMLA/CFRA qualifying or, if the leave will not be so designated, the reason for that determination. (29 CFR 825.300)

Appendix E (8)

If the amount of leave needed is known, the notice shall include the number of hours, days, or weeks that will be counted against the employee's FMLA/CFRA entitlement. If it is not possible to provide that number at the time of the designation notice, notification shall be provided of the amount of leave counted against the employee's entitlement upon request by the employee and at least once in every 30-day period if leave was taken in that period. (29 CFR 825.300)

If the Office requires paid leave to be substituted for unpaid family care and medical leave, the notice shall so specify. If the Office requires an employee to present a fitness-for-duty certification that addresses the employee's ability to perform the essential functions of the job, the notice shall also specify that requirement.

Any time the information provided in the designation notice changes, the County Superintendent or designee shall, within five business days, provide the employee with written notice referencing the prior notice and describing any changes to the notice. (29 CFR 825.300)

Records

The County Superintendent or designee shall maintain records pertaining to an individual employee's use of family care and medical leave in accordance with law. (29 USC 2616; 42 USC 2000ff-1; 29 CFR 825.500; Government Code 12946)

Appendix F – 2006 JBC Tentative Agreement

APPENDIX F (1) FINAL

Tentative Agreement
Between
Los Angeles County Office of Education
and
California School Employees Association
and
Los Angeles County Education Association
and
Service Employees International Union, Local 660

APPENDIX TO AGREEMENT

JOINT BENEFITS COMMITTEE

- 1. This Appendix sets forth the procedures to be followed by the Joint Benefits Committee referred to in Article IX of the bargaining agreement.
- Quorum. A quorum shall consist of at least two-thirds (2/3) of the Committee members, provided that at least one (1) Office member and two (2) Union members, one each from any two (2) Unions, are present.
- 3. Voting. The Committee shall not take any action or make any decisions on any matter coming before it or presented to it for consideration or exercise any power or right given or reserved to it or conferred upon it by this Agreement except upon the vote of each group of the Committee at a meeting of the Committee duly and regularly called or except by the signed concurrence of all Committee members without a meeting.
- 4. Proxies. A member may designate any other member as a proxy to vote and take action in the same manner and with the same effect as if the designating member were present; provided that proxies may not be counted to determine the presence of a quorum and provided that Office members may not designate Union members or Union personnel and Union members may not designate Office members or Office personnel.
- 5. Unit Vote. The Office members and the Union members shall act jointly in the administration of this Agreement, it being the intent of the Agreement that there by equal representation in the administration of the Agreement. All actions shall be decided by a unit vote, the Office members being entitled to one (1) vote, and the Union members being entitled to one (1) vote, respectively; provided, however, that in order to cast a vote at any particular meeting, no less than two (2) Office members and two (2) Union members as the case may be, are present at the meeting.

APPENDIX F (2)

The unit vote of the Union members shall be determined first by attempting to reach a consensus among Union members present at the meeting. If consensus is not reached by the Union members, the Union unit vote will be determined by a majority vote of the Union members present at any meeting.

The unit vote of the Office members shall be determined first by attempting to reach a consensus among the Office members. If consensus is not reached by the Office members, the Office unit vote will be determined by a majority vote of the Office members present at any meeting

If the vote among either Union members or among Office members to determine the respective unit vote ends in a tie vote, such tie shall constitute a vote in opposition to the question for purposes of the subsequent unit vote. A tie vote between Union members and Office members shall be controlled by the provisions of this Appendix concerning tie votes and deadlocks.

- 6. <u>Location of Meetings.</u> Meetings of the Joint Benefits Committee shall be held quarterly or as needed at a place agreed upon by the members.
- 7. <u>Action Without a Meeting.</u> Upon any matter that may properly come before the Committee, the members may act without a meeting, provided such action has the written concurrence of all the members.
- 8. <u>Deadlock.</u> In the event of a deadlock of the Office members and the Union members on any matter within their power, the dispute may proceed with the rules governing Impasse pursuant to the Educational Employment Relations Act (EERA).
- 9. <u>Tie Vote as Deadlock.</u> Subject to paragraph 10 below, a deadlock of the Committee members may occur only upon a tie vote.
- 10. Procedural Requirements for Deadlock. A deadlock of the Office members and the Union members shall not be deemed to have occurred unless and until a vote has been taken on a matter at each of two (2) meetings of the Committee, with the second meeting occurring no later than ninety (90) calendar days after the first meeting, unless the members vote to extend this time period for up to an additional ninety (90) calendar days. If information deemed germane to a matter by the Union members or the Office members is not available within the initial ninety (90) calendar day period, then that period shall be automatically extended until the information is presented to the members at a Committee meeting, except that in no event shall the extension be greater than ninety (90) calendar days.

Appendix F (3)

11. <u>Impasse.</u> If a deadlock occurs pursuant to the provisions above, the parties may execute a joint declaration of inability to reach agreement or, alternatively, each union may choose to execute its own declaration of inability to reach agreement, and the matter shall thereafter proceed in accordance with the provisions of the EERA governing impasse procedures. This provision shall not be construed to force the unions to resolve the deadlock with a joint impasse.

Annette L. Anderson, Director-Labor Relations, LACOE

Los Angeles County Education Association Mark Lewis, President

Service Employees International Union Frances Lewis, Field Representative

California School Employees Association
Norma Kinder, President

102

Appendix G - 2011 MOU Joint Benefits Bank Account

APPENDIX G (1) (FIRST) AMENDMENT TO

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING FOR CREATION AND MANAGEMENT OF A JOINT BENEFITS BANK ACCOUNT¹

The Los Angeles County Office of Education ("LACOE"), the California School Employees Association, Chapter 624 ("CSEA"), the Los Angeles County Education Association ("LACEA"), and the Service Employees International Union, Local 99 ("SEIU") (collectively referred to as the "Parties") hereby enter into this Memorandum of Understanding ("MOU") on this 14th day of April, 2008, as amended on July 20, 2011, for the following purposes and with reference to the following facts:

WHEREAS, the Parties created the Los Angeles County Schools Joint Benefits Trust ("the Trust") for the purpose of receiving and managing employer and employee contributions for health and welfare benefits, subject to bargaining between LACOE and the Unions; and

WHEREAS, the Parties agreed, effective January 1, 2007, to change from the Trust health plan to LACOE, for the purpose of providing for employee health and welfare benefits; and

WHEREAS, the Parties have determined that because of the change from the Trust health plan to LACOE, the purpose for the Trust no longer exists; and

WHEREAS, the Parties wish to dissolve the Trust while maintaining the monies held by the Trust in a separate designated account, to be expended only for health and welfare benefits as agreed upon by the Parties through collective bargaining negotiations.

NOW, THEREFORE, it is hereby agreed by and between LACOE, CSEA, LACEA, and SEIU as follows:

1. On or before July 1, 2008, LACOE shall open an interest bearing bank account, designated by LACOE to be a depository solely for the monies formally held by the Trust and to include and not be limited to related interest and/or dividend earnings for employee health and welfare benefits (hereinafter referred to "The LACOE Employee Health and Welfare Account"). Withdrawal, expenditures, renewals of certificate of deposit, or transfer of monies from the LACOE Employee Health and Welfare Account shall be in accordance with paragraph 6 below.

¹ The intent of the Amendment is merely to clarify certain provisions of the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU), including but not necessarily limited to $\P \P 1$ and 6 relating to account transactions that require approval; and $\P \P \P 4, 5, 6$, and 7 relating Article IX, Compensation which is amended on a yearly basis. The Amendment herein does not affect or modify any of the substantive provisions of the MOU or their implementation thereof.

APPENDIX G (2)

- 2. Expenses incurred by the Trust prior to June 30, 2008, such as expenses for outside consultants, shall be paid by the Trust before Trust funds are transferred to The LACOE Employee Health and Welfare Account. Expenses incurred by the Trust on or after June 30, 2008, if any, shall be paid from the LACOE Employee Health and Welfare Account, in accordance with paragraph 6 below.
- 3. The monies held by the Trust shall be transferred to The LACOE Employee Health and Welfare Account on or before June 30, 2008.
- 4. The Joint Benefits Committee shall continue to operate under the same terms and conditions as provided in the Article IX Compensation Agreement between LACOE and the Unions executed on December 14, 2007 by LACOE, LACEA, and SEIU and on January 15, 2008 by CSEA, a copy of which is attached hereto, and as amended from time to time which is incorporated herein by reference.
- 5. LACOE shall comply with the Article IX Compensation Agreement between LACOE and the Unions executed on December 14, 2007 by LACOE, LACEA, and SEIU and on January 15, 2008 by CSEA, a copy of which is attached hereto, and as amended from time to time which is incorporated herein by reference.
- 6. Withdrawals, expenditures, renewals of certificate of deposit, or transfers of monies from The LACOE Employee Health and Welfare Account shall be made only as approved by the Joint Benefits Committee and in accordance with the Article IX Compensation Agreement between LACOE and the Unions executed on December 14, 2007 by LACOE, LACEA, and SEIU and on January 15, 2008 by CSEA, a copy of which is attached hereto, and as amended from time to time which is incorporated herein by reference. The Assistant Superintendent of Business Services (or if he/she is unavailable, the Assistant Superintendent of Human Resource Services) and a LACOE employee of the member groups shall have signature responsibilities for the account. The member group shall be selected annually, effective July 1, 2008, in alphabetical order and in the following order of rotation: CSEA 2011-12; LACEA 2012-13; and SEIU 2013-14. It is the responsibility of each member group to put someone forward to meet the obligation for the group's year, including a primary and secondary person.
- 7. This MOU shall not be construed as adding to or altering the terms of the Article IX Compensation Agreement between LACOE and the Unions executed on December 14, 2007 by LACOE, LACEA, and SEIU and on January 15, 2008 by CSEA, a copy of which is attached hereto, except as specifically provided herein, and as amended from time to time which is incorporated herein by reference.
- 8. If for any reason any paragraph or provision of the MOU, or the application thereof, to any person, entity, or circumstance shall be held to be invalid, unenforceable, or contrary to any law, then the remainder of the MOU, or the application of such paragraph or provision to persons, entities, or circumstances other than those to

APPENDIX G (3)

which it has been held invalid or unenforceable shall not be affected thereby and each paragraph and provision shall be valid and enforced to the fullest extent permitted by law.

The MOU constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties and in executing the MOU, each party hereto does so freely, knowingly, and voluntarily and is fully aware of the contents and effects thereof, and such execution is not the result of any fraud, duress, mistake, or undue influence whatsoever.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed and entered into the MOU as of the date first written above.

DATED: 7 20/11	By: Continue Con
dated: <u>7<i> </i>20/20/1</u>	CALIFORNIA SCHOOL EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION, CHAPTER 624 By: September 1 Septembe
DATED: 7/20/2011	By: Michaela O'Neill (Print Name)
DATED: <u>7/20/2011</u>	BUTTON CONTROL OF THE PROPERTY

Appendix H – 2014 & 2015 JBC Agreement

Appendix H (1)

Joint Benefits Committee Health and Welfare Benefits Joint Benefits Successor Tentative Agreement January 1, 2014-December 31, 2014, and January 1, 2015-December 31, 2015

between LOS ANGELES COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION and

CALIFORNIA SCHOOL EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION, CHAPTER 624 LOS ANGELES COUNTY EDUCATION ASSOCIATION SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION, LOCAL 99

ARTICLE IX COMPENSATION 9/20/2013

- A. General Salary Provisions
- B. Insurance Fringe Benefits
- Effective with this Agreement, the Office will make the following annual contributions to health and welfare benefits for all unit members:
 - a. LACOE agrees to assume the one-time cost of (one hundred percent) 100% of the cost for Health and Welfare increases for active employees effective January 1, 2014 through December 31, 2014.
 - b. The Joint Benefits Committee agrees to assume eighty percent of the runout/unreimbursed costs of employee health and welfare benefits through
 September 2011, paid from the Health and Welfare Account. Unit members
 shall be responsible for any portion of the premium in excess of the office's
 contribution, which shall be paid by monthly payroll deduction. LACOE
 agrees to maintain as a hard cap the annual employee contribution to
 employee health and welfare benefits for LACEA effective January 1, 2013
 through December 31, 2013 as follows:

One party \$6,700.00
Two party \$11,000.00
Three party \$13,200.00

The parties mutually agree to merge the two benefit schedules and select the maximum cap of each schedule to create a single health and welfare schedule. LACOE agrees to a five-percent (5.0%) increase to the maximum caps from each of the 2012-2013 CSEA, SEIU, LACEA, Management, and Confidential health and welfare benefits employer contributions as a hard cap for all unit members effective January 1, 2014 through December 31, 2014 as follows:

One party - \$7,875.00 Two party - \$11,550.00 Three party - \$13,860.00

Appendix H (2)

0.	LACOE agrees to a	two-percent (2.0%) increase to the 2014 health and
	welfare benefits empl	over contributions as a hard cap for all unit members
	effective January 1, 2	015 through December 31, 2015. LACOF agrees to
	maintain as a hard car	the annual employer contribution to employee health
	and welfare benefits	for CSEA, Management and Confidential offective
	January 1, 2013 through	th December 31, 2013, as follows:
	One party -	\$8,033.00
	Two party -	\$11,781.00
	Three Party	\$14,137.00
ti	ne date first written above.	Or, the rathes have executed and entered into this agreement as of
	, ,	CALIFORNIA SCHOOL EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION, CHAPTER 624
D	ATED: 9/20 13	By: Mouna Kinder (Print Name)
		Marina Kinden
		(Print Name)
		CALIFORNIA SCHOOL EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION, CHAPTER 624
D	ATED:	Ву:
		(Print Name)
		LOS ANGELES COUNTY EDUCATION ASSOCIATION
_	A CITED	By: Brian Christian (Print Name)
D	ATED:	By: Dianicarion
		Frian Christian
		(Time Ivanic)
		SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION, LOCAL 99
ח	ATED: <u>9/20/2012</u>	By Sugar De 1 Alex
ט	ATLD. 1/po/evi	BURNELL CARTER
		<u> Devery CARTER</u>
		SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION,
	-1 (LOCAL 99
D	ATED: <u>9/20/13</u>	Ву:
		Felicia Whitney
		LOS ANGELES COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION
D	ATED: 9/20/2013	By: Dunch
		Davier MCD. ff.
		(Print Name)

Appendix I – 2016 & 2017 JBC Agreement

JOINT HEALTH AND WELFARE BENEFITS NEGOTIATIONS

TENTATIVE AGREEMENT

Among and between the

CALIFORNIA SCHOOL EMPLOYEES ASSOCATION, CHAPTER 624 LOS ANGELES COUNTY EDUCATION ASSOCIATION SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION, LOCAL 99 and the LOS ANGELES COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION

10/2/2015

- LACOE will provide reimbursement for employee premium contributions made on October 5, November 5, and December 5, 2015 to active unit members and employees. CSEA, LACEA, LACOE, and SEIU will contribute the remaining funds from the active employees Joint Benefits Account Fund as part of this reimbursement. This reimbursement shall be distributed to all active unit members and employees who made those contributions by February 28, 2016.
- 2. LACOE will assume one hundred percent (100%) of the one-time cost for Health and Welfare increases for active unit members and employees effective January 1, 2016 through December 31, 2016.
- 3. LACOE will assume one hundred percent (100%) of the run-out/unreimbursed costs of unit member and employee health and welfare benefits for the health and welfare benefit calendar year ending December 31, 2015.
- 4. Active unit members and employees shall have the opportunity to opt out of LACOE's medical plans if the unit member can provide evidence of other health coverage effective January 1, 2016 through December 31, 2016. Active unit members and employees who opt out of medical plans shall receive an annual amount of \$2,000 to be paid in ten equal payments of \$200.00 during plan year. At least 57 active unit members or employees shall participate in the opting out plan to activate plan payments. If there are not enough active unit members or employees enrolled in the opting out plan to activate opt out plan payments, unit members and employees participating in the plan may reinstate LACOE health coverage.

Appendix I (2)

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed and entered into this agreement as of the date first written above.

DATED: 10/2/15	By: Michael Attacon/ (Print Name)
DATED: 10/2/15	CALIFORNIA SCHOOL EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION, CHAPTER 624 By: Grigsby (Print Name)
DATED:	By: Drin Christian (Print Name)
DATED: 10 2 5	By: (Print Name) LOS ANGELES COUNTY EDUCATION ASSOCIATION (Print Name)
DATED: 10/2/15	SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION, LOCAL 99 By: Levely Carter (Print Name)
DATED! 10/02/20X	SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION, LOCAL 99 By: RAMON - BERNATIONAL UNION, (Print Name)
DATED: 10/3/15	By: Darren MrDoffie (Print Name)

Appendix I (3)

JOINT HEALTH AND WELFARE BENEFITS NEGOTIATIONS

TENTATIVE AGREEMENT

Between and Among the

CALIFORNIA SCHOOL EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION, and its CHAPTER 624 LOS ANGELES COUNTY EDUCATION ASSOCIATION SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION, LOCAL 99 and the LOS ANGELES COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION

August 22, 2016

- The Office will assume one hundred percent (100%) of the one-time cost for Health and Welfare
 increases for active unit members and employees effective January 1, 2017 through December
 31, 2017. See attached rate sheet.
- 2. No later than June 1, 2017, the Office will meet with representatives of the bargaining units to negotiate an increase to existing caps, to be effective no later than January 1, 2018.
- 3. Active unit members and employees shall have the opportunity to opt-out of LACOE's medical plans if the unit member or employee can provide evidence of other health coverage effective January 1, 2017 through December 31, 2017. Active unit members and employees who opt-out of medical plans shall receive an annual amount of two-thousand dollars (\$200.00), to be paid in ten (10) equal payments of two-hundred dollars (\$200.00) during the plan year. At least fifty-seven (57) active unit members or employees shall participate in the opt-out plan to activate plan payments. If there are not enough active unit members or employees enrolled in the opt-out plan to activate plan payments, unit members and employees participating in the plan may reinstate LACOE health coverage.

LACOE 2015 CAP Level + Ons-time contribution increase from 2016 and 2017 Employee pides up 0 indresse

	KF2/KF3	CCMCC3	BCZ/BC3	P82/P83	A52/A53	ATZIATA	ENHIZHH	UH2/UH3
					Anthem HMO	Anthem HMO	Health Net	United
Employee Only	Kalser	Blue Shield	PERS Choice	PERS Select	. Select	Traditional	SmartCare	Healthcare
Madical	§ 573.88	\$ 675.98	\$ 637.63	\$ 565.33	\$ 592.78	\$ 713.69	\$ 526.73	\$ 545.71
Delta Care USA	34.95	34.85	\$ 34.85	\$ 34.85	\$ 34.95	34.85	\$ 34.85	\$ 34.95
VSP Vision	25.58	\$ 25.58	\$ 25.68	\$ 25.68	\$ 25.58	\$ 25.68	\$ 25.56	\$ 25.58
UNUM 20K Life*	3.47	\$ 3.47	\$ 3.47	\$ 3.47	\$ 3.47	\$ 3.47	\$ 3.47	\$ 3.47
UNUM 2K Life Dep*	0.32	0.32	\$ 0.32	0.32	0.32	0.32	0.32	0.32
Total Monthly Cost	638.19	\$ 740.28	\$ 701.83	629.63	\$ 657.08	\$ 777.99	5 691.03	\$ 610.01
Total Yearly Cost	5 7,658.28	\$ 8,883.38	\$ 8,421.88	5 7,000.00	5 7,884.88	\$ 9,335.68	\$ 7,082.38	\$ 7,320.12
2017 LACCE Contribution @ 2016 Cap	\$ 6,033.00	\$ 8,033.00	\$ 8,033.00	\$ 8,033.00	\$ 8,033.00	\$ 8,033.00	\$ 8,033.00	\$ 6,033.00
2016 One-Time Additional LACOE Contribution		4	69	-68	• 61	3		
2017 One-Time Additional LACOE Contribution	-	\$ 860.36	\$ 388.88	ļ.		804.00	#	
Total 2017 LACCE Contribution	6,033.00	\$ 8,883.36	\$ 8,421.88	\$ 8,033.00	\$ 8,033.00	9,017.88	\$ a,uaa.uu	\$ 0,033.00
Tearly Excess Cost Over Cay			0.00	•	•	31,16	•	
2017 Tenthly Coat to Employee	•	•	1	-		31.80	•	•
increase/Decreese Terthiy Costs in 2017	-	0,00	\$ 0.00		•	\$ 0.00	•	
		with D	7th Delta Dental PPO	5	Author USO	Anthon Exio	Lord Lot	
Employee Only	Kaiser	Blue Shield	PERS Choice	PERS Select	Select	Traditional	SmartCare	Healtheare
Madical	\$ 573.89	\$ 675.98	\$ 637.53	\$ 585.33	\$ 692.78	\$ 713.69	\$ 528.73	\$ 545.71
Delta Dental PPO	\$ 101.69	\$ 101.69	\$ 101.69	\$ 101.69	5 101.69	\$ 101.69	\$ 101.69	\$ 101.69
VSP Vision	\$ 25.68	\$ 25.56	\$ 25,58	\$ 25.56	26.58	26.68	25.55	25.55
UNUM 20X Life*	3.47	9 64 23 4	140	037	0.32	0.32	0.32	0.32
UNUM ZK Life Dep"	5 704.93	\$ 807.02	S 788.57	\$ 698.37	\$ 723.82	\$ 844.73	\$ 657.77	\$ 676.75
Total Yearly Cost	\$ 8,469.18	\$ 9,684.24	\$ 9,222.84	\$ 8,358.44	\$ 8,685.84	\$ 10,138.76	\$ 7,893.24	\$ 8,121.00
2017 LACOE Contribution & 2015 Cap	\$ 8,033.00	\$ 8,033.00	\$ 8,033.00	\$ 8,033.00	\$ 8,033.00	\$ 8,033.00	8 8,033.00	\$ 6,033.00
2018 One-Time Additional LACOE Contribution	\$ 85.44	\$ 337.84	\$ 182.84	•	\$ 61.12	·	203.04	8 .
2017 One-Time Additional LACOE Contribution	\$ 380.72	\$ 1,313.40	\$ 485.38		5 591.72	204.04	\$ (203.04)	00.00
Total 2017 LACOE Contribution	\$ 8,459.16	\$ 9,684.24	\$ 8,681.20	# 8,033.00	a,000.04	# 8,017.00 4.448.00	• 0,000.00	0.00
Yearly Excess Cost over Cap	•	9.90	90.100	†	•	444 90	1	0.00
2017 Tenthly Cost to Employee	•	20.00	98.10	t	†·			•
2018 Tenthly Cost to Employee	8	-	5 05.16	ŀ	†	11.00		1000
Increase/Decrease Tenthly Costs in 2017		0.00	8 (0.00)) \$ (13.38)		0.00	4 (80:17	4

LACOE 2016 CAP Level + One-time contribution increase from 2016 and 2017 Employee picks up 0 increase

	4 (190.70)	ľ	•	\$ (20./D)			•	increase/Decrease Tenthly Costs in 2017
	1	10000	100.01	10414	909.00	\$ 222.04	\$ 229.88	2015 Tenthly Cost to Employee
20.12	323.2	A NO.					240.00	2017 Tenthly Cost to Employee
80.12	8 202.69		163.3	19.66	100	300	20000	LANIS EXCESS CACT CACT COL
801.24		4 ,950.36	\$ 1,633.08	\$ 1,189.40	2.835.80	\$ 2.220.38	8 2299 80 0,0,0,0,0	1021 ZVI/ EACOS CONTINUENTON
\$ 13,688.28	\$ 12,187.08	\$ 13,760.68	S 14.168.12	8 11.781.00	S 13.037.40	2 18 878 64	\$ 13 DAR DA	The same same business
5 1,263.28	١	5 1,889.68	5 1,183.44		\$ 930.72	\$ 2,828.80	8 721.44	2017 One-Time Additional LACOE Contribution
204.00	\$ 405.08		\$ 1,201.68	41	\$ 325.68	\$ 1,167.84	\$ 543.60	12016 One-Time Additional LACOE Contribution
911,701.00		\$ 11,781.00	\$ 11,761.00	\$ 11,781.00	\$ 11,781.00	\$ 11,781.00	\$ 11,781.00	2017 LACOE Contribution @ 2016 Cap
14,000.02	I.	\$ 10,701.0 0	A 10,788.20	\$ 10,140.40	\$ 16,873.20	\$ 17,788.00	\$ 15,345.84	Total Yearly Cost
1,444,40	1,104.00	3 1,000,42	1,310.00	# 1,281./U	5 1,408.10	\$ 1,483.00	5 1,278.82	Total Monthly Cost
1 22 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2				0.32	0.32	58.0	0.32	UNUM 2K Life Dep*
9.47			3.47	3.47	3.47	\$ 3.47	\$ 3.47	UNUM 20K Life*
20.00	20.00	20.00	20.00	20.00	20.66	25.58	\$ 25.88	VSP Vision
20.00		21.00	01.00	80.101	80.101	80.FUT	\$ 101.68	Defta Dental PPO
	1,000,10		1,100.00	100.00	00.07.1	9 1,301.80	\$ 1,147.70	Medical
1 001 40	_			PEND GRIEGE		_	Kalast	Employee +1
Hasithesta		Teditions		٠.		_		
	Health Not	Anthem HMO	Anthem HMO /	•				•
					with Delta Dental PPO	with Del		
(0.04)	8 (140.78) 1	•		3 (28.78) :		5	•	Increase/Decrease Tenthly Costs in 2017
0.04	\$ 263.39 1	\$ 414,95	6 83.22	3 252.64	8 303.49	\$ 141.95	\$ 149.89	2015 Tenthly Cost to Employee
	5 122,60	414,95	8 83.22	\$ 255.85	\$ 303,49	3 141.95	\$ 149.89	2017 Tenthly Cost to Employee
	5 1,228.04	6 4,149.48	8 832.20	\$ 2,658.62	\$ 3,034.92	\$ 1,418.48	\$ 1,498.92	Yearly Excess Cost over Cap
\$ 13,888.64		5 13,760.68	5 14,166.12	\$ 11,781.00	\$ 13,037.40	\$ 18,676.64	\$ 13,046.04	Total 2017 LACCE Contribution
1,283.64	l.,	5 1,889.68	8 1,183.44		\$ 930.72	\$ 2,828.80	\$ 721.44	2017 One-Time Additional LACOE Contribution
804.00	\$ 408.08 \$		\$ 1,201.68	•	\$ 326.68	\$ 1,167.84	\$ 543.60	2016 One-Time Additional LACOE Contribution
11,781.00	\$ 11,781.00 \$	\$ 11,781.00	8 11,781.00	\$ 11,781.00	\$ 11,781.00	\$ 11,781.00	\$ 11,781.00	2017 LACCE Contribution @ 2016 Cap
13,868.64	8 13,413.12 8	\$ 17,900.16	5 14,998.32 (8 14,339.62	\$ 16,072.32	\$ 16,985.12	\$ 14,544.88	Total Yearly Cost
1,165.72	\$ 1,117.78 \$	\$ 1,491.68	6 1,249.86	5 1,194.88	\$ 1,339.38	\$ 1,418.28	\$ 1,212.08	Total Monthly Cost
0.32	9 0.32 9	9 0.32	6 0.32	\$ 0.32	9 0.32	\$ 0.32	0.32	UNUM 2K Life Dep.
3.47	\$ 3.47 \$	9 3,47	8 3.47	\$ 3.47	\$ 3.47	\$ 3.47	\$ 3.47	LUNUM 20K Life*
25.58	\$ 25.58 \$	\$ - 28.56 -	\$ 25.56	\$. 25,68	\$ 25.58	\$ 25.58	\$ 25.68	VSP Vision
34.95	\$ 34.85 \$	6 34.95	\$ 34.85	\$ 34.85 1	\$ 34.95	\$ 34.85	\$ 34.85	Delta Care USA
1,091.42	\$ 1,083.46 \$	\$ 1,427.38	\$ 1,185.56 S	\$ 1,130.66	\$ 1,275.08	\$ 1,351.88	\$ 1,147.78	Medical
Healtheare	•			PERS Sciect	PERS Choice I	Blue Shield I	Kaiser	Employee +1
United	Health Net		Ö					
CHD/ZHU	HNZ/HNJ	ATZIATJ.		PBZIPBB	BCZ/BCJ.	CCZ/CC3	KP2/KP3	

Ŀ	\$ (140.78)			\$ (28.76)		•	•	increased because Teathly Costs in 2017
A1.12	343.48	\$ 485,04	\$ 183.31	\$ 352,72	8 383,68	\$ 222.04	8 229.88	and a Touthis Coat to Employee
21.00	80.707	40.04	163.37	335,94	\$ 383.68	\$ 222.04	\$ 229.88	2017 Tentitiv Cost to Employee
001.27		4,000.00	1,000.00	3,309.40	\$ 3,835.80	\$ 2,220.38	\$ 2,299.80	Yearly Excess Cost over Cap
9 13,000.20		13,700.00	\$ 14,168.12	\$ 11,781.00	\$ 13,037.40	\$ 16,575.64	\$ 13,048.04	Total 2017 LACOE Contribution
07.607.40	1	20.808.1	5 1,163.44		5 830.72	\$ 2,826.80	\$ 721.44	2017 One-Time Additional LACOE Contribution
	400.00		\$ 1,201.68	46	\$ 325.68	\$ 1,167.84	\$ 543.60	2016 One-Time Additional LACOE Contribution
\$ 11,781.00	, –	\$ 11,781.00	\$ 11,781.00	\$ 11,781.00	\$ 11,781.00	\$ 11,781.00	\$ 11,781.00	2017 LACOE Contribution @ 2016 Cap
\$ 14,668.62	1-	\$ 18,701.04	\$ 15,789.20	\$ 16,140.40	\$ 16,873.20	\$ 17,788.00	\$ 15,345.84	Total Yearly Cost
\$ 1,222.48		\$ 1,658,42	\$ 1,316.60	\$ 1,261.70	\$ 1,408.10	\$ 1,483.00	\$ 1,278.82	Total Monthly Cost
0.32		0.32	0.32	0.32	9 0.32	\$ 0.32	0.32	UNUM 2K Life Dep*
\$ 3.47	\$ 3.47	\$ 3.47	\$ 3.47	\$ 3.47	\$ 3.47	\$ 3.47	\$ 3.47	UNITY 20K Life*
\$ 26.56		\$ 25.56	\$ 25.56	\$ 25.58	\$ 25.56	\$ 25.68	\$ 26.68	VSP Vision
\$ 101.69		\$ 101.69	\$ 101.69	\$ 101.69	\$ 101.69	\$ 101.69	\$ 101.69	Delta Dental PPO
\$ 1,091.42		\$ 1,427.38	\$ 1,185.58	\$ 1,130.68	\$ 1,276.08	\$ 1,381.98	\$ 1,147.78	Madical
Healthcare	SmartCare	Traditional	Select	PERS Select	PERS Choloo	Blue Shield	Kalser	Employee +1
United		Anthem HMO	Anthem HMO					
	•				With Delta Dental PPO	with Do		
(0.04)	\$ (140.78)			\$ (26.78)			•	Increase/Decrease Tenthly Costs in 2017
0.04	\$ 263.39	414.95	8 83.22	\$ 252.64	\$ 303.49	\$ 141.95	149.88	2015 Tenthly Cost to Employee
•	122.60	414.95	8 83.22	\$ 255.65	\$ 303.49	8 141.85	149.89	2017 Tenthly Cost to Employee
	\$ 1,228.04	4,149.48	8 832.20	\$ 2,558.52	\$ 3,034.92	\$ 1,419.48	6 1,498.92	Yearly Excess Cost over Cap
\$ 13,888.64		\$ 13,760.66	\$ 14,168.12	\$ 11,781.00	\$ 13,037.40	\$ 16,676.64	\$ 13,046.04	Total 2017 LACCE Contribution
\$ 1,283.64		3 1,989.68	\$ 1,183.44	•	\$ 930.72	\$ 2,626.80	§ 721.44	2017 One-Time Additional LACOE Contribution
5 804.00		•	\$ 1,201.68	•	\$ 325.68	\$ 1,167.84	\$ 543.60	2016 One-Time Additional LACOE Contribution
\$ 11,781.00		6 11,781.00	\$ 11,781.00	\$ 11,781.00	\$ 11,781.00	\$ 11,781.00	\$ 11,781.00	2017 LACCE Contribution @ 2016 Cap
\$ 13,888.64	\$ 13,413.12	\$ 17,900.16	\$ 14,898.32 (\$ 14,338.52	\$ 16,072.32	\$ 16,985.12	\$ 14,544.98	Total Yearly Cost
\$ 1,166.72		5 1,491.68	\$ 1,249.86	\$ 1,194.88	\$ 1,339.38	\$ 1,418.26	\$ 1,212.08	Total Monthly Cost
9 0.32		0.32	5 0.32 :	\$ 0.32	9 0.32	\$ 0.32	6 0.32	UNUM 2K Life Dep.
\$ 3.47		3.47	8 3.47	\$ 3.47	\$ 3.47	\$ 3.47	3.47	UNUM 20X Life*
\$ 25.58		\$ - 28.56	\$ 25.56	\$. 26.68	\$ 25.58	\$ 25.56	\$ 25.56	V8P Vision
\$ 34.95		34.95	\$ 34.85	\$ 34.85	\$ 34.95	34.85	34.95	Defas Care USA
\$ 1,091.42		§ 1,427.38	\$ 1,185.56	\$ 1,130.68	\$ 1,275.08	\$ 1,351.88	\$ 1,147.78	Medical
Healthcare	SmartCare	Traditional		_	PERS Choice	Blue Shield	Kaiser	Employee +1
United		Anthem HEO	Anthom HIGO /	,				
CHD/ZHU		ATZIATJ.		P32/P83	BC2/BC3	CCZ/CC3	KP2/KF3	•

LACOE 2016 CAP Level + One-time contribution increase from 2016 and 2017 Employee picks up 0 increase

Appendix I (7)

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed and entered into this agreement as of the date first written above.

	CALIFORNIA SCHOOL EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION, and its CHAPTER 624
DATED: 8/22/16	BY: Eurice d'or Droh Dr
	Eunice Lois Graham Grigsby (Print Name)
DATED: 8/22/16	CALIFORNIA SCHOOL EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION, and Its CHAPTER 624 BY: MICHAEL PAFERSON LRR
	(Print Name)
0.22.74	LOS ANGELES COUNTY EDUCATION ASSOCIATION BY: Strang County Education
DATED: 8.22./6	Brian Christian
	(Print Name)
DATED: 8/22/2016	BY: Survice EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION, LOCAL 99
	Bowsely Carter (Print Name)
	SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION, LOCAL 99
DATED: 8/22/2016	BY: election
	MICHAEL HASFABERGER (Print Name)
	LOS ANGELES COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION
DATED: 8-22-2016	BY:
	Darren MCDAGE (Print Name)

5

Appendix I – 2018 & 2019 JBC Tentative Agreement Appendix I (8)

JOINT BENEFITS COMMITTEE NEGOTIATIONS

TENTATIVE AGREEMENT

Between and Among the

CALIFORNIA SCHOOL EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION, and its CHAPTER 624
LOS ANGELES COUNTY EDUCATION ASSOCIATION
SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION LOCAL 99
and the
LOS ANGELES COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION

September 20, 2017

- 1. The parties of the Joint Benefits Committee agree that the proposal herein covers a two-year period from January 1, 2018 through December 31, 2019.
- Effective January 1, 2019, and thereafter the Office, active bargaining unit members, and employees agree to a new cost-sharing model on the increased cost of health and welfare benefits.
- 3. The Office will assume one hundred percent (100%) of the increased cost of health and welfare benefits for active bargaining unit members and employees effective January 1, 2018 through December 31, 2018. There will be no increased contribution for active bargaining unit members and employees for the period from January 1, 2018 through December 31, 2018. See attached rate sheet, which is incorporated herein by reference.
- 4. Effective January 1, 2019, the Office will contribute eighty-eight and one-half percent (88.5%) of the total premium costs for all health and welfare benefits. The total contribution for active bargaining unit members and employees will equate to eleven and one-half percent (11.5%) of the total cost of health and welfare benefits. The Joint Benefits Committee determined the percentage of contribution per tier (employee, employee + 1, family) to establish the maximum employee contribution for 2019 (see attached rate sheet). In the event that health and welfare costs exceed the agreed upon rate sheet, the Office will assume the additional cost. If the actual rates are less than proposed, the employee contribution will be adjusted to reflect the lesser rate based upon the agreed percentage of contribution in 2019.
- 5. Active bargaining unit members and employees shall have the opportunity to opt out of LACOE's medical plans if an active bargaining unit member or employee can provide evidence of other health coverage effective January 1, 2018 through December 31, 2018, and then again for the time period of January 1, 2019 through December 31, 2019. Active bargaining unit members and employees who opt out of medical plans shall receive an annual amount of two thousand dollars (\$2,000.00), to be paid in ten (10) equal payments of two hundred dollars (\$200.00) during the plan year.

Appendix I (9)

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed and entered into the following Tentative Agreement as of 09/20/2017.

CALIFORNIA SCHOOL E	MPLOY	ZEES ASSOCIATION, and its CHAPTER 624
DATED: 9/20/17	By:	July 1 pth
	2).	MICHAEL PATTERSON
		(Print Name)
CALIFORNIA SCHOOL E	MPLOY	YEES ASSOCIATION, and its CHAPTER 624
DATED: 9/20/17	By:	Elizabeth Romero
		Elizabeth Romero
		(Print Name)
LOS ANGELES	COUN	TY EDUCATION ASSOCIATION
DATED: 9/20/17	By:	I go gove
		Troy Doyle
		(Print Name)
LOS ANGELES	COUN	TY EDUCATION ASSOCIATION
DATED: 9-20-17	Bv:	Den Darutun
	-,.	Deun Martin Brian Christian
SERVICE EMPLO	YEES II	NTERNATIOAL UNION, LOCAL 99
DATED:9-20-17	Ву:	Damita Carey- Smith
		Damita Carey-Smith (Print Name)
SERVICE EMPLO	YEES II	NTERNATIOAL UNION, LOCAL 99
DATED:	By:	VA
		Vendon 12. Smith
		(Print Name)
LOS ANGELE	s cou	NTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION
DATED: 9-20-17	By:	Dusp
		Darren McDoffie
		(Print Name)

Appendix J - Rose Agreement

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING Between the LOS ANGELES COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION And SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION, LOCAL 99

ROSE AGREEMENT ON ARTICLE VIII March 19, 2019

I. PARTIES

The Parties are the Los Angeles County Office of Education (the "Office") and Service Employees International Union, Local 99 (the "Union"), herein referred to jointly as the "Parties."

II. BACKGROUND

- A. During negotiations for a successor collective bargaining agreement for the 2015-2018 term, the Parties agreed to form a committee to study the process and form used for evaluation of Union employees.
- B. During negotiations for a reopener collective bargaining agreement for the 2016-2017 term, the Parties agreed to amend Appendix J regarding the ROSE Agreement on Article VIII to memorialize the following:
 - The Parties agreed that the process and/or form for evaluations had been studied in order to better meet the needs and interests of both Parties;
 - The Parties agreed to implement a Pilot evaluation study and provide recommendations through the Personnel Evaluation Review Committee (hereafter, "PERC") during the 2017-2018 school-year;
 - The initial Pilot included a small representative sample of the various classifications spread throughout four divisions which included: Greater Avenues for Independence (GAIN), Technology & Infrastructure Services (TIS), Curriculum & Instructional Services (CIS), and Facilities & Construction Services (DFC);
 - The Parties provided training on the new evaluation model for managers and employees in tandem.
- C. The pilot took place between January and June 2018, closing the 2017-2018 school-year.
- D. Under the 2016-2017 amendments to the ROSE Agreement on Article VIII, "[r]esults from the initial pilot could result in an extension of the pilot period." The designated PERC representative was to provide the results of the Pilot as a report to the Office and the Union as a 2017-2018 reopener proposal.

Memorandum of Understanding Appendix J, Rose Agreement on Article VIII March 19, 2019

E. The 2017-2018 term concluded on June 30, 2018. However, the Parties were unable to reopen negotiations for that term. Consequently a side letter of agreement amended Appendix J was executed on August 2, 2018 in order to implement Phase II of the Pilot.

III. PURPOSE

The 2019-2020 evaluation cycle will commence on July 1, 2019 utilizing system enhancements to the LACOE Electronic Evaluation Tool (hereafter, "EET") in an effort to streamline the levels of access, maintenance and custom configurations agreed upon as part of a potential third and final evaluation pilot.

Accordingly, this measure is necessary in order to continue the evaluation Pilot for all classifications represented by the Union in the four divisions noted above and provide the ability to compare software and services to best meet the needs of all stakeholders.

IV. PHASE III OF THE PILOT

Beginning on or about June 1, 2019, training will be provided to all managers and employees (within the 4 divisions) using EET, and the evaluation process may be initiated following the proposed process timelines which are incorporated by reference in a report that has been submitted to the Office and the Union, effective July 1, 2019. Members evaluated under this pilot will have a memorandum indicating this evaluation is part of a Pilot process attached to the evaluation, submitted to Human Resource Services, and entered into their personnel files. Upon conclusion of Phase III, and no later than June 15, 2020, a recommendation will be made by PERC to the Superintendent regarding the software tool to be utilized in the implementation of the new evaluation process between the Office and Union. The final decision regarding the software tool to be used for performance evaluations shall be made no later than June 30, 2020, for implementation no later than August 1, 2020.

This MOU shall expire on June 30, 2020. Nothing herein shall be construed as incorporating the provisions of the PERC Report into the collective bargaining agreement until the Pilot is completed, and final recommendations have been made to the Office and the Union, nor shall the provisions of the PERC Report be subject to the contractual grievance and arbitration procedure.

The intention of both Parties regarding this Memorandum of understanding is to to continue the effort that both the Office and the Union have made in order to implement an on-line evaluation process using a goal-setting and competency model approach.

Memorandum of Understanding Appendix J, Rose Agreement on Article VIII March 19, 2019

SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION, LOCAL 99

Date: 3/19/19

By: Mercals Sutrese

(Print Name)

LOS ANGELES COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION

Date: 3/19/19

MKHAEL HAZERKERLER

(Print Name)

INDEX

\mathbf{A}

Absence
bereavement leave, 22
catastrophic leave donation eligibility, 34, 36
catastrophic leave donation program, 34
child rearing leave, 37
compensated, 22
definition of catastrophic leave donation program, 34
definition of emergency, 28
definition, leave of absence, 21
discretionary personal necessity leave, 30
family and medical leave, 33
holidays, 37
illness leave payoff upon termination, 24
illness verification, 25
illness, accident, or quarantine leave, 22
industrial accident/ illness leave, allowable leave, 27
industrial accident/ illness leave, eligibility, 27
jury duty, 31
maternity leave, 32
military leave, 31
non-compensated leave, 37
paid leave, fringe benefits, 21
part-time unit members, 21
personal business leave, 37
personal leave, 37
personal necessity leave, 28
prohibited reasons for PN leave, 30
study or retraining leave, 33
Union leave, 33
vacations, 38
verification of leaves, 30
Agenda, Board, 10
Agreement
effect upon Office policies, 70
Statement of, 2
Agreement
compliance with state and federal laws, 70
Agreement Articles
Article I Recognition, 3
Article II Definitions, 4
Article III Retained Rights, 6
Article IV Union Rights, 8
Article IX Compensation, 46
Article V Grievance Procedures, 14
Article VI Hours of Employment, 19
Article VII Leaves of Absence, Vacations and Holidays, 21
Article VIII Procedures for Evaluation of Performance, 41
Article X Transfer Procedures, 61

```
Article XI Safety, 64
   Article XII Work Stoppage, 66
   Article XIII Career Development and Training, 67
   Article XIV Effect of Agreement, 69
   Article XVI Layoff and Displacement Procedures, 72
   Article XVII Non Discrimination, 73
Alternative Workweek, 20
   approval, 20
   criteria, 20
Appendix A, Salary Schedule, 74
Appendix B, Calendars, 80
Appendix I, 105
Arbitration, 15
Arbitrator
   decision, final and binding, 17
   expenses, 17
   limitations, 16
   selection of, 16
                                                              В
Bargaining Unit Employees
   excluded positions, 3
Benefits
   39 month reemployment list, 23
   damage and theft of automobile reimbursement, 65
   extended for long term illness, 59
   Internal Revenue Code, Section 125 Benefit, 59
   maternity disability leave, 32
   non compensated leave, 59
   Office contribution, 59
Bereavement Leave, 22
Bilingual Pay, 52
Board
   Agenda and Minutes, 10
   of Education, defined, 4
                                                              \mathbf{C}
Calendars, Appendix B, 80
Call Back, 51
Catastrophic Leave Committee, 34
Catastrophic Leave Donation Program
   definitions, 34
   eligibility, 34
   procedures for implementation, 35
   verification of eligibility, 34
Child Rearing Leave, 37
Civic Center Act, 8
COBRA, 25
Committees and Commissions, 6
Comparability/Equity Adjustment, 46
Compensated Leaves of Absence, 22
   50% illness leave, 23
   bereavement leave, 22
```

```
illness verification, 25
   illness, accident or quarantine leave, 22
   industrial accident or illness, eligibility, 27
   industrial accident/ illness, allowable leave, 27
  jury duty, 31
  maternity disability, 32
  military, 31
  part-time employees, 21, 25
  personal necessity leave, 28
  purpose, 22
  study or retraining leave, 33
   Union leave, 33
   vacation chart, 40
   vacations, 38
Compensation, 46
  benefits on noncompensated leave, 59
  bilingual pay, 52
   call back pay, 51
   comparability/equity adjustment, 46
   compensatory time-off, 51
   computing overtime, 51
   dictation differential, 53
   direct deposit of pay, 53
   foreign language pay, 52
  holiday pay, 51
  holidays, 37
   insurance fringe benefits, 53
  leaves of absence, 21
  Office contribution, benefits, 55
   on call pay, 53
   overtime, 50
  reemployment salary, 48
  reimbursement for damage and theft of automobile, 65
  salary, 46
   salary on employment, 47
  salary placement after leave of absence, 48
  salary step advancement, 47
   salary upon promotion, 48
  shift differential, 49
   sign language differential, 52
  temporary assignment, 52
   up on demotion or displacement, 49
  up on reclassification, 49
  up on step advancement, 47
Compensatory Time-Off, 51
Compliance with State and Federal Laws, 70
Contacts with Unit Members
   reasonable access, 8
Content Responsibility
   Union literature, content of, 8
```

D

Damage or Theft of Personal Automobiles, 65
Decision, Arbitrators, 17
Deduction
payroll dues, 10
Definition of Grievance, 14
<u>Definitions</u>
Board, 4
domestic partnership, 4
employee, 4
excluded positions, 4
family and medical leave, 4
grievance, 14
immediate administrator, 4
immediate family, bereavement leave, 4
Office, 5
Steward's Council, 5
Superintendent, 5
Trust, 5
Union representative, 5
unit member, 5
working day or work day, 5
Demotion, salary on, 49
Dictation Salary Differential, 53
Disability Leave
maternity, 32
Dismiss Grievance, motion to, 16
Distribution and Posting of Union Material, 8
Diversity Councils, 13
Domestic Partnership, 4
\mathbf{E}
Education Code
Section 1310-1316, 24 Section 4403.5, 34
Section 45132 and 45133, 20
Section 45191, 45197, 34
Section 45202, 24, 25
Section 45261, 7
Section 45298, 23, 72
Section 45308, 72
Education Code, lay offs, 72
Effect of Agreement
emergency situations, 70
entire agreement, 69
separability and savings, 69
upon Office policies, 70
E-Mail, 9
Emergencies, 28, 70
Employee, 4

```
excluded, 3
Employee Rights, 10
   review of personnel file, 44
Employment
   evaluations, 41
   hours of, 19
   salary on, 47
   salary step advancement, 47
Equity Adjustment, 46
Evaluations
   criteria, 41
   methods of assessment, 44
   permanent employees, 42
   procedures, 41
   written rebuttal, 43, 45
Excluded Employee, 4
Expenses
   of arbitrator, 17
                                                               F
Family
   immediate, defined, 4
Family and Medical Leave
   definition, 4
Files
   personnel, 11, 44
Foreign Language Pay, 52
                                                               \mathbf{G}
Government, 3
Government Code
   Section 3540.1(d), 3
   section 3543.2, 6
Grievance Files, 18
Grievance Procedure
   Arbitration, 15
   Arbitrator's decision, 17
   definition of grievance, 14
   exclusions, 13
   expenses of arbitrator, 17
   grievance files, 18
   informal resolution, 14
   Level I, 14
   Level II, 15
   limitations upon Arbitrator, 16
   motion to dismiss, 16
   no reprisals, 18
   reasonable release time, 17
   right to Union representation, 17
   selection of an Arbitrator, 16
   submission of statement to Arbitrator, 16
```

Union representation of grievant, 17

Н

Internal Revenue Code, Section 125 Benefit, 59 Hold Harmless Provisions, 10 Holiday Pay, 51 Holidays, 37	
Hours alternative work week, 20	
lunch period, 19 rest period, 19	
scheduling of hours, 19 work-week, 5/40 4/10 and 9/80., 19	
Hours of Employment, 19	
	Ι
Illness Leave	
50% paid leave, 23	
allowance, 22	
light duty, 26 long term, 59	
payoff up on termination, 24	
purpose of, 22	
verification, 25 Illness, Accident, or Quarantine Leave, 23	
Immediate Administrator, Defined, 4	
Immediate Family, Defined, 4	
Industrial Accident Leave, 27 Informal Resolution	
of grievances, 14	
Insurance	
long term illness, 59	
medical and health benefits, 53 medical,dental, vision, life, 53	
retirees, years of service, 57	
Internal Mail System	
use by Union, 9 Internal Revenue Code	
Section 125 Benefit, 59	
•	J
Jury Duty Leave, 31	
J	L
LACOE Employee Health and Welfare Account, 53	
Layoff and Reemployment	
procedures, 72	
Leaves of Absence, 21 39 month reemployment list, 23	
abandonment of employment, 21	
bereavement leave, 22	

Health and Medical Benefits

catastrophic leave, 34 Catastrophic Leave Committee, 34 catastrophic leave program, 34 catastrophic leave, eligibility, 35 child rearing leave, 37 compensated, 22 defined, 21 definition of emergency, 28 discretionary personal necessity leave, 30 family and medical leave, 33 illness leave payoff upon termination, 24 illness verification, 25 illness, accident, or quarantine leave, 22 illness, at 50%, 23 industrial accident/ illness, allowable leave, 27 industrial accident/ illness, eligibility, 27 jury duty, 31 maternity, 32 military leave, 31 non emergency, 29 non-compensated, 36 part time unit members, 21 personal business leave, 37 personal necessity leave, 28 prohibited reasons, 30 salary placement after leave, 48 study or retraining leave, 33 Union leave, 33 vacations, 38 verification of leaves, 30 Level I grievance procedure, 14 Level II grievance procedure, 15 Level, Informal grievance procedure, 14 Light Duty Work, 26 Limitations upon arbitrator, 16 Lists unit members, 9 Lunch Period, 19

M

Mail and E-Mail System, 9
Maternity Disability Leave, 32
Medical and Health Benefits, 53
dental, vision, life insurance, 53
extended for long term illness, 59
Joint Benefits Committee, 54
Office contribution, 56
retirees, years of service, 58
Military Leave, 31

```
Board meetings and Agenda, 10
Motion to Dismiss Grievance, 16
                                                             N
Names
   selecting arbitrators, 16
New Classification, 3
Newly Hired Employees, 12
Non Discrimination, 73, 87
Non-Compensated Leaves of Absence, 37, 59
   child rearing leave, 37
   family and medical leave, 33
   personal business leave, 37
   personal leave, 37
Non-Emergency
   personal necessity leave, 29
                                                             0
Office
   definition, 5
   hold harmless provisions, 10
   rights retained by, 6
Office Facilities
   Union use of, 8
Office Obligations, 10
On Call Pay, 53
Organizational Security, 10
Overtime
   4 hour unit members, 51
   6 hour unit members, 51
   7 hour unit members, 51
   full time unit members, 51
                                                             P
Paid Leaves
   union stewards, 11
Part-Time Unit Members
   leaves of absence, 21
Payroll Dues Deduction, 10
PERB, 3, 16
   unit determination, 3
Performance Evaluations
   criteria, 41
   methods of assessment, 42
   procedures, 42
Performance Improvement Plans
   purpose, 41, 43
PERS, 54, 57, 58
Personal Business Leave, 37
```

Personal Necessity Leave, 28

Minutes

```
discretionary, 30
   non-emergency, 29
   prohibited reasons, 31
Personnel Commission Rights, 3, 7
Personnel File, 44
   information of a derogatory nature, 45
   review, 11
Preamble, 1
Procedures
   performance evaluations, 41
  transfers, 61
Promotion
   salary, upon, 48
Public Employees Retirement System (PERS), 54
Public Employment Relations Board, 69
                                                              O
Quarantine Leave, Illness, or Accident, 22
                                                               R
Rebuttal of Evaluations, 43, 45
Reclassification
   salary upon, 49
Recognition
   included employees, 3
  new classification, 3
Recognition Article I, 3
Reduction In Force [RIF], 68, 72
Reemp loy ment
   salary placement, 48
Reimbursement
   damage, theft of auto, 65
Release Time for Representation, 17
Representation by Union
  of grievant, 17
Rest Period, 19
Retirement Benefits
  years of service, 58
Review of Personnel File, 11
Rights of Union
   access and use of Office facilities, 7, 8
   Board agenda and minutes, 10
   contacts with unit members, 8
   literature, content responsibility, 9
   organizational security, 10
  payroll dues deductions, 10
  personnel file review, 11
  postingnotices, 8
  reasonable release time, 17
  stewards, 11
  unit member lists, 9
  use of internal mail and e-mail system, 9
```

```
Safety, 64
Salary, 46
   benefits on noncompensated leave, 59
   benefits on retirement, 58
   bilingual pay, 52
   call back pay, 51
   comparability/equity adjustment, 46
   compensatory time-off, 51
   computing overtime, 51
   dictation differential, 53
   direct deposit of pay, 53
   foreign language pay, 52
   holidays, 37
   insurance fringe benefits, 53
   on call pay, 53
   on employment, 47
   on promotion, 48
   on reemployment, 48
   overtime, 50
   placement after leave, 48
   Schedules, Appendix A, 74
   shift differential, 49
   sign language differential, 52
   temporary assignment, 52
   upon demotion, 49
   upon displacement in lieu of layoff, 49
   upon reclassification, 49
   upon staff reduction, 49
   upon step advancement, 47
   vacations, part time unit members, 38
Scheduling of Hours, 19
Selection of an Arbitrator
   grievance procedure, 16
Seniority
   definition, 72
   list, 72
   RIF, 72
Separability and Savings, 69
Shift Differential Pay, 49
Sign Language Differential, 52
Step Advancement, 47
Steward's Council
   definition, 5
Stewards, 11
Study or Retraining Leave, 33
Superintendent
   definition, 5
```

 \mathbf{T}

Temporary Assignment Salary, 52 Transfers

```
administrative or involuntary, 62
   defined, 61
   listing of vacancies, 61
   mileage reimbursement, 62
   procedures, 61
   voluntary, 61
Trust, 54
   definition, 5
                                                               U
Union Leave, 33
   investigation of grievances, 11
   stewards, 11
Union Representative
   definition, 5
Union Rights
   Board agendas and meetings, 10
   contacts with unit members, 8
   content responsibility of literature, 9
   distribution and posting of materials, 8
   leave for stewards, 11
   Office obligations, 10
   organizational security, 10
   payroll dues deductions, 10
   personnel file review, 11
   posting notices, 8
   reasonable release time, 12
   stewards, 11
   union leave, 11
   unit member lists, 9
   use of internal mail and e-mail system, 9
   use of Office facilities, 8
Union, defined, 3
Unit Member
   definition, 5
   lists, 9
                                                               V
Vacations, 38
   chart, 40
   full time unit members, 38
   part time unit members, 38
   probationary unit members, 39
   scheduling, 38, 39
Verification of Leaves, 30
Video Display Terminal (VDT) Standards, 64
                                                               W
Working Day or Workday
   definition, 5
Workweek
```

4 hour unit members, 51
6 hour unit members, 50
7 hour unit members, 50
alternative, 20
call back pay, 51
computing overtime pay, 51
definition, 20
holiday pay, 51
overtime pay, 50
rest period, 19
scheduling of hours, 19
temporary assignment, pay, 52

Y

Years of Service Benefit, 58